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Financial Highlights

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in thousands, except per share data)
Revenue $ 30,883 $20,063 $ 16,014 $ 13,244 $ 4,137
Cost of revenue and operating expenses 52,750 40,058 47,209 48,310 22,623
Loss from operations (21,867) (19,995) (31,195) (35,066) (18,486)
Other income (expense), net 20 (552) (451) 369 870
Net loss (21,777) (20,547) (62,552) (34,697) (17,616)
Share data (basic and diluted)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders excluding cumulative

effect of an accounting charge per share—impairment of goodwill $ (299) $ (33.89) $(63.86) $ (72.51) —
Cumulative effect of an accounting change—impairment of goodwill — — (56.52) — —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (299) $ (33.89) $ (120.38) $ (7251 $ @ —
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 21,916 $ 13546 $ 6,670 $ 28,19 $ 28,855
Working capital 14,071 6,314 (2,498) 20,636 21,805
Total assets 39,938 31,559 24,305 82,450 81,460
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 15,947 8,190 (109,544) (45,467) (14,014)

XENOGEN

Discovery in the Living Organism®
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To Our Stockholders:

2004 was a pivotal year for Xenogen Corporation. Our
initial public offering of common stock closed in July 2004,
and | am pleased to address you, our stockholders, for the
first time as the Chief Executive Officer of Xenogen, the
publicly-traded company. Qur initial public offering was a
critical step in Xenogen's transformation from a company
focused on building a technology platform to a company
with the commercial mission of delivering our imaging
systems and biological solutions to participants in the phar-
maceutical, biotechnology and academic markets.

QOur IVIS® Imaging Systems are the foundation of our
product offerings. These integrated imaging systems
contain patented and proprietary components, including
highly-sensitive image capturing cameras and software that
can measure and analyze light emitted by living cells. Our
biological reagents, cell lines and specialized in vivo animal
models genetically tagged with certain light-emitting
reporters complement the VIS Imaging Systems and -
along with our intellectual property that protects the
methods for biophotonic imaging in mammals — offer a
complete imaging solution for academic, pharmaceutical
and biotechnology laboratories. We believe our imaging
systems and biological solutions enable researchers to better
understand the molecular effects of experimental drugs,
validate disease rargets, and make more accurate predictions
of how drugs will behave in human trials, resulting in our
customers’ ability to make more timely and cost-effective

decisions at every step in the drug development process.

We are proud of our 2004 financial performance. We gener-
ated $31 million in revenue, an increase of more than 50%
over 2003. We installed 83 systems in academic and
commercial laboratories, and established 16 commercial
licenses. We also invested in people, research and develop-
ment, and infrastructure to position Xenogen for the next
stage of growth.

A Look Back...
Before I talk about 2004 and beyond, | want to look back at
the history behind our accomplishments and pay tribute to

our founder.

Xenogen was founded in 1995 by Dr. Pamela R. Contag,
who pioneered visible light in living tissue as a research
tool. Her vision, hard work and sacrifice underlie the
success we have seen as a company so far, and set the stage
for our future. Dr. Contag has decided not to stand for re-
election to our Board of Directors at the 2005 annual

meeting of stockholders. Dr. Contag will continue to serve
as our President and will continue her scientific work and
interactions with our customers and the investment commu-
nity. We thank Pam for her years of service as a member of
our Board and look forward to her continued leadership and

contributions.

2004 Report

With that background, Xenogen has set its sights on
playing an increasingly important role in helping scientists
create life-saving therapies by supplying imaging systems
and biological solutions that meet the experimental needs
of our customers.

In 2004, we increased our focus on placing imaging
systems with pharmaceutical and biotechnology compa-
nies along with our continued placement efforts with top-
tier academic institutions. For example, we expanded our
relationship with Merck & Co., Inc., entering into an
agreement with Merck to provide their oncology labora-
tories with multiple VIS Imaging Systems and licenses to
use our software and methods. Other imaging system
customers include Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Aventis-Pharma Recherche-Developpement, along with
other major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
in the United States, Europe and Asia.

We expanded our US. and international sales and
marketing efforts. In 2004, we hired a total of seven
employees in sales, sales support and marketing whao are
building relationships with customers across the United
States and several European countries. We also expanded
our network of international independent distributors.
We now have independent distributors in Australia/
New Zealand, China, Germany/Austria/Switzerland,
India, Israel, Japan, South Korea and Taiwan. In Japan,
our exclusive distributor capitalized on its success placing
imaging systems with Japanese academic institutions
to place our first imaging system with a major Japanese

pharmaceutical company.

A very important achievement in 2004 was the market
acceptance of our IVIS Imaging System 200 Series, which
was introduced to the market in the fourth quarter of 2003.
In 2004, we sold twenty five 200 Series imaging systems.
We believe the momentum of the 200 Series carried
forward into 2005. We continue to refine this new imaging
system and upgrade its functionality, including work now
underway on innovations in processing capability.




The increasing placemént of our imaging systems creates an
opportunity for our other strategic enterprise, Xenogen
Biosciences (“XenB‘iQ""), our whblly—owned subsidiary.
XenBio performs custom' genetic target validation and
compound evaluation studies for clients from commercial,
government and academic institutions. XenBio offers more
than 15 years of experience in the transgenic field,
providing reliable genétically modified mouse models in
short timelines. XenBio has completed nearly 2,500 projects
to create genetically en‘gineeréd animals and cell lines, with
a greater than 96 pércent rsuccess rate. In Cranbury,
New Jersey, our X\enBio scientists design and develop
customized, genetically engineered animal models to meet
customer specifications. These animals also can be designed
for use in our biophotonic imaging systems. Qur customers
work together with our XenBio scientific staff to design a
genetic profile in animals that matches the research area
targeted by the customer. XenBio customers include Pfizer
Inc. and Wyeth Laboraﬁtories,‘ Qur expertise in genetically
modified animal ,creatidn and phenotypic characterization
creates a vital synergy with our powerful biophotonic
imaging systems.

During the year, we invested in infrastructure, and will
continue to do so, to position Xenogen for further growth
in the years ahead, We expect these investments will
continue until we are satisfied that manufacturing capacity
is optimized to meet our customers’ demand.

We also strengthened our management team with several
additions, including Bill' Albright as Chief Financial Officer.
Bill's public company and financial markets experience is
invaluable as we move forward. Most recently in 2005,
Jason Brady and Stan Tanka joined our management team.
Mr. Brady is our General Counsel and Vice President and
Stan Tanka is our Vice President, Finance.

Looking Ahead

Molecular imaging is an increasingly popular research tool
for pharmaceutical, biotechnology and academic laboratories.
To date, academic research laboratories have been our
strongest customers, and we intend to increase our place-
ments within pharmaceutical and biotechnology laboratories,
Researchers in top academ‘ic institutions are increasingly
using optical imaging to provide real-time data on molec-
ular functions within intact experimental animals in research
and development. As these researchers steadily move into
the commercial marketplace, we hope they will share their
experience with Xenogen solutions — 1VIS Imaging Systems

and biological solutions — with their new colleagues, and
encourage further commercial adoption. A few years ago,
we did not hear very much about in vivo imaging outside
our own walls. Now, it is a major topic among academic
cénclaves, there are several professional societies focused
on molecular imaging and data and images from our
imaging systems are showing up in papers published around
the world. Please visit the “Technology/Publications”
séction of our website, www.Xenogen.com, to read from
some of the research papers citing our solutions used in
laboratories around the world.

I 2005, we plan to introduce our next generation imaging
system, the IVIS 3-D™ Imaging System. We believe this
system will push the field of biophotonic imaging forward,
creating three-dimensional images, over time, and gener-
ating specific information about where molecules are active
within the whole body of the animal. Physiological path-
ways are not linear, and it is invaluable to know if a
drug candidate is impacting anatomical areas not targeted in
the research.

We will work with our customers to develop reagents, and
we will continue to develop animal models to advance the
study of infectious diseases, inflammation, metabolic disor-
ders and cardiovascular disease. It is our strategy to work
closely with our customers to share with them the advan-
tages of using our biological solutions with our imaging
systems. It is our goal to provide best-in-class imaging
systems and biological solutions to researchers for their use
as they develop life-saving therapeutics.

While we have made subszantial progress, we have just
begun on the path forward. Supported by the foundation
we have built, we are deploying to drug developers our
products, solutions and knowledge that are designed to
facilitate reduced costs for drug development failures and
improved time to market for drug development successes.
We thank you for your support, and look forward to contin-
uing the conversation started with you during 2004,

Sincerely,

W) &%)

David W. Carter
Chairman & CEO
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David W. Carter
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
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President
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Director
Abingworth Management, [nc.

Robert W. Breckon (3) (4)
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MDS Inc.

Christine Cordaro (1)
General Partner, CMEA Life Sciences
Founder and Ceneral Partner, Milepost Ventures, L.P.

Michael R. Eisenson (5)
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Charlesbank Capital Partners, L.LC

William A. Halter (6)
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3) Member of the Compensation Committee.

4) Will become a member of the Audit Committee after
the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

(5) Chairman of the Compensation Committee.

{6) Chairman of the Nominating and Governance Committee

(7) Will become a member of the Nominating and Governance
Committee after the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

(8) Member of the Nominating and Covernance Committee

(9} Chairman of the Audit Committee.
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Executive Officers

David W. Carter
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Pamela Reilly Contag, Ph.D.

President

William A. Albright, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President,
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David R. Boyko

Vice President, Licensing and Legal Services

Jason M. Brady

General Counsel and Vice President

Anthony F. Purchio, Ph.D.
Chief Scientific Officer and Vice President

Bradley W. Rice, Ph.D.
Chief Technalogy Officer and Vice President

Michael J. Sterns, D.V.M.
Chief Business Officer and Vice President

Stan Tanka

Vice President, Finance
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Forward Lookmg Statements I _— o

‘

This Form 10- K mclua’mg “Management $ Dlscusszorz and Analysis. of F inancial Condition and Results of
Operations”'in Tter' 7, ‘coiitains forward-looking statemerits within the'meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Actof ]933 as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Excl lange Act”). These statements are not ‘guarantees of future performance and are subject to
certain rzsks uncertainties and assumptions that are diffi cult to predict. Actual results could differ materially
from those expressed oF forecasted in any such forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors,
mcludmg those Set forth in “Risk Fdctors that May Affect Our Results,” “Management's Discussion and
Analyszs of Fi tnanczal Condition and Results of Operations,” “Busmess and elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Such
forward looktng statements include any projections of revenues, operattng expenses, or other financial items;
any state ients of the.plans, strategies, and objecttves of inanagement Jfor future operations; factors affecting our

" 2005 operattng results; any statements concerning proposed new products, services, developments, or
anticipated performance of products or services, any statements regarding future economic conditions or
performance statements of belief- and any statement of dssumptions anderlvmg any of the foregoing. You can
ta’enttfy these statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts and use words
such as’ anttapate " “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “estimate,” and other words and terms of
szmzlar meamng From time to time, we also may prowde oral or wrttten forward looking statements in other
matertals that'w ‘7release to the publlc :

l‘l"’

” e o

The rzsks uncertamtzes and assampttons referred to above include, ‘but are not limited to, those discussed in
thzs Form 10-K and the risks discussed from time to time in our othér publtc filings. Although we believe that
expectattons reﬂected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results,
levels. of acttvzty performance or achievements. All forward-looking statements included in this document are
based on mformatton available to us as of the date of this report. We expressly disclaim any obligation or
undertakmg to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to

: reﬂect any change in our expectations with regard theréto or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances
on whzch any such statement is based. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures that we make
on related sub]ects in our Forms 10-Q and 8-K filed wzth the Securities and Exchange. Commission (the “SEC”).
You'also should read the section titled “Use of Esnmates included in Note I of Notes to Consolidated F manczal
Statements mcluded pursuant to Item 8 of this report.
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Item 1.. :  Business.
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We sell 1ntegrated systems of instruments and eqmpment software and reagents to biomedical and
blophannaceuttcal researchers that we believe i 1mprove the’ producttvny and efﬁc1ency of the drug discovery and
development process. Using the detection and measurément of photons ermtted from cells and animals that we
genettcally engmeer to emit light, which we term “biophotonic i imaging”, our patented and proprietary
biophotonic IVIS Imaomg Systems living animal models and resedrch services collectively expedite in vivo data
collection’and: analys1s a critical bottleneck in drug dlscovery and development Our customers use in vivo
‘b1ophotomc 1magmg to visually display and quantify a chosen tumor, dlsease palhogen organ or biochemical
reactlon Our products are also used to generate predtcuve animal models, primarily rats and mice, for preclinical
drug dtscovery and development We believe our products enable our pharmaceutlcal and biotechnology
customers to generate higher- quality safety and efficacy data for drug candidates, to accelerate preclinical
development and to reduce the development risk of product candidates that enter human clinical development.
The sources of our revenue are: . } . S ‘

Instruments and related imaging accessories: sales of IVIS Imaomg Systems and accessorles




*  Recurring license fees: multi-year fees for our biophotonic imaging licenses and dccess to reagents such
as animals and cell lines; and :

*  Long-term service contracts: custom animal production, animal phenotyping and IVIS service contracts.

We manufacture, market and sell our IVIS Imaging Systems, as well as the reagents—pathogens and tumor
cells, or “Bioware”, and light-producing transgenic animals, or “LPTA animal models”—that allow our
customers performing biopharmaceutical and biomedical research, discovery and development to collect safety,
efficacy and other relevant data on therapeutic product candidates. Our reagent sales are comprised of genetically
modified animal§ (mice and rats), microorganisms and cell lines that are used to characterize the role of genes in
the disease process as well as to measure the efficacy of drugs against certain sets of disease indications. We also
provide a wide range of contract research services relating to the production of transgenic animals (in which
foreign genes are incorporated) and knockout animals (in which specific genes are functionally disabled). In
addition, we provide custom animal production and phenotyping services to our customers for the purpose of
target validation and compound screening. Our product offerings allow our customers to gather data about
biochemical pathways in living animals, the mechanism of action of drug candidates and how well these drug
candidates work in living organisms.

We were incorporated in California in August 1995 and reincorporated in Delaware in September 2000. Our
shares began trading on the Nasdaq National Market in July 2004. Our principal executive offices are located at
860 Atlantic Avenue, Alameda, California 94501, and our telephone number is (510).291-6100. Our company
website address is.http://www.xenogen.com. Information contained in our website is not a part of this annual
report on Form 10-K. ‘

Market Opportunity

Our market consists of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other entities engaged in biopharmaceutical
research, and not-for-profit institutions engaged in biomedical research around the world. In the United States
alone, there are over one thousand biotechnology companies, along with a much smaller number of
pharmaceutical companies (although fewer in number, typically much larger in terms of resources, size and
capitalization) conducting various aspects of biopharmaceutical research. In addition, the United States alone has
over 600 academic and not-for-profit institutions engaged in biomedical research.

Biopharmaceutical Research

In order to identify optimal targets for drug development and to better assess the efficacy and safety of
potential drug candidates, biopharmaceutical researchers need to understand the underlying biological processes
that contribute to disease pathologies in the context of animal physiology and, ultimately, in humans. In addition,
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) will not approve human clinical trials of a potential drug
candidate without the submission of animal clinical data demonstrating an acceptable efficacy and/or safety
profile of that candidate.

Although there have been many advances in high-throughput in vitro (referring to tests or reactions taking
place outside a living organism) technologies, such as biochemical, gene, protein and celtular assays, these
assays are not performed in the context of the whole organism and often have less predictive value for
determining the activity of a drug in a human. These types of technologies generally assess only one biological
parameter and do so only at a single point in time. Consequently, they do not represent the complex biological
systems comprising living organisms and do not reflect or capture any dynamic or interactive changes occurring
over time in an individual living organism.

In contrast, in vive (referring to tests or reactions taking place inside a living organism) techndlogies involve
the use of intact animal models to test the effects of a drug on, or the role of a gene or protein in, a biological
system. To validate a hypothesis concerning the effects of a drug on, or the role of a gene or protein in, a
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biological system, researchers must test the hypothesis in animal models. #z vivo technologies have evolved over
time from convennonal animal models, to genetically or chemically mutated animals in which specific genes are
altered and more recently to transgenic animals in which a foreign gene of interest has been inserted. )

Although trad1t10nally in vivo technologies are slower and more expensive than in vitro technologies, they
often. yleld moré relevant information, because testing of potential drugs in living systems provides information
that is more predictive of the biological effect in humans. To assess biological activity in vivo, researchers must
collect, process and analyze tissues from different animals at multiple points in time. Tissue analysis alone can
often take months to complete. These snapshots in time are combined to generate a model of drug response, but
do.not allow the researcher to observe real-time dynamic or cascading effects of the drug or disease over time in
one ammal The use of different animals to compile these snapshots creates statistical variation in the data
generated due! to the inherent variability in each animal! In addition, flaws in the data collection process, such as
human error error inherent in the model, inaccurate measurement technology, or manipulation of the test subject,
as well as the tlme consuming nature of this process, limit the predictiveness of in vivo animal models. The in
Vivo ammal models used to test drug targets have remained the same over many decades.

Bzomedzcal Research

B1omed1ca1 researchers in academic and not-for-profit institutions are investing in a diverse range of
technologres that facilitate and accelerate their understanding of genes, protelns and pathways in both normal and
diseased states. Although a variety of technologies enable researchers to analyze a large number of genes and
protems in parallel such technologies provide minimal information on the dynamic role that these genes and
proteins serve;in the living body. Biomedical researchers are seeking complementary in vivo technologies to
facilitate a deeper understanding of the potentially complex role that these genes serve in physiology and
metabolism. The breadth of the applications for animal imaging is particularly attractive in academia. In addition,
academia tendsito lead the biopharmaceutical industry in terms of adopting and validating new technology.

~ In both'biopharmaceutical and biomedical research, the existing in vivo animal models are viewed as a rate-
limiting step due to the time involved, the inconsistency of results, and the limited predictive value of the results.
Mice and rats have different immune and physiological systems than humans, hence these models often fail to
predict human response Lo therapeutic targets. Consequently, removing the bottleneck requires enabling
researchers to. follow all stages of disease progression and the subsequent host response that are similar to (and,
therefore, predrcnve of) human biology in a high-throughput manner. The limitations in conventional animal
models can be allevrated by collecting higher quality data, specifically quantitative data, spatial information
(where in the animal), and temporal analysis (data collected in real-time from the same animal over minutes,
days or months)

Because of the limitations of current in vivo and in vitro assays, researchers have been seeking new
technolog1es that provide physiologically relevant data. Imaging technologies currently under investigation for
us¢ in the chmcal setting and in drug discovery and development—magnetic resonance imaging( or MRI),
positron emission tomography, or PET, X-ray computed tomography, or CT, single photon emission computed
tomography, or 'SPECT, and other optical imaging technologies—generally do not provide high quality
funcnonal data, and are not low in cost compared to in vitro assays and conventional animal model assessment
mainly | due to: the cost of equipment and the requirement of srzable teams of technicians with greater skill level to
collect and analyze data.

Our Busmess
We offer products and services that allow researchers to observe in real-time the disease and molecular
mechanisms in living intact organisms in a non-invasive manner (generally referred to as “molecular imaging”).

Our products . and services allow researchers to focus on those stages of disease progression within animal models
that are most predictive of human response. With this information, researchers can follow the spread of a disease,
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or the effects of a drug, throughout the same animal over time. Our integrated system of products and services
enables biopharmaceutical companies to reduce costs and standardize analytical techniques across four key areas
of the drug discovery and development chain: biological screening; pharmacokinetics and absorption,
distribution metabolism and excretion, or ADME; safety and toxicological testing; and drug dosage and
formulation. These areas accounted for approximately 21% of the $33 billion in research and development that
the pharmaceutical industry spent in 2003 as reported by the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of
America. The graphic below depicts the four stages in the drug development process, the stages where in vivo
testing occurs and the portion of total research and development spending related to in vivo testing.

The Role of In Vivo Analysis in the Biopharma Path to Drug Approval

o Filing
Discovery Preclinical Clinical Approval
Development Launch

In Vivo Testing Occurs During
Dlscovery and Preclinical Phases

Source: ‘Data based on FDA report, March 2004, “Challenge and Opportunity on the Critical Path to New
Medical Products” and from Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America.

Real-time capabilities of biophotonic imaging enable visual observation of mechanisms of action or
cascading events within the animal that would not otherwise be detected using conventional animal models. This
capability is particularly important in studies where genes are altered by environmental determinants and in
studies in which drugs are delivered and effect biological pathways of whole tissues in a manner that cellular
systems or other in vitro systems do not. We believe the combination of genetically modified animals and
biophotonic imaging has created more reliable animal models. Transgenic animal models developed for
biophotonic imaging are disease-specific and enable analysis of gene expression, protein activity and disease
progression. In our genetically modified animals, known as “LPTA animal models,” the gene for luciferase,
which produces a light-emitting enzyme, is present in every cell in the body of the animal but only produces light
when that gene is turned on in a specific cell type. In addition to genetically modified animals, we have modified
cells and microorganisms alone to express the luciferase gene, known as “Bioware,” for tracking and monitoring
such cells within an unmodified laboratory animal.

Increasing the throughput of in vivo animal testing and utilizing it earlier in the drug development cycle may
substantially reduce the costs of drug development failures and improve the time to market of successes. For
instance, we believe that implementation of our technology will allow consolidation and acceleration of the target
validation, lead optimization and preclinical stages of the drug development process. Likewise, efficacy and
toxicity tests can be performed earlier in the drug development cycle to avoid late-stage failures.




For e“xample“’the pictures below demonstrate (at left) the biophotonic image of a tumor growing in a live
ammal over ttme and (at nght) the quantitative measurement of the relative tumor size as time progresses. This
example usés one of our tumor cell lines that has been genetlcally modified to express the luciferase gene (and
ultlmately, light) known as “Bioware” in an ordinary mouse and 1maved using our spemally designed camera
system known as the “IVIS Imagmg System
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Add1t10nally, through our Xenogen Biosciences Comoratton subsidiary, we offer b1opharrnaceut1cal
compames and, btomedlcal researchers with animal productton and phenotypmg services to create both traditional
and b1olummescent ammal models to test the effects of a drug on, or the role of a gene or protein in, a biological
System, Whereas prev1ously biopharmaceutical companies essentially tended to perform all research and
development (R&D) in-house, there is a trend in recent years to concentrate the in-house R&D on core
competen01es and to outsource specific technologies and products to specialized service providers and vendors.
Asa consequence of this, a large industry segment has formed in recent years to deliver various spec:1al1zed
technolog1es and services to blopharmaceuucal compames Over the past 15 years, Xenogen Biosciences has
offeted many of these spec1ahzed technolog1es for creatlon and charactertzahon of animal models.

‘ Althdugh, as mentioned above, traditional in vivo animal models are viewed as a rate-limited step, they
nonetheless remain a critical element in life sciences research and of the drug discovery and development
process. The b10pharmaceut1cal industry currently relies ona limited number of platform technologies for
vahdatmg the' expandmo number of drug targets that have emerged from the sequencing of the human genome.
The most rehed upon technology for target validation w1th1n the pharmaceutical industry today is gene knockout
technology in coricert with comprehensive phenotypic analysxs Genetically éngineered mice can be highly
mformatwe in the dlscovery of gene function and pharmaceutical utility of a potential drug target, as well as in
the: determmatlon of the potential on-target $ide effects associated with a given target. Aside from whether a gene
isa good druo target genetically engineered animals also provide invaluable models to assess the pharmacology,
and mcreasmgly the toxicology, of drug candidates, maktng them well accepted validation models. Xenogen
Biosciences not only has more than a decade’s worth of experience in creating and characterizing these types of
ani‘mal‘models,ubut also more than 13 years of experience in creating transgenic animal models,-and a history of
having produced thousands of unique mutant model lines for customers.

Products and Services

We offer an 1ntegrated system of produets and services for biopharmaceutical and biomedical researchers
that addresses the current limitations of the drug discovery and development process. Our products include IVIS
Imagmg Systems Bioware and LPTA animal models. The IVIS Imaging Systems work in conjunction with our
Living Image software to allow researchers to collect, manipulate and display data from our light-producing
cells, rmcroorgamsms and transgenic animals. We also provide research and development services for compound
screemng ‘and proﬁlmcy in our animal models and for target validation.
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IVIS Imaging Systems and Living Image Software

The IVIS 50, 100, 200 Series and 3D Imaging Systems each include a highly sensitive camera, an ultra-dark
box that serves as the imaging chamber and a computer equipped with our Living Image Software. The
throughput image resolution and analytical capabilities differ by camera to address different end user needs. The
original IVIS 100 Series, introduced in 2000, and the IVIS 200 Series, introduced in 2003, each have high-
throughput and high-sensitivity, but the IVIS 200 also has integrated fluorescence and bioluminescence
capabilities and features, as well as high resolution and topographic analysis. Introduced in 2003, the IVIS 50
Series has lower throughput and less sensitivity than other IVIS models, but is available at a lower price point.
The IVIS 3D, presently in development for an expected launch in 2005, is a high-sensitivity camera with single
animal multi-view and three-dimensional analytical capabilities. The IVIS Imaging Systems’ functional
sensitivity is up to 1,000 times greater than PET, for example, has higher throughput than other imaging
modalities, and the unique Living Image Software allows one non-technical person to operate the imaging system
and examine the data analysis simultaneously. We offer IVIS Imaging Systems on both a sale and lease basis.
Various elements of the hardware and software are covered by claims in several of our issued and pending
patents.

In addition, we offer several options and accessories to expand our IVIS Imaging System workstations,
which are sold separately from the imaging systems. Our standard accessory package includes a calibration unit
to ensure the overall performance and accuracy of the light sources used in the system as well as a small animal
holding unit. We also offer an anesthesia accessory package, which is designed to work with all of our IVIS
Imaging Systems. Our anesthesia package integrates a gas delivery system into the imaging chamber, so that
mice or small animals can be anesthetized when placed in the IVIS Imaging System, thus minimizing gas
exposure to lab personnel. We have pending patent applications claiming many of these accessories.

We also offer several extended service plans for our IVIS Imaging Systems. These plans vary based on the
level of service desired by the customer and are available on an annual and multi-year basis, and are available in
the United States, Asia and Europe. Our premium service plan includes routine maintenance, 24 x 7 emergency
support, 9 x 5 technical support and a technical support response time of less than 24 hours. Our standard and
basic service plans offer maintenance and support, but with longer response times.

Bioware—Light-Producing Cells and Microorganisms

Our Bioware lines of light-producing cells and microorganisms enable researchers to analyze the spread and
treatment of cancer and infectious diseases, as well as to study immunology. We currently offer approximately
25 lines of light-producing microorganisms, including E. coli, Pseudomonas, Salmonella and other gram negative
bacteria, as well as Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus pneumonia and other gram positive bacteria. We have
also developed approximately 15 tumor cell lines for breast, melanoma and prostate cancer. In addition, we are
able to create custom light-producing microorganisms and tumor cell lines in accordance with the needs of our
customers. All of our Bioware products are optimized to work with our IVIS Imaging Systems.

LPTA Animal Models

Our LPTA animal models are pathway-specific model animals that enable researchers to analyze gene
expression, protein activity and disease progression. We currently have over 20 types of commercially available
therapeutically-relevant LPTA animal models designed to assist researchers in the areas of metabolic diseases
and liver failure, inflammation and drug metabolism. We are developing and in-licensing other types of LPTA
animal models designed to assist researchers in the areas of cardiovascular disease, cancer, inflammation and
toxicity. In addition, we are able to create customized LPTA animal models in accordance with many customer
specifications. All of our LPTA animal models are optimized to work with our IVIS Imaging Systems.
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../ The fdl;lonng?tab'Ie summarizes our products and services portfolio as of December 31, 2004.

i

‘ - L e - ' ' S : Number of Placements,
Name, pe S )

‘ i * Components / Highlights = - as'of December 31, 2004
IVIS Imagmg Systems ‘
IVIS 100 Senes f ' CCD camera, imaging chamber, computer with Living 140

.. Image software, high-resolufion moriitor, cryogenic
refrroeratlon unlt ‘and available Wrth ﬂuorescence option
CCD camera, imaging chamber computer wrth Living ) 20

- Image software, high-resolution monitor and thermo-electric
cooling unit and available with fluorescence option

- CCD cammera with five field of view options integrated 29
" fluorescence capabilities, more uniform hoht collectlon
patented high-resolution lens. ‘

3-dimensional images are derived from multiple views of 2 prototypes
one animal from many anglés; improved optics, available
with fluorescence option and structured light source

Accessones - ;" Standard and anesthesia packages C . ‘ *

Extended Serv1ce Plans Basic, Standard and Premium optlons e ‘ *
Reagents and Ammal Models
Bioware-~ "o Lines of light- producm0 cel]s and microorganisms: *
R S SR * 25 lines of microorganisms
Pootan T ¢ * 15 tumor cells lines

LPTA Animal Models . Over 20 types of LPTA animal models for areas including: | *
BRI +  Oncology; ‘

* Inflammation;

*  Metabolic disease; and

¢ . Neuroinflammatory disease

_* This item is available with our imaging systems; numbers of placements vary.
R R R k S
" Sales and'l’ic\‘ensing model. Use of our imaging technology requires a license Granting the right to practice
under opr patents: We' typrcally grant such a license concurrently with the purchase of one or more imaging
systems from us We, offer three forms of licenses: »
Se " 1nd1v1dua1 1mag1ng systemlicense. agreements
. enterprlse-,w1de imaging hcenses, and

R academiclicenses.

Our busmess model is based-on one- tlme sales of our IVIS Imagmg Systems and accessories and a recurring
revenue streath: for 4 license fee to use our imaging technology. We.may also receive recurring revenue based on
“salesiof our LPTA: animal models and Bioware. Commiercial customers pay up to $250,000 per year per [VIS
Imagmg System: for.a license to practice under our patents. A typical commercial license for our biophotonic
imaging: technology runs for three to five years, although these:licenses often are renewable annually and no
assurances can be-given as to the certainty-of those renewals for the entire multi-year term of each license -
agreement We also offer enterpnse wide imaging licenses, which are negotiated on a case-by-case basis. We
currently have.one such license in place, which expires in 2005 but | may be renewed for an annual fee of $1.5
million. We base our Jicensing fees both on'the size of the company and the number of imaging systems in use
within a company, :Since we first began licensing our biophotonic imaging technology in 2000, the majority of
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our customers have extended, and even expanded, their relationship with us. Currently, academic customers do
not pay a fee for an imaging license used for non-commercial purposes. We also grant the right to use our light-
producing cells and microorganisms and LPTA animal models under an annually renewable license agreement.

Contract Research and Transgenic Animal Services

We perform research projects and studies for our customers on a contract basis, including compound
profiling and animal model research and development. In addition, we provide professional services relating to
the production of transgenic and gene knockout animals. We offer a portfolio of transgenic animals for use by
researchers in a wide range of research and drug discovery and development areas.

Most of this work is performed through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Xenogen Biosciences Corporation,
and entails contracts for which the performance extends.over multiple years. For example, Xenogen Biosciences
and Pfizer Inc. entered into two separate collaborative research agreements in 2000 and 2001 under which we
received funding from Pfizer to develop a comprehensive mouse phenotyping protocol, to develop and test that
protocol on certain genetically engineered mice and to create, house, breed and genotype genetically engineered
mice for use in Pfizer’s phenotyping program. Both agreements have been extended annually by Pfizer and were
recently renewed in December 2004,

Xenogen Biosciences also was awarded a contract in September 2003 from the National Institute of
Environmental Health Sciences, or NIEHS, to generate and characterize up to 100 lines of knockout mice over a
potential five-year term. The NIEHS will provide Xenogen Biosciences with the list of specific genes that it
desires to have “conditionally knocked-out,” and Xenogen Biosciences will perform the subsequent work
required to generate those mice. Xenogen Biosciences then will initiate the development work on at least twenty-
three of those lines prior to the end of September 2005. Thereafter, the NIEHS may renew the contract for three
successive one-year terms, with at least thirty mouse lines to be generated in year 2 and at least forty-five lines to
be generated in each of years 3 and 4.

Through Xenogen Biosciences, we also offer a comprehensive phenotyping program that includes over 60
standardized and validated bioassays, or challenge assays, designed to profile key physiological pathways
associated with various disorders, including allergic diseases, arthritis, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes,
immunology/inflammation, obesity, osteoporosis, pain, psychiatric disorders, sexual health, and urological
disorders. Most importantly, Xenogen Biosciences’ proprietary techniques allow our scientists to perform
multiple assays on a group of animals, maximizing the data set per animal without compromising its integrity,
resulting in fewer animals used and less time required.

Sales and Marketing

Direct sales. We sell our products and services principally through our direct sales and marketing
organization. Our sales force is organized into three groups related to customer focus: large pharmaceutical
companies; biotechnology and other pharmaceutical companies; and academia and research. We are expanding
our direct sales and marketing efforts to include additional regional sales representatives in the U.S. and Europe
and additional technical field representatives. We also have a biology and physics customer service and support
team involved in the selling effort. Most of these individuals have Ph.D. degrees in biology, biochemistry or
physics, and provide support for the sales and marketing team and provide customer service in the areas of
biclogy and physics. We generate customer leads through presentations, exhibiting at and attending scientific and
partnering meetings, trade shows, publications and advertisements in scientific journals. We also receive many
qualified leads through our website, targeted promotional efforts to strategic accounts and referrals from current
customers. We offer customer support through our internal and field research scientists and busmess
development specialists.

Distributors. While we intend to focus on sales in the United States utilizing our direct sales force, we
believe that certain markets outside the United States are best served by working through local distributors. In
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J anuary 2003 for example, we entered into a distribution agreement Wlth SC BioSciences Corporation for the
Japanese; market -Subsequently, we entered into distributor-agreements covering Taiwan, Korea, China, India,
Israel, Australia, New Zealand, Germany, Austria and Switzerland: Under these agreements, the distributors also
will assume responsrbrlrty for installation and _post- sales support of our 1mag1ng systems. To date, sales under
these agreements have; been limited: : e

ol o T t K '

e tMarketmg agreement In January 2000 we entered into-a long-term, agreement w1th Taconic Farms one of
the largest provrders of laboratory animals:in the world, for joint marketing and distribution of certain transgenic
ammals with a'single luminescence reporter gene compatible with our imaging technology. Taconic may sell
those animals only to licensees of our imaging patents and under limited use-agreements. We granted to Taconic
the right to breed, distribute and sell certain LPTA animal models to its customers and we share in profits
received from thetr sale. This agreement terminates in J anuary 2010 unless terminated earlier due to a material

‘uncured breach of contract or by ‘mutual agreement !

, Research and Product Development

1; d

Our ob]ectrve is to continue development of our IVIS Imaging Systems and to increase the number of
ammal rnodels by leveraglng both internal and external research efforts. , ;
o ; ] Lo
Instrumentanon and sofrware Our phys1cs research and developrnent department, in conjunction with our
1 blology product planning group, is responsible for new product and application development. New product
. concepts for assocrated hardware are evaluated by our physics research and development department, and those
chosen are taken from concept through the pre-production prototype stage. This department also works closely
wrth our mstrumentatron department to transition the pre-production prototype to full production provides initial
user support and any required design modifications. and develops and provides initial support for new
applrcanons of our: instrumentation (e.g., fluorescent imaging, spectral i 1ma01ng etc.) until such applications are
\ ;suffrcrently developed for transition to our instrumentation department:

gl : ll L

Reagenrs and bloware Our brology product plannmg group is responsible for deterrmmng new animal
‘modelsr to be, developed that have value to the pharmaceutlcal industry, for creating these animal models and for
v'testmcr these ammal models in our IVIS Imaging Systems Qur biology product planning group produces these
r vahdated new apphcatlons (animal models) from three different sources: we in-license and perform quality
control -on reagents that have already been made by others for conventronal methodologies that complement our
fnomnvasrve imaging methodology; we build and validate proprietary models in our research laboratories; and we
"’retam nghts to animal models made by certain of our customers who use our technology. By using these
'stratecres We are able to leverage a material amount of research and development expenditures of third parties.

‘ Research and development lnfrastructure We have internal legal and scientific expertise for our in-

- lrcensmg program We have biological scientists that work together with our physicists and tissue optics experts

to create ammal ‘models in oncology, inflammation and drug metabolism and toxicology. We also employ a

1 techmcal apphcatrons group to interact at the scientific level with our customers to understand and access
technology developed in our customers’ laboratories and to help our customers understand new applications that
we have acqurred or developed.

We spent approxrmately $14.1 mllllon for research and development in 2002, $11. 9 million in 2003 and
_‘$12 5 nulhon in 2004 ‘

! ,Instrument Manufacturmg, Animal Productlon and Reagents

Instz ument Manufacturmg

‘ | We currently perform the engmeermg de51gn, prototyping, assembly, quality assurance installation and
: servrce for,all of our IVIS Imaging Systems. We use OEM providers for the various parts of the i imaging systems
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including the cameras, boxes, certain subassemblies, filters and lenses. Two of these providers, Andor
Technology, Ltd. and Spectral Instruments, Inc., provide us with cameras for all of our IVIS Imaging Systems.
Under the Andor supply agreement, Andor manufactures and sells to us a CCD camera and related equipment for
use with the IVIS Imaging System 50 Series. The two-year, renewable agreement may be terminated upon a
breach by either party, bankruptcy or insolvency or if Andor ceases to manufacture these products. Under the
Spectral Instruments supply agreement, Spectral manufactures and sells to us a CCD camera for our other
imaging systems. That agreement was automatically renewed in October 2004 for an additional 18-month period
and will continue to renew for additional 18-month periods unless explicitly terminated by either party six
months prior to the expiration date or unless there is an uncured breach, bankruptcy or insolvency of either party.
The majority of our quality assurance process has been automated. Our instrumentation employees currently are
classified as either prototyping and manufacturing or physics and software product development, including -
administrative and inventory assistance. We have customary manufacturing design and inventory shipping
processes in place to ensure that we can reliably deliver systems to our customers.

We believe our current capacity within manufacturing can produce approximately 130 IVIS Imaging
Systems per year. We intend, however, to expand our production capacity in 2005. This growth in imaging |
systems and accessory production includes increasing our current manufacturing facilities from 8,000 to 22,000
square feet, and also may include an increase in subassembly contractors over the next several years.

Animal Production

We maintain separate animal vivaria to prevent the spread of disease, which could cause a loss of valuable
strains of animals. In addition, those animals most widely used by our customers are also housed by two outside
vendors, Charles River Laboratories and Taconic. In Cranbury, New Jersey, our leased facility includes a large
barrier animal vivarium that is certified by the Association for the Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory
Animal Care, or AALAC. In this facility, we perform animal production and phenotyping. We ship animals and
provide animal services to our customers from this facility. We have animal resources personnel specially trained
in animal care and handling who provide services to our customers and our internal scientists. Our Alameda,
California facility has one vivarium and a separate animal imaging suite. We perform breeding and model
validation in this facility and have an animal resources program with personnel specially trained in animal care
and handling. Each facility has individual environmental controls, as well as a veterinary consultant to assist us
in monitoring the health of our animal population. '

Reagents

We maintain laboratory space in our Alameda facility to create and maintain stocks of our microorganism
and cell line reagents. We have an exclusive supply agreement with Biosynth International, Inc. for the supply of
Luciferin, a chemical compound that is introduced into cells and organisms in order to produce bioluminescence,
and which we, and our customers, use with our Bioware and LPTA animal models.

Intellectual Property

We have implemented an international patent strategy intended both to provide us with freedom to operate,
and to facilitate commercialization of our current and future products. As of March 1, 2003, we owned eleven
issued U.S. patents, have received notices of allowance for three of our U.S. patent applications, and exclusively
licensed several other issued and allowed patents. We also have over twenty additional U.S. patent applications
pending. We also hold non-exclusive licenses to several patents that apply to our current business or that we may
incorporate into future products.

We believe our extensive patent portfolio presents a significant barrier to entry for the commercial practice
of our biophotonic imaging method and production of light-producing transgenic animals. Our patent portfolio
for imaging is built on two foundations: methods, applications and materials relating to the biological aspects of
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biophOtonic imaging; and methods and apparatus relating to the instrumentation aspects of biophotonic imaging.
Our patent portfoho for the production of genetically modified animals is built on a foundation of exclusive and
non- exelusrve llcenses for basic methods of animal production, as well as non-exclusive licenses for additional
techmques and approaches that add value and produce specific types of modified animals. We seek to maintain,
through 1ntemal development or in-licensing, patents that encompass our major technology areas, which are
aligned w1th our products and services: methods and applications of in vivo biophotonic imaging (technology
hcenses) imaging system components and computer-implemented methods for image acquisition and analysis
(IVIS Imagmg Systems and Living Image software), composition and use of transformed cells and organisms for
in vivo. b10photomc 1mag1ng (Bioware and LPTA animal models), and production of genetically engineered
laboratory animals (arumal production services and LPTA animal models). In addition to our foundational claims
for methods of blophotomc imaging, our patent portfolig includes issued and pending patent claims for specific
appl1cat1ons of biophotonic imaging and a number of areas that we believe will be valuable to our business,
including, by way of example: animal models of disease, transgenic animals useful in drug discovery research,
rmaomg system components and computer-implemented methods for image acquisition and analysis. However,
U.sS. patents filed since 1995 generally have a term of 20 years from the date of filing. In the life sciences
1ndustry, it often takes several years from the date of filin g of a patent application to the date of a patent issuance,
often resultmg in a shortened period of patent protection, which may adversely affect our ability to exclude
competltors from our markets

We hcense from third parties several patents that are 1mportant to our business. Our core imaging patents
and related applications are licensed from Stanford University on an exclusive basis. The license is worldwide,
royalty- bearmg and mcludes the right to grant sublicenses. The term of this license is for the life of the patents
resultmg from the appl1cat10ns which do not begin to expire until 2015. One of the patents that we have licensed
from Stanford covenng our method of in vivo biophotonic imaging was subject to a re-examination proceeding
before the U S. Patent and Trademark Office. The re-examination concluded in 2004, and the Patent and
Trademark Office issued a re-examination certificate for that patent with slightly narrowed claims. Such
narrowed clalms do not affect our current licenses or business.

The rrght to use the spec1ftc luciferase gene in our LPTA animal models and certain of our Bioware is
licensed: from Promega Corporation and The Regents of the University of California under non-exclusive,
royalty beanng licenses:. The Promega agreement runs through the life of the subject patent, which expires in
201}4.tPr‘oimega,, however, may terminate the agreement for breach of contract and we may terminate the contract
in-the gvent that we no longer use the luciferase gene. The Regents agreement runs through the life of those
subject patents which. expire in 2013; however, The Regents may terminate the agreement for breach of contract
or fallure to suffrcrently commercialize luciferase-bearing products, and we may terminate in the event we no
longer use: 1uc1ferase

Our patent relating to the production of transgenic animals (through pronuclear microinjection techniques)
is licensed from Ohio University. This license was granted on an exclusive basis, is royalty-bearing and includes
the right to grant sublicenses. The term of the license is for the life of the patent, which is due to expire in late
2006., Our patents relating to the production of genetically-engineered animals by using gene-targeting methods
have been licensed from Medarex, Inc. (successor-in-interest to GenPharm International, Inc.) since 1991. This
license is non-exclusive, royalty-bearing and worldwide. Other financial terms include a license issue fee, an
annual fee (creditable against earned royalties due) and a milestone fee in the event the FDA approves a
pharmacehtical product that includes a product produced through practice under the licensed patents. As further
consrderatlon Medarex received a royalty-bearing cross-license to practice under the patent we have licensed
from Oh1o Umversrty The term of this license is for the life of the lrcensed patents, which are set to expire in
2014. : :,/ ‘.

We have apphed for and received, registration of several trademarks in the U.S. and in foreign markets
where-our .products are sold, including our logo, IVIS, LIVING IMAGE, LPTA, BIOWARE and XENOGEN.

"
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Competition

Our primary competition is from traditional in vive animal models. While numerous technologies for animal
analyses exist, we believe we are the only company to offer an integrated system of equipment, software and
reagents for the biophotonic imaging of animals. Although we believe we have significant intellectual property
protection to prevent others from developing competing integrated products, there are other manufacturers of
similar individual technologies.

Light-producing animal models. There are approximately 300 light-producing animal models currently used
in conventional applications, many of which can be used in our IVIS Imaging Systems. Producers of these
models, generally biomedical researchers at not-for-profit institutions, would require one or more licenses from
Xenogen and third parties to commercialize these models for biophotonic imaging. Consequently, these models
comprise a sizable pool of potential in-licensing candidates for us.

Imaging. We compete with conventional molecular imaging technologies including clinical imaging
modalities, such as PET, MRI, x-ray CT and SPECT, which utilize the penetrating radiation of positrons, radio
waves, x-rays and gamma rays. Most of these technologies require trained teams of technicians to operate and are
subject to complications resulting from high signal-to-noise ratios caused by penetrating multiple layers of tissue.
In addition, some are limited by the need for radioactivity and concomitant shielding, storage and disposal issues
and others image anatomy, rather than gene expression. By comparison, our ix vivo bioluminescent imaging
technique involves an optical imaging approach where light originates internally, greatly enhancing visualization
and reducing noise, and does not require the use of specially trained technicians or radioactive substances.
Compared to these other imaging technologies in which one animal is imaged over time, we have an imaging
methodology that allows for relatively high-throughput protocols and data collection.

Biophotonic cameras. Several companies sell highly sensitive cameras capable of biophotonic imaging,
including Eastman Kodak Company, Berthold Detection Systems GmbH, Hamamatsu Photonics, K.K. and Roper
Scientific, Inc. While these cameras have similar features and imaging capabilities to our IVIS Imaging Systems,
none of those companies have the right to sell their cameras for applications claimed by our patents.

Light-producing reagents. Our competitors who develop light-producing reagents used in animal models
include major companies such as GE Healthcare Discovery Systems and Invitrogen Corporation. We have
agreements in place with Promega Corporation and The Regents of the University of California, under which we
non-exclusively sublicense several patents on a royalty-bearing basis for use of a modified firefly luciferase gene
in living organisms, such as our LPTA animal models and certain of our Bioware. Other companies must obtain
similar licenses from those two entities in order to use that gene as a tagging reagent in animal models for
commercial purposes. Other companies can, however, create animal models using alternative technologies that
do not contain luciferase.

In vivo animal analysis. We also compete with companies that conduct iz vivo animal analysis, including
Lexicon Genetics and Exelixis, Inc. Lexicon uses animal models based on knockout mice technology, whereas
Exelixis uses other organisms, such as fruit flies, zebra fish, worms and yeast. Both companies, however,
primarily focus on developing their own pipeline of therapeutic products, rather than providing in vivo animal
products and services to third parties. We believe that our animal models in combination with biophotonic
imaging technology allow for more predictive data. Additionally and in contrast to Xenogen, neither of these
companies offers a complete package of instrumentation and reagents for use in preclinical development.

In silico analysis. In addition to companies that perform in vivo animal analysis, we also compete with
companies that conduct in vifro analysis, including Predix Pharmaceuticals, formerly Physiome Sciences, Scimagix
and Entelos. Each of these companies offers in silico, or in computer, technology that enables large-scale computer
models of human disease. While in silico technologies have helped accelerate the drug discovery process, these
technologies generally assess only one biological parameter and, consequently, they are not representative of the
complex biological systems present in humans. As a result, the information generated has limited predictive value.
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Although we believe our integrated system of instruments and equipment, software and reagents improve the
product1v1ty and efﬁmency of drug discovery and development, the up-front costs and licensing fees associated
with otr products;make their use generally more expensive than conventional technologies for in vivo testing.

Phenotyping. Although many pharmaceutical companies perform these efforts internally, there are a small
number ‘of e‘omp‘ahies that offer phenotypic analysis of animal models on a fee-for-service basis, including Jackson
Laboratories, Charles River Laboratories, and RIKEN Yokahama Institute-Genomic Sciences Center. However,
we believe that Xenogen Biosciences offers gréater breadth and scope of pharmacologically-validated bioassays
and challenge assays. Additionally, we believe that the proprietary nature of Xenogen Biosciences’ phenotyping
program services presents customers with services that use fewer mice, and therefore are more cost-efficient, than
those offered by competltors or those available to large pharmaceutical companies from in-house staffs.

Government Regulatlon

Our IVIS Imagmg Systems and reagents are not regulated by any governmental agency. Our line of business
associated with animal production, however, may, in the future, be subject to various laws and regulations
regardmg the tredtment of animals if the federal Animal Welfare Act, or AWA, is amended. The AWA does not
currently apply to rats of the genus Rattus or mice of the genus Mus, bred for use in research, and consequently,
we are not currently required to be in compliance with the AWA. Where applicable, the AWA imposes a wide
vanety of specific requirements on producers and users of research animals, including requirements related to
personnel; fac1l1t1es sanitation, cage size, feeding, watering and shipping conditions. Although the AWA does
not currently apply to our animal production business, we have voluntarily sought and received accreditation by
the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International, or AAALAC, which
sets mdustry standards for care and treatment of animals used in research. In the event that the AWA is amended
to include mice orrats within the scope of regulated animals, and consequently, our animal production business,
we believe compliance with such regulations would require us to modify our current practices and procedures,
which eoulo require significant financial and management resources. We are not currently aware of legislation
pending before the U.S. Congress to amend the AWA to cover the mice or rats used by Xenogen. In addition,
some! states have their own regulations, including general anti-cruelty legislation, which establishes certain
standards in handlrng animals. With respect t6 the products and services we provide overseas, we also have to
comply with foreign laws, such as the European Convention for the Protection of Animals During International
Transport and other-anti-cruelty laws. The Council of Europe is presently considering proposals to more
smngently regulate ammal research.

Manyzof our;pharmaceuncal and biotechnology licensees employ our technology to develop preclinical
animal data on therapeutic products in development that may be submitted to governmental agencies as part of a
regulatory applicéttidn to commence human clinical testing or to commercialize their products. To date,
preclinicai data collected using our technology has been submitted by one of our clients and accepted by the FDA
to support.commencement of clinical trials. Currently, none of our clients has obtained regulatory approval for a
therapeutic product based, in part, on data collected using our technology. There can be no assurance that the
FDA or-other regulatory agencies will continue to accept preclinical data collected using our technology and
submitted as part of an application to support initiation of clinical trials, or that such data can or will be used to
support regulatory approval to commercialize therapeutic: products

tAddmonally, exports of our IVIS Imaging Systems and biological reagents to forergn customers and
distributors are governed by the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, the Export Administration
Regulations, the Patriot Act and the Bioterrorism Safety‘Act. Although these laws and regulations do not restrict
our present foreign sales programs, there can be no assurance that future changes to these regulatory regimes will
not‘affe‘ct;orlimit our foreign sales.
© Our res‘ear‘chi and development actjvities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials and chemicals.
We arel subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal
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of such materials and certain waste products. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling and
disposing of such materials comply with state and federal laws and regulations, the risk of accidental
contamination or injury from these materials cannot be completely eliminated. In the event of such an accident,
we could be held liable for any damages that result and any liability could exceed our resources.

Employees

At December 31, 2004, we had a total of 157 full-time employees. None of our employees are represented
by a collective bargaining agreement, and we have never experienced any work stoppage. We believe that our
employee relations are good.

Seasonality

In general, our revenue is subject to seasonal variations. Our customers are from the biomedical research
community and the biopharmaceutical industry, and our revenue recognition is closely tied to the timing of their
budget cycles. In the biomedical research community, grant proposals are due in October, February and June
with funds delivered the following June, October and March, respectively. We recognize most of our revenue
from sales to biomedical institutions when we install cameras, which, due to the grant cycle, usually occur in the
second and fourth quarters. In the biopharmaceutical industry, traditionally, there are two decision-making
cycles: one in January or July when budgets are planned, and the second in November or December when
appropriated funds must be spent or returned to the general budget. As a result, agreements are commonly
entered into in the second and fourth quarters, which follow the beginning of the budget cycle. Therefore,
historically our revenue is elevated in the second and fourth quarters as compared to the first and third quarters.
We generally also see a decrease in the third quarter due to vacation schedules in the summer, especially with
respect to our European and academic customers.

Where You Can Find More Information

We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC under
the Exchange Act. You can inspect and copy our reports, proxy statements, and other information filed with the
SEC at the offices of the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 450 Fifth St., NW, Room 1024, Washington,
D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the Public Reference Rooms. The
SEC also maintains an Internet website at http://www.sec.gov where you can obtain most of our SEC filings.
You also can inspect our reports, proxy materials and other information at the offices of the Nasdaq Stock
Market at 1735 K Street NW, Washington, D.C. 20006. In addition, you can obtain copies of these reports by
contacting investor relations at (510) 291-6100.

Item 2.  Properties.

Our principal administrative and research and development activities are located in Alameda, California.
We currently lease and occupy a total of approximately 120,600 square feet in three facilities. Our facilities
currently include a 60,900 square foot combined office, wet laboratory, vivarium and light manufacturing space
in Alameda, California under a lease expiring in February 2006, a 57,800 square foot facility in Cranbury, New
Jersey that includes a combined office, wet laboratory, vivarium and expansion space under a lease that expires
in October 2009, and a 25,000 square foot facility of combined office, wet laboratory, vivarium and expansion
space in St. Louis, Missouri, which is currently unoccupied and which we intend to sublet. We believe that we
have adequate space to accommodate our business plans for our current needs.

On March 2, 2005, we concurrently entered into two amendments to existing real estate operating leases and
one new real estate operating lease in Alameda. One amendment extends the term of one lease for an additional
term of five years commencing on March 1, 2006 and ending February 28, 2011 and the other amendment
provides for and requires the early relocation from one facility to the new lease location. The new real estate
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lease is for, approximately five years and ten months with two options to extend the term each for an additional

ﬁve-l'yéargperiodi Under the new lease amendments and agreements our overall facility square footage in
Alameda will be approximately 54,900 square feet, s T :
i w 8 .

Item 3:. ' Legal Proceedings. ‘ : o
. ‘OnAhgust‘Q;.ZOO,l, AntiCancer, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Svup'e"n'or:Court of California, County of San
Diego,jég_aiﬁst us'and other third parties. The complaint é}lleges five causes of action, including trade libel,
defafﬁa@fiqnl interitional interference with contract, intentional interference with prospective economic advantage
and iinfaifi'competitfon. These claims are based on alleged false statements made by unidentified employees and/
or third parties regarding AntiCancer’s products. AntiCancer seeks unspecified general and exemplary monetary
dama'gé$ arising from the alleged impact of the alleged false statements, as well as its costs and expenses
incurred in' connection with the lawsuit. The Court recently denied our motion for summary judgment of the case,
and trial is scheduled to begin on September 19, 2005. We believe the complaint is without merit and are
mounting a vigofous defense. - T !

Rl
vad

On 'March 7, 2005, AntiCancer filed a lawsuit against us in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of California alleging infringement of five patents of AntiCancer. The complaint seeks damages and injunctive
relief against the alleged infringement. We intend to vigorously defend ourselves against such infringement
claims, jn¢1uding‘cont¢stihg the validity of AntiCancer’s patents. Even if we prevail in these lawsuits, the
defen_se:of:fhése or similar lawsuits will be expensive and time-consuming and may distract our management
from operating our business. ‘

' Frofn time to ;irhe we are in{/olveq in litigation arising out of claims in the normal course of business. Based
on the infor‘ifnatipnk‘presently available, management believes that there are no claims or actions pending or
threatéhéd agéinsf» us, thé ultimate resolution of which will have a material adverse effect on our financial
positio_hj, licil;lidit‘y“’(j; results of operations, although the results of litigation are inherently uncertain, and adverse
outcomes dre' possible. ' . -

Itenj 4 i SﬁbmisSiOn of Matters to-a Vote of Security Holders. - . N

No f-iﬁattérs ‘we“‘r‘é submitted to a vote of stockholders during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2004.

R .
oy .
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; : PARTII

Item 5, Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “XGEN” on July 16,
2004. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported by the
Nasdaq National Market for the periods indicated below.

High Low
2004

Third Quarter (July 16, 2004 through September 30,2004) ................. $8.15  $6.01
Fourth QUarter . . ...ttt e e e $7.30 $5.05

On March 4, 2005, the last reported sale price of our common stock was $6.58 per share. As of March 4,
2005, there were approximately 135 holders of record of our common stock. Since our incorporation, we have
never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not expect to do so in the foreseeable future.
We currently intend to retain all available funds for use in the operation and expansion of our business. In
addition, we are restricted from paying dividends, other than dividends payable solely in stock, under the terms
of our credit facility.

Use of Proceeds

On July 21, 2004, we completed our initial public offering of 4.2 million shares of our common stock at a
price of $7.00 per share. The offering was made pursuant to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-114152), which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 15, 2004, and
pursuant to which shares were offered on July 16, 2004, The offering provided net proceeds to us of
approximately $24.9 million, which is net of underwriters’ discounts and commissions of approximately
$2.1 million, and related legal, accounting, printing and other expenses totaling approximately $2.4 million.

We have used and intend to continue to use the proceeds from the offering for use in the operation and
expansion of our business. |

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans will be included
in the proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the section titled “Executive
Compensation.”




Item 6 ‘ Selected Consolidated Financial Data.

The followmg consolidated statement of operations. and consohdated balance sheet data have been derived
frorn our consohdated financial statements. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the
results of future operations and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
F1nanc1al Condrtlon and:Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes
.1ncluded as Items 7 and 8 in this Form 10-K. o

Vo .
i ' [ .
P AR !

ot Co o o L Years Ended December 31,
o ‘{ j I T R © 2004 - 2003 2002 2001 2000
i . S . . . . P

T ' s (in thousands, except per share data)

Consolldated Statement of Operations Data

REVENUE , . o e B e . $30,883 $20,063 $16014 $13244 § 4,137
Cost, of revenue and operatmg‘expenses e . 52,7750 40,058 47,209 48, 310 22,623
Loss from operatrons. e PR U (21,867) . (19,995) (31,195) (35,066) (18,486)
Other i income (expense) net ...... S T Lo 90 L (852) 451) . 369 870
Loss hefore‘cumulatrve effect of an accountmg ' D ' - :
chatige % : . AL i L QLTTT (20,547)  (31,646) 1 (34,697) (17,616)
Cumulatrve effect of an accounting change— ' . :
1mpa1rment of goodwrll (@) e T ‘ — (30,906)  —. —
Net loss i PR , . L QL7977 (20,547 (62,552)  (34,697) (17,616)
Preferred stock dwrdends ..... e e ' — (5,629) (2,‘230) - (4,429) —_
Accretron of redeemable convertrble preferred o o ,
stock "0 R DU SRR e ! — T(344) (1,045 (475) —
Net loss attrrbutable to common stockholders e LO$(21,777) .$(26,520) $(65,827) $(39,601) $(17,616)
Share data (basrc and dlluted) ' '
Net loss att_nbutable to-common $tockholders :
excludmg timulative effect of an accounting , o ’
‘charge per share—lmparrment of goodwill .....- § (2.99)"$ (33.89) §$ (63.86) $ (72.51) —
Cumulatrve effect of an accounting change—— ' ‘ o
b '1mpa1rment of goodwrll 2 .' R Vi — — (56.52) + — —

Net loss attnbutable to common stockholders....,; $ (299 $ (33.89) $(120.38) $ (7251) § —

(a) Imparrment of goodwrll resultmg from write-offs of goodwrll relatmg to acquisition of Chrysalis DNX
Transgemc Servrces Corp. and adoptlon of SFAS 142 in 2002.

)

. As of December 31,

; - L 2004 © 2003 2002 2001 2000

Consohdated Balance Sheet Data: Co ’

Cash, cash equrvalents and short-term 1nvestments .. $21916 $13,546 $ 6,670 $ 28,119 §$ 28,855
Workmg capital (b) e e e e ... 14071 6314 (2,498) 20,636 21,805
Total assets N S R R . 39938 31,559 . 24305 82,450 81,460
Defeired revenue .; ...... S P ... 8638 9918 5095 4958 5016
Long-term: obhgatrons. . .,' ......... e . 1,054 5182 3,158 4,354 3,340
Redeemable preferred stock ..................... y — — 114941 110,619 81,693
Convertrble preferred SEOCK .o ‘ — 66 1 1 —
Total stockholders equrty (deficit) .......... . .. 15947 8,190 (109,544) (45467) (14,014)

(b) Includes short:trcenn portion of long-term obligations
ol 5‘:-‘ [RE R AT . t
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included in Item 8 in this Form 10-K.

Overview

We sell integrated systems of instruments and equipment, software and reagents to biomedical and
biopharmaceutical researchers that we believe improve the productivity and efficiency of the drug discovery and
development process. Using the detection and measurement of photons emitted from cells and animals that we
genetically engineér to emit light, which we term “biophotonic imaging”, our patented and proprietary
biophotonic IVIS Imaging Systems, living animal models and research services collectively expedite in vivo data
collection and analysis, a critical bottleneck in drug discovery and development. Our customers use in vivo
biophotonic imaging to visually display and quantify a chosen tumor, disease, pathogen, organ or biochemical
reaction. Qur products are also used to create predictive animal models, primarily rats and mice, for preclinical
drug discovery and development. We believe our products enable our pharmaceutical and biotechnology
customers to generate higher-quality safety and efficacy data for drug candidates, to accelerate preclinical
development and to reduce the development risk of product candidates that enter human clinical development.
The sources of our revenue are:

o Instruments and related imaging accessories: sales of IVIS Imaging Systems and accessories;

¢ Recurring license fees: multi-year fees for our biophotonic imaging licenses and access to reagents such
as animals and cell lines; and

»  Long-term service contracts: custom animal production, animal phenotyping and IVIS service contracts.

We mariufacture, market and sell our IVIS Imaging Systems, as well as the reagents—pathogens and tumor
cells, or “Bioware”, and light-producing transgenic animals, or “LPTA animal models”-—that allow our
customers performing biopharmaceutical and biomedical research, discovery and development to collect safety,
efficacy and other relevant data on product candidates. Our reagent sales are comprised of genetically modified
animals (mice and rats) and cell lines that are used to characterize the role of genes in the disease process as well
as to measure the efficacy of potential drugs against certain sets of disease indications. We also provide a wide ¢
range of contract research services relating to the production of transgenic animals (in which foreign genes are .
incorporated) and knockout animals (in which specific genes are functionally disabled). In addition, we provide
custom animal production and phenotyping services to our customers for the purpose of target validation and
compound screening. Our product offerings allow our customers to gather data in living animals about
biochemical pathways, the mechanism of action of drug candidates and how well these drug candidates work in
living organisms.

We commenced sales of our [VIS Imaging Systems in 2000 and our animal models in 2001 and our
revenues have grown each year. Our revenues were $30.9 million in 2004, $20.1 million in 2003 and $16.0
million in 2002. We expect our revenues to increase in 2005, although not at the same rate as in' prior years. The
gross margins for ‘our products and services vary. Gross margins on one-time fees related to sales of our IVIS
instruments and accessories averaged over 38% over the last three years, and gross margins on our revenue
generated from licensing fees averaged over 86% over the same period. We anticipate that gross margins for our
instruments and accessories will improve as we expand our manufacturing capacity and utilization. Gross
margins for our custom animal production and phenotyping services vary significantly based on the type of
service provided, and we currently have a breakeven gross margin on contract revenue due to underutilization of
our production facilities. We sell our products and services directly to our customers and through independent
distributors who sell our IVIS Imaging Systems outside the U.S. '

Since inception, we have been unprofitable. We incurred net losses of approximately, $21.8 rrﬁllion in 2004,
$20.5 million in 2003 and $62.6‘million in 2002. As of December 31, 2004, we had an accumulated deficit of
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$167. 7i"nﬁ]ﬁon As a'cornpany in the early stage of commercialization, our limited history of operations makes
predrctron of future:operating results difficult. We believe that period to penod comuparisons of our operating
results: should not be relied on as predictive of our future results.

In November 2000, in exchange for preferred stock, we acquired all the outstanding shares of Chrysalis
DNX Transgemc Sciences Corporation, or DNX, renamed Xenogen Biosciences Corporation, now our wholly
owned subsidiary. In 2002, we recorded an impairment of goodwill for this acquisition of $30.9 million. In
September 2001, iwe acquired leasehold improvements and certain other tangible assets relating to a transgenic
animal facility located in St. Louis, Missouri, from Incyte Genomics, Inc,, or Incyte, for a total consideration of
$0.3 million. In addition, we acquired a license to certain patents for a one-time fee of $0.7 million. In 2002, we
closed the St. Louis facility and recorded a restructuring charge.

1 Seasonality. Our revenue is subject to seasonal variations. Qur customers are from the biomedical research
comrnunit')ll;andtthe biopharmaceutical industry, and our business is closely tied to the timing of their budget
cycles. In the biomedical research community, grant proposals are due in October, February and June with funds
delivered the following June, October and March, respectively. We recognize most of our revenue from sales to
brornedrcal institutions' when we install cameras, which, due to the grant cycle, usually occur in the second and
fourth quarters In the biopharmaceutical industry, there are traditionally two decision making cycles: one in
January or July when budgets are planned, and the second in November or December when appropriated funds
must be spj»ent or returned to the general budget. As a result, agreements are commonly entered into in the second
and fourth' quarters, which follow the beginning of the budget cycle. Therefore, historically our revenue is higher
in the second and fourth quarters as compared to the first and third quarters. We generally also see a decrease in
the third quarter due to vacation schedules in the summet, especially with respect 1o our European and academic
customers

Crltlcal Accountmg PollCles and Estimates

Our dlscussron and analysis of our financial condrtron and results of operations is based on our consolidated
ﬁnancral staternents which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the U.S. The preparatron of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The following discussion mcludes explanation of
our rnost cntrcal p011c1es as well as the estimates and ]udgments involved.

. ; N ‘ i ;

‘ Revehue recogn’itian. Revenue is recognized when ~persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has,occurréd or services have been rendered; the price is fixed and determinable and collectibility is reasonably
assured.-We generaterevenue primarily from three sources: (1):sales of our IVIS Imaging Systems and
associated accessories, (2) licenses for the use of our in vivo biophotonic imaging technology, transgenic animals
and assoc1ated biological products to customers on a nonexclusive and nontransferable basis for the purposes of
its apphcatron in'the fields of drug discovery and/or preclinical drug development research; and (3) performance
of animal creation, customized phenotyping and compound profiling services.

Our IVIS Tmaging System is composed of separate hardware and software components. The hardware (non-
software) component is pnmanly an ultra-sensitive CCD camera system affixed to a patented light-tight box. The
primary software component (Living Image) enables the user to acquire, organize and view the image data
captured by the' camera; similar software is also available from other vendors. We allocate revenue on the sale of
our IVIS Imaarng Systems between software and non-sdftware related dehverables based on fair value, and is
recognrzed upon installation. !

b S :

camera system (2) the technology licenses, (3) follow-on technical services, and (4) system accessories. We
allocate’ revenue to these units of accounting based on’ fa1r value as determined by reference to the price at which
it would be sold separately by us and/or other third pames Revenue from the sale of accessories is recognized

‘ Revenue allocated to non-software deliverables is further allocated based on separate deliverables: (1) the

Lo
1
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upon delivery (i.e., transfer of title), as the functionality of add-on accessories is not contingent upon installation
due to the “plug and play” nature of the accessories. Revenue associated with follow-on technical services is
recognized as the services are performed.

We grant time-based technology licenses to our commercial customers. We recognize revenues from the
fees, net of any customer discounts, attributable to these time-based technology licenses as earned on a straight-
line basis over the term of the license. We grant royalty-free technology licenses to academic not-for-profit
customers in connection with the sale of our IVIS Imaging System. The IVIS Imaging System and related
perpetual technology licenses are sold as a combined unit and revenue is recognized upon installation and
customer acceptance of the combined unit.

Revenue allocated to the software and related customer support is accounted for separately. The software
components are recognized upon installation and acceptance of the system, as the functionality of the system is
contingent upon installation due to its complex nature of the system. Post-installation customer support is
deferred and amortized over a straight-line basis over the applicable customer support period.

Deferred revenue, primarily related to time-based technology licenses and software maintenance contracts,
is recorded when the payments from the customer are received prior to our conclusion of performance
obligations related to the payment and recognized upon completion of those performance criteria.

Revenue relating to research and development agreements is recognized as the contracted-for services are
performed. Under these agreements, we are required to perform research and development activities as specified
in each respective agreement. The payments received under these agreements are nonrefundable.

Because services are performed ratably over the period, contract revenue attributable to fixed price contracts
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract provided that the payments are nonrefundable
and are based on an agreed upon schedule. Certain agreements may define specific milestones and the payments
associated with each milestone. Such payments are recognized as revenue upon achievement of the milestone
events, after which we have no future performance obligations to this payment. Any payments received in
advance of the completion of the milestone are recorded as deferred revenue.

Accounts receivable allowances. We have experienced few delinquency issues surrounding payment for
products and services as our sales to date have been largely to large pharmaceutical companies, academic and
research institutions. Consequently, we maintain limited allowances for doubtful accounts. We have not
experienced significant credit loss from our accounts receivable, licenses, grants and collaboration agreements,
and none are currently expected. We perform a regular review of our customer activity and associated credit risks
and do not require collateral from our customers. We are currently fully reserved for Value Added Tax (VAT) for
our sales in foreign countries where we are not VAT registered. We are undertaking the proper registration
process in order to recover amounts relating to previous sales but may not fully recover our reserve.

Excess and obsolete inventory. We have limited inventory reserves for estimated obsolescence or
unmarketable inventory as our product mix is relatively new and our historical inventory turnover has been
consistent with our assumptions about future demand and market conditions. We rely on several companies as
the sole source of various materials used in our manufacturing process. Any interruption in the supply of these
materials could result in the failure to meet customer demand.

Stock-based compensation. We currently use the intrinsic value method to measure compensation expense
for stock-based awards to our employees. Under these provisions, when the exercise price of our employee and
director stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation
expense is recognized. Stock-based compensation expense is included in the expense category in which the
affected employee, officer or consultant’s salary or other compensation is charged. The alternative fair value
accounting method, requiring the use of option valuation models, will become mandatory beginning in the third
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quarter of 2005/ The effect of the alternate fair value option valuation method on our net loss, if it had been used,
is dlsclosed in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. In calculating such fair value, there are certain
assumptlons that we uise consisting of dividend yield, stock pnce volatility, risk-free interest rate and weighted
average expected hfe of the option.

Restructuring charges. In September 2002, we implemented a restructuring plan to bring our expenses in
line with revised revenue and cash flow projections. The restructuring plan included the closure of our St. Louis
fac111ty, Wthh was consolidated with our animal production capabilities in Cranbury, New Jersey. We also
1mplemented areduction in force of personnel. Through the completion date of the restructuring plan in
December 2002, we recorded $3.4 million of restructuring charges. In February 2003, we implemented a further
reduction in woikforce at our Alameda and New Jersey sites and recorded severance costs of $0.7 million: There
were?no restructuring charges in 2004.

Purchased goodwzll Goodwill attributable to the acqursmon of the Chrysalis DNX Transgenic Sciences
Corporatlon or DNX, was recorded when the acqu1s1t10n occurred in 2000. Our growth expectations for DNX
based on our 1n1t1a1 assessment of the business prior to our integration and the signing of a long-term agreement
with Pfizer were such that no impairment of the goodwill had been indicated. In 2002, however, the goodwill
attnbutable to the DNX acquisition was deemed to be 1mpa1red as a result of an assessment of the business
following our integration process. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment of goodwill of approximately $30.9
million, as'cumulative effect of an accountmg change m our ¢onsolidated statement of operations for the year
ended December 31 2002 o !

‘2
v

Accounnng for income taxes. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for
1ncome taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and:any valuation allowance recorded against our net
deferred tax asséts. We recorded a full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets as of each of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, due to uncertainties related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets in the
foreseeable future, These deferred tax assets primarily consrst of certain net operating loss carTy forwards and
research and development tax credlts

Resul‘tsj‘bjf' Operations;2004 versus 2003

g Revéﬁue. }Reven’ue by source for 2004 and 2003 were as follows: - -

‘ 2004 2003
Revenue : . o
CPOAUCE e $16,411 $ 7,577
CONTACE . oo e PR e e 8,925 7,369
CLicense’ L. PP A A ' 5,547 5,117
Total reVenue . ... ...........c..oooueiii.n.. B ©$30,883  $20,063

Total revenue increased to $30.9 million in 2004 from $20.1 million in 2003, an increase of 54%. The
increase resulted primarily from increased IVIS Imaging System unit sales and the associated licensing fees. We
sold a total of 83 imaging systems in 2004 compared to 44 imaging systems in 2003. Product revenue, which
includes sales of imaging systems and related accessorr_es increased by $8.8 million in 2004 over 2003, and
licensing fees for our imaging systems, increased by $0.4 million from 2003. Lastly, contract revenue, which
includes revenue from our custom animal production services, increased by $1.6 million from 2003 primarily due
to custom model/gene targeting activity. One customer accounted for 10% or more of our revenue in 2004, while
two customers accounted for 10% or more of our revenue in 2003.

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue increased to $20.’5 million in 2004 from $12.7 million'in 2003. The
increase in cost of revenue primarily resulted from increased product unit sales and associated licensing fees. Our
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most recent IVIS Imaging System, the 200 Series, was released for sale in December 2003. Additionally, we
released numerous accessories that increased our product sales in 2004. The cost of contract revenue increased in
2004 as a result of increased contract research services. We expensed approximately $0.7 million and $0.4
million of deferred stock-based compensation in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Gross Margin. Gross margins by revenue source for 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

2004 2003
Gross Margin
Product . ... $ 5591 341% $3,192 421%
CONTACE © . . o ottt e e 164 1.8% (260) (3.5%)
LCemSE . ottt 4,638 &.6% 4,388 @%
Total oo $10,393 33_.7% $7,320 36_.5%

Gross margin in 2004 decreased from 2003, primarily as a result of the new IVIS 200 Imaging System
launch in 2003, which currently has a lower gross margin than our other IVIS Imaging Systems. With regard to
product gross margin, the newly developed, higher cost IVIS 200 Series made up a significantly larger share of
imaging systems sales in 2004 serving to increase overall unit production costs in 2004. In addition, while
imaging unit sales increased from 44 units to 83 units in 2004, 77% of such systems were sold to academic/non-
profit customers where average sales prices are lower than commercial sales, serving to suppress the overall
increase in average unit sales price. As such, the increase in average IVIS System unit sales price in 2004 did not
keep pace with the increase in unit production costs. Contract gross margin, on the other hand, was essentially
flat in 2004 given the continued underutilization of capacity. Lastly, licensing gross margins deteriorated slightly
as a result of fee caps with very large accounts and market forces as we penetrate smaller, more price sensitive
accounts where license fees are lower.

Research and development. Research and development expense includes the development of new IVIS
imaging systems, LPTA models and reagents. Research and development costs increased to $12.5 million in
2004 from $11.9 million in 2003 due to an overall increase in stock based compensation expense. We expensed
approximately $1.5 million and $0.9 million of deferred stock-based compensation associated with the issuance
of stock options in 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, there were costs associated with the development of
the IVIS 3-D Imaging System in 2004. The 3-D Imaging System is expected to be released for sale in 2005.

Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expense increased to $16.7 miilion
in 2004 from $10.9 million in 2003. Deferred compensation costs contributed to a large part of the increase,
where $2.4 million in stock based compensation was recognized in 2004 versus $0.5 million in 2003.
Additionally, administrative expenses associated with operating as a public company, beginning in 2004, also
contributed to the expense increase. Lastly, expanded marketing efforts associated with promotion of the new
TVIS 200 imaging system contributed to the balance of the increase. We expect to see an additional expense
increase in 2005 to reflect the litigation costs for the AntiCancer matters and costs for compliance with the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

Restructuring charge. Unlike 2003, there were no restructuring charges in 2004. The restructuring charge in
2003 was the result of further reduction in workforce, primarily with respect to our research activities. The

termination costs associated with the 2003 restructuring amounted to $0.7 million.

Amortization of intangibles. We amortized the acquisition-related intangibles of $0.6 million in both 2004
and 2003. There were no acquisitions or write-offs with regard to intangibles in either 2004 or 2003.

Interest expense. Interest expense was $0.7 million in 2004 and remained essentially unchanged from the
amount recognized in 2003. In 2003, we restructured our debt which resulted in an interest expense decrease for
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both 2003 and 2004 when compared to 2002. In 2004, the interest expense impact of the Silicon Valley Bank
borrowmg was offset by the continued benefits of the 2003 debt restructuring and by principal payments made on
other debt. | f:t‘?‘;

. Income :taj‘c‘;eXpe’ns_e (benefit). We recorded no'income tax expense,in 2004 or 2003 due to our losses in each
of these,yéars.; As of December 31, 2004, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of
approxrmately $102 3 million and $25.4 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, we had research and
development credit, carryforwards for federal purposes, of $5.8 million which expire in fiscal years ended
December.31, 2005 through December 31, 2024. We had research and development credit carryforwards for
Calrfomra purposes of $2.3 million which do not expire, The California Manufacturers’ Investment credit
carryforwards of $0.1 million will expire beginning December 31, 2007 through December 31, 2008. The annual
usage of our net operating loss and research and development credits are subject to Internal Revenue Code
Sectron 382 lrrmtatrons due to the ownership changes. Ownership changes had occurred limiting both the net
operatron loss and other tax attributes and a valuation allowance is recorded for the portion that will not be .
utrhzed o o : B ;

! Expensmg of Stock Awards

Compensauon expense 18 recorded on stock option grants based on the intrinsic value of the options granted,
whrch is'éstimated on the date of grant and it is recognized on a graduated, accelerated basis over the vesting
period, generally four years from the date of ‘grant. Deferred stock-based compensation expense recorded in 2004
and: 2003 was approx1mately $4.5 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The remaining deferred compensation
balance of approxunately $2.4 million will be amortized through 2008.-We expect to record amortization
expense based ofi the intrinsic value of the optrons granted for employee deferred stock-based compensation as
follows | :

C A r‘ Amount

" ';i’l)eferred\Compensatlon Amortization For the Year

$1.6 million
~ $0.6 million
$0.2 million ’

The above amortrzanon does not incorporate the estimated impact of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 (revrsed 2004), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R) which will be effective for the third
quarter of ﬁscal 2005 We are currently evaluatrng the 1mpact of the new standard including the method of’
1rnplernentanon We: expect that there will be ‘a‘material change to the ‘amount of amortization expense recorded

- for, deferred compensatron under SFAS 123R; the standard is discussed further below in the “Recently Issued
Accountmg Pronouncements section of our discussion and analysrs of financial condition and results of -

peratrons
R

Results of Operatlons—2003 versus 2002

‘ Revenue Revenue by source for 2003 and 2002 were as follows C "

Nl
£
i

i‘ , S 2003, 2002
Revenue : ‘ : r

Product ... . . B L S S $ 7.577 $ 5148
‘ Contract v : e 2 - . 7,369 6,541
\*\ chense : 5,117 4,325

‘ .Total revenue $20,063  $16;014
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Total revenue increased to $20.1 million in 2003 from $16.0 million in 2002. This increase resulted
primarily from sales of our IVIS Imaging Systems and the associated licensing fees. There was further
acceptance of our imaging technology and commercialization of our products with the release of our first
generation IVIS Imaging Systems, IVIS accessories, and the IVIS 200 Series release in late 2003. Our product
sales increased to 44 IVIS Imaging Systems in 2003 from 32 IVIS units in 2002, resulting in a product revenue
increase of $2.4 million from 2002. Licensing fees increased by $0.8 million in 2003 over 2002 which was in line
with the increase in product sales over the period. Lastly, contract revenue increased from 2002 to 2003 by $0.8
million primarily due to increases in custom model/gene targeting act1v1ty Two customers each accounted for
10% or more of our revenue in both 2003 and 2002.

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue increased to $12.7 million in 2003 from $12.4 million in 2002. The
increase in cost of revenue from 2002 primarily resulted from increased product sales and associated licensing
fees, offset by closure of our St. Louis facility in 2002. The expense related to our St. Louis facility amounted to
$2.1 million in 2002, These expenses did not continue past 2002 following the closure of the facility. The sales
volume increase of 12 IVIS Systems from 2002, offset most of the restructuring savings. The cost of contract
revenue decreased significantly from 2002 due in large part to the elimination of facility related costs associated
with the St. Louis operation closure under the 2002 restructuring. We expensed approximately $0.4 million of
deferred stock-based compensation associated with the issuance of stock options in both 2003 and 2002.

Gross Margz'n. Gross margins by revenue source for 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

2003 ) 2002
Gross Margin ,
e T $3,192 42.1% $2374 46.1%
CORITACE . v oo e e e et e e e e L. (260) (B5%) (2,604) (39.8%)
LICOMSE & ottt 4,388 _8£§% 3,867 894%
Total .. e $7,320 36.5% $3,637 227%

Gross margin improved overall in 2003 from 2002 mainly due to higher R&D collaboration and animal
production contract revenue volume and the effect of the restructuring, which included the closure of the St.
Louis facility. The restructuring allowed for better utilization of the Cranbury, New Jersey facility and allowed
for staff productivity gains. Product margin performance in 2003, however, offset some of the total margin
improvement in 2003. Despite the increase in IVIS Imaging System sales to 44 units in 2003 from 32 in 2002,
the mix of units sold included the more sophisticated, higher cost IVIS 200 model launched at the end of 2003.
Sales of the new IVIS 200 units were weighted more heavily toward academic/non-profit sector customers where
pricing was discounted relative to other sectors. Given the new launch and sales mix, the lower margins on the
IVIS 200 reduced overall product margin performance. Lastly, licensing margins offset some of the total gross
margin gains in 2003 as well. '

Research and development. Research and development expense includes the development of new IVIS
imagines systems, LPTA models and reagents. Research and Development costs decreased to $11.9 million in
2003 from $14.1 million in 2002 due to the restructuring in late 2002 and the ramp-down in development costs’
for the IVIS 200 system, which was released for sale in late 2003. We expensed approximately $0.9 million of
deferred stock-based compensation associated with the issuance of stock options in both 2003 and 2002.

Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expense decreased to $10.9 million
in 2003 from $12.6 million in 2002 due to the closure of our St. Louis facility and the reduction in company-wide
general and administrative headcount. The expense related to our St. Louis facility amounted to $0.6 million in
2002 and $0.1 million in 2003. We expensed approximately $0.5 million of deferred stock-based compensation
in both 2003 and 2002.
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" Restructurmg charge We recorded restructurmg charges of $0.7 million in 2003 and $3.4 million in 2002,
which mcluded a‘teduction in headcount in both years, closure of our St Louis facility and a write-off of
leasehold 'and technology in 2002.
i Amortwatzon of mtangzbles We amortlzed the acqursmon -related intangibles of $0.6 million and $0.9
millior i in,2003. and 2002, respectively. We ceased amortizing goodwill associated with the DNX acquisition in
2001, andlall rematnrng goodwill related to the acquisition was written-off in 2002. Amorttzatron expense for
2002 mcluded the write-off of licensed mtellectual property. of $O 1 milfion. i
LI W ot

Interest expense Interest expense decreased to $0.7 rrulhon in 2003 from $0.9 million in 2002 In 2003, we
restructured our debt whrch resulted in an interest expense decrease in ”003

Income tax expense ( benefit). We recorded no rncome tax expense in 2003 or 2002 due to our losses in each
of those years, As of December 31, 2003, we had federal and state net operating Icss carryforwards of
approxunately $90.6 million and $34.6 million; respectively. As of December 31, 2003, we had federal and state
tax credit carryforwards of approximately $5. 8 million and $2.3 milljon, respectively, available to offset any
future taxable income we may generate. Federal tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2023 unless
previously' utilized: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, places certain limitations on the annual
amount of net operatrng loss and tax credit carryforwards that can be utilized in any particular year if certain
changes i in our ownersh1p occur. This annual limitation ‘may result in the expiration of net operating loss and tax
credit canryforwards before utilization. :

Expensmg of Stock Awards

Compensatron expense is recorded on stock option grants based on the intrinsic value of the options granted,
Wthh 1s estimated on the date of grant and it is recogmzed on a graduated, “accelerated basis over the vesting
period) generally four years from the date of grant. Deferred stock-based compenscltlon expense recorded in 2003
and 2002 was approxtmately $1.8 million in both years.. ‘

On December 1, 2003, we issued options coverrng 281,332 shares of our common stock pursuant to an
optton exchange program initiated in May 2003. Pursuarit to the terms of the option exchange program, eligible
optronees were offered the opportunity to exchange outstandmg options’ to purchase common stock with an
exercise’ prrce of $0 70 or more for options to purchase common stock. The new optrons would be issued at least
six months and one day following the cancellation date’ of the exchanged options with an exercise price equal to
the fair market value of such common stock on the date of grant, subject to the optionee continuing to provide
services through the grant date of the new options. The vestlng provisions of the original options would carry
over/to'the newly issued options. We have evaluated thrs tr ansaction in the context of guidance and have
concluded that the reissued options require variable accountmg treatment because they were granted with an *
exercise prrce less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the date of the grant. The effect
of tlus accountmg on the 2003 finan¢ial statement compensatron expense was $1.6 million.

Liquidity?'and ‘Capital Resources ,

As of December 31,.2004, we had cash, cash equlvalents and investment balances of $21.9 million. Since
our mceptron we have incurred significant losses, and as of December 31, 2004 we had an accumulated deficit of
$167.7 million, We- have not achieved profitability and anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the
foreseeable future:;We, expect that our research and development and selling, general and administrative’
expenses wrll 1ncrease, and as a result, we wrll need to generate significant revenue to achieve profitability.

: Untll: our 1n1t1al pubhc offering, our operatrons werefunded through th‘e proceeds from the sale of preferred
stock, revenue generation, and to a lesser extent, through equipment lease lines and bank lines of credit. As of
December 31, 2004, 'we had outstanding balances under loan and lease agreements of $7.4 million, $5.0 million
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pursuant to a bank loan and $2.4 million for equipment financing. In 2004, we repaid all principal and interest on
a $1.0 million bank loan. In March 2004, we entered into an amendment to a 2003 loan and security agreement
with our primary lender, increasing our borrowing capacity from $3.0 million to $7.0 million, of which $1.2
million was available as of December 31, 2004. This credit facility is secured by all our assets, excluding our
intellectual property and encumbered property, and matures in September 2005. We are currently in discussions
to extend or replace this facility.

Operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities was $18.9 million in 2004, $13.6 million in 2003
and $21.1 million in 2002. The primary use of cash was to fund our net loss, adjusted for non cash expenses and
changes in operating assets and liabilities. During 2004, net cash used in operating activities resulted primarily
from our net loss adjusted for non cash expenses of depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation and
decrease in deferred revenues. Deferred revenue results primarily from invoicing customers for contracts and
licenses for which revenue will be recognized over future periods. During 2003, net cash used in operating
activities resulted primarily from our net loss adjusted for non cash expenses of depreciation, amortization, stock-
based compensation, and increase in accounts receivable, inventory and deferred revenues. The increase in
accounts receivable was due to an increase in sales volume resulting from customer contracts executed during the
year. Specifically, our accounts receivable increased by 42% from 2003 to 2004 and by 119% from 2002 to 2003.
The increases as stated above were due to sizable changes in revenue and deferred revenue over these periods.
Revenue increased by 54% while deferred revenue decreased by 13% from 2003. In 2003, revenue and deferred
revenue increased by 25% and 95%, respectively, over 2002. Lastly, the increase in inventory of 98% from 2003
to 2004 and 109% from 2002 to 2003 was to fulfill anticipated future demand, which had a relatively smaller
impact on accounts payable due to pre-payment and accelerated payment terms for certain components.

Investing activities. In 2004, the net cash used in investing activities was $0.2 million. In 2003, on the other
hand, net cash provided by investing activities of $0.4 million resulted from both sales of property and equipment
and reduction in overall capital purchase requirements given the 2002 restructuring. In 2002, net cash used in
investing activities amounted to $1.8 million associated with the closure of the St. Louis facility and the
consolidation of animal production in Cranbury, New Jersey.

Financing activities. Tn 2004, net cash provided by financing activities amounted to $26.0 million resulting
mainly from the public offering of 4.2 million shares of common stock. In 2003, net cash provided by financing
activities increased to $20.5 million from $0.4 million in 2002 due to proceeds from the issuance of Series AA
preferred stock in 2003.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, cash expected to be
generated from operations and our ability to extend our secured revolving line of credit will be sufficient to meet
our currently planned operating requirements for at least the next 18 menths. However, we may choose to modify
our planned operations, due to market conditions, competitive or other factors which could substantially increase
our expenses or impact our revenues, in which case our liquidity would be negatively impacted. Our liquidity
would also be negatively impacted by a decrease in demand for our products and services. We expect to extend
or refinance our $7.0 million credit facility and spend approximately $2.0 million for facility expansion and
laboratory equipment over the next 12 months.

If existing cash, short-term securities and cash generated from operations are insufficient to satisfy our
liquidity requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain an additional credit
facility. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in dilution to our stockholders. If
additional funds are raised through the issuance of debt securities, these securities could have rights senior to
those associated with our common stock and could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. Any
additional financing may not be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, or at all. If we are unable to
obtain this additional financing, we may be required to reduce the scope of our planned product development and
marketing efforts.
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RlSk Factors that May Affect Results

In‘addition to the forward-looking statements dtscussed in this report, we also provide the following
cauttonary dlscussxon of risks, uncertainties and possibly inaccurate assumptions relevant to our business. These
items are factors that we believe could cause our actual results to differ materially from expected and historical
results Other factors also could adversely affect us.

We have a hlstory of losses and an accumulated deficit of $167. 7 mllllOl‘l as of December 31, 2004, and

we may néver achieve prof tability. ‘ ‘
i . ‘ N B N

i

We haye incurred significant net losses every year since our inception. As of December 31, 2004, we had an
accumulated deficit of $167.7 million. To achieve profitability, we will need to generate and sustain substantially
higher re\?enue than we have to date, while achieving reasonable costs and expense levels. We may not be able to
generate enough revenue to achieve profitability. Even if we become profitable, we may not be able to sustain or
increase proﬁtab1hty on a quarterly or annual basis. If we fail to achieve profitability within the timeframe
expected bysecunnes analysts or investors, the market price of our common stock will likely decline.

If our products and services do not become widely used by pharmaceutical, biotechnology, biomedical
and chemical researchers, it is unlikely that we will ever become profitable.-

: Pharrne;ceutical, biotechnology, biomedical and chemical researchers have historically conducted in vivo
biological assessment using a variety of technologies, including a variety of animal models. Compared to these
technologies, our technology is relatively new, and the number of companies and institutions using our
technology is relatively limited. The commercial success of our products will depend upon the widespread
adoption of our technology as a preferred method to perform-in vivo biological assessment. In order to be
successful; our products must meet the technical and cost requirements for in vivo biological assessment within
the hfe sciences 1ndustry Widespread market acceptance will depend on many factors, including;

f ) ”the w11hngness and ability of customers to adopt new technologies;

. our ab1hty to convince prospective strategic partners and customers that our technology is an attractive
K altematwe to other methods of in vive biological assessment;

o }our customers ‘perception that our products can help accelerate efforts and reduce costs in drug
‘development and

o ‘our‘ ability to sell and service sufficient quantities of our products.

Because of thése and other factors, our products may not gain widespread market acceptance or become the
industry standard for in vivo analytical tools.

Asa compuny in the early stage of commercializatlon, our limited history of operations makes
evaluation of our business and future growth prospects difficult.

We have had a'limited operating history and are at an éarly stage of commercialization. We began selling
our IVlS Imaging Systems and entered into our first commercial license in 2000. Our in vivo biophotonic
imaging technology is.a relatlvely new technology that has not yet achieved widespread adoption. To date, we
have generated annual revenue as follows:

$30 9 Inll]lOI’l in 2004;
. $20 l nulhon in 2003; and
. $16 0 mllllon in 2002
We do not have enough experience in selhng our products at a level consistent with broad market acceptance

and do not know whether we can do so and generate a profit. As a result of these factors, it is difficult to evaluate
our prospects;iand our future success is more uncertain than if we had a longer or more proven history of operations.
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The termination or non-renewal of a large contract or the loss of, or a significant reduction in, sales to
any of our significant customers could harm our operating results.

We generally sell our products pursuant to agreements that are renewable on an annual basis. Failure to
renew or the cancellation of these agreements by any one of our significant customers, which include Pfizer Inc.,
the National Institute for Environmental Health Sciences and affiliates of Novartis, could result in a significant
loss of revenue. We currently derive, and we expect to continue to derive, a large percentage of our total revenue
from a relatively small number of customers. If any of these customers terminates or substantially diminishes its
relationship with us, our revenue could decline significantly. Revenue concentration among our largest customers
is as follows:

* our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 41.4% and 52.7% of our revenue for 2004 and
2003, respectively; and

*  our largést and second largest customers in 2004 accounted for approximately 16% and 6.6%,
respectively, of our revenue for 2004, and approximately 20.7% and 10.7%, respectively, of our revenue
for 2003.

The loss of significant revenue from any of our significant customers could negatively impact our results of
operations or limit our ability to execute our strategy.

We depend on a limited number.of suppliers, and we will be unable to manufacture or deliver our
products if shipments from these suppliers are interrupted or are not supplied on a timely basis.

We use original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, for various parts of our IVIS Imaging Systems,
including the cameras, boxes, certain subassemblies, filters and lenses. We obtain these key components from a
small number of sources. For example, the lens for our IVIS 200 system is obtained from a single source on a
purchase order basis from Coastal Optical Systems Inc., and the CCD cameras for all of our IVIS Imaging
Systems are obtained from two sources, Spectral Instruments, Inc. and Andor Technology Limited. From time to
time, we have experienced delays in obtaining components from certain of our suppliers, which have had an
impact on our production schedule for imaging systems. We believe that alternative sources for these
components in the event of a disruption or discontinuation in supply would not be available on a timely basis,
which would disrupt our operations and impair our ability to manufacture and sell our products.

Our dependence upon outside suppliers and OEMs exposes us to risks, including:
» the possibility that one or more of our suppiiers could terminate their services at any time;

+ the potential inability of our suppliers to obtain required components or products;

« reduced control over pricing, quality and timely delivery, due to the difficulties in switching to
alternative suppliers;

* the potential delays and expense of seeking alternative sources of suppliers; and

* increases in prices of raw materials, products and key components.

The use of in vivo biophetonic imaging data is not widespread among drug development companies
for use in FDA submissions and may never be fully realized.

To our knowledge, only one of our drug development customers has used our imaging technology to submit
an investigational new drug application, or IND, to the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and no drugs
have been approved to date using our imaging technology. As a result, our ability to assist the drug development
process in leading to the approval of drugs with commercial potential has yet to be fully proven. If commercial
advantages are not realized from the use of in vive biophotonic imaging, our existing customers could stop using
our products, and we could have difficulty attracting new customers.
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Our contractual payment obligations that were flxed and determinable as of December 31, 2004 were as
follows o ,

Payments pue by Period | ] 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
i ‘ . ‘ (in thousands)
Revenue o L
Operatmg Leases (1) ...... DR L. $3734 $2422 $1,996 $1,983 $1,693
" Loans Payable (2) .. . . .. e 6,781 1005 102 = — —
Other Contractual Obligations (3) ............ e 1,110 — — — —

CTotal o 811,625 $3.427 $2,098 $1,983  $1,693

(0 Ourloperatmg leases represent rental commitments under real property leases. These amounts will change in
‘ future penods as a.result of amendments and addmons to commitments entered into in March 2005.

2) . Our‘loans‘ are for frnancmg of capital and lease hold purchases.

(3)M Qur‘othereont‘ractual obligations represent purchase commitments from our key supplier.

Recently Issued Accountmg Pronouncements

‘In December 2002 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensatlon -Transition and Disclosure” Wthh amends FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock- Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the
d1sc]osure requrrements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial
statements of the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used
on: reported results. We adopted the disclosure provisions'of SFAS No. 148 at the beginning of fiscal 2002. In
December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123(R)!"Share-Based Payment” This statement requires that stock-
based compensauon be recognized as a cost in the financial statements and that such cost be measured based on the
fair value of the stock-based compensation. Our adoption of this statement, which we expect to occur in the third
quarter of 2005 Wlll thave a material, although non-cash, impact on our financial condition or resuits of operations.
"Wejare Currently evaluating the impact of the new standard, including the method of implementation and
anticipate selectrnc the modified prospective transition method as allowed under SFAS 123R for compliance
with the new standard Under this transition method for vested awards that are ouistanding as of the effective
date.of July 1, 2005, no change from previously recognized compensation expense would be recorded. For
unvested‘awards :as of July 1, 2005, on the other hand, deferred compensation associated with the unvested
options 'f{vould be recomputed as if the new fair value based method had been in place from the date options had
been granted. A cumulative effective change would be recorded in the third quarter of 2005 for any difference
between the deferred compensation previously recognized under the old intrinsic value method and the new fair
value method for unvested options as of July 1, 2005. For the remaining vesting period, deferred compensation
expense would bé recognized in accordance to the new standard without any changes in measurement. Lastly, for
all new awards that are granted or modified on or after July 1, 2005, the new fair value based method would be
utilized for expense recognrtron and settlement provrslons
In March 2004 the EITF reached a ﬁnal consensus on Issue 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Imparrment and its Applrcatron to Certain Investments,” fo provide additional guidance in determining whether
1nvestment securities have an impairment which should be considered other-than-temporary. On September 15,
2004 the FASB issued proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-1-a, to address the application of the EITF Issue 03-1 to debt
securities that are affected by interest rate and/or sector-spread changes only. On September 30, 2004, the FASB
issued FSP EITF Issue 03-1-1, which delayed the effectlve date of certain paragraphs of the EITF until EITF 03-1-a
is issued. We expect that the adoption of this Issue and the related FSP’s will not have a significant effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.
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In May of 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for
Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS No. 150 requires issuers to
classify as liabilities (or assets in some circumstances) certain financial instruments that embody obligations.
Financial instruments within the scope of SFAS No. 150 shall be initially measured at fair value and subsequently
revalued with changes in value being reflected in interest cost. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments
entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003. Restatement is not permitted. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April of 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities
under FASB Statement No. 133 (SFAS 133), Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.
This statement amends SFAS No. 133 for decisions made as part of the Derivative Implementation Group
process that effectively required amendments to SFAS No. 133, in connection with other FASB projects dealing
with financial instruments and in connection with implementation issues that have been raised in relation to the
application of the definition of a derivative. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after
June 30, 2003. Also, the provisions of SFAS No. 149 that relate to SFAS No. 133 implementation issues that
have been effective for fiscal years that began prior to June 15, 2003, should continue to be applied in accordance
with respective effective dates. In addition, provisions of this statement related to forward purchases or sales of
when-issued securities or other securities that do not yet exist, should be applied to both existing and new
contracts entered into after June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a significant impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

In December of 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 (FIN No. 46R). FIN No. 46R expands
upon and strengthens existing accounting guidance that addresses when a company should include in its financial
statements the assets, liabilities and activities of another entity. A variable interest entity is any legal structure
used for business purposes that either does not have equity investors with voting rights or has equity investors
that do not provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities. A variable interest entity
often holds financial assets, including loans and receivables, real estate or other property. A variable interest
entity may be essentially passive or it may engage in research and development or other activities on behalf of
another company. Previously, one company generally has included another entity in its consolidated financial
statements only if it controlled the entity through voting interests. FIN No. 46R changes that by requiring a
variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss
from the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or
both. As of December 17, 2003, the effective date of FIN No. 46R has been deferred until the end of the first
interim or annual reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. We do not have any variable interest entities and
the adoption had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2004, FASB issued FSP FAS No. 129-1, “Disclosure of Information about Capital Structure,
Relating to Contingently Convertible Securities” to provide disclosure guidance for contingently convertible
securities. We adopted the disclosure provisions in the second quarter of 2004 as they applied to the convertible
notes issued in March 2003. The adoption of FSP FAS No. 129-1 did not have a material impact on our financial
condition or results of operations.

In a recent EITF meeting, EITF Issue No. 04-08, “Accounting Issues Related to Certain Features of
Contingently Convertible Debt and the Effect on Diluted Earnings per Share,” was discussed. The tentative
conclusion was that shares available under contingently convertible debt should be included in diluted earnings
per share or EPS, in all periods, except when inclusion is anti-dilutive, regardless of whether the contingency is
met and regardless of whether the market price contingency is substantial. Management expects that the adoption
of this Issue will not have an effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
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If we fall to’ properly manage our growth, our busmess could be adversely affected.

We have substanually increased the scale of our operauons and expect to continue doing so for the
foreseeable future as compared with prior years when we pursued a fiscally conservative growth plan and
dehberately lrmrted the growth of our management and operations during the national economic downturn. If we
are unable' to manage our growth effectively, our losses could increase. The management of our growth will
depend among other things, upon our ability to improve our operational, financial and management controls,
reportmg $ystems and procedures. In addition, we will have to invest in additional customer support resources.
We are also increasing our manufacturing capacity for our 1mag1ng systems to meet continued and growing
demand for these products To provide this additional capacrty and services, we will need to expand our facility
space dedlcated to. instrument manufacturing; hire and train additional personnel for manufacturing, installation
and field support and expand our inventory of 1nstrumentat10u parts and componeats, which will result in
addmonal burdens on our systems and resources and requrre additional capltal expenditures. .

We may not fully realize our revenue under long-term contracts, which could harm our business and
resu]t in hlgher losses than anticipated.

" We have long -term contracts for custom animal production and/or phenotyping services with two customers
that are renewed annually and are expected to generate future revenues. There can be no assurance that either of
the two long -term contracts will be renewed annually and not terminated at any time during their terms or that we
will be able to. mamtam our sublicensed rights under certam patents relatmg to these contracts.

Contammatron in our animal populations could damage our inventory, harm our reputation and
result in, decreased sales. i

We. offer a, portfolio of transgenic animals and LPTA animal models for use by résearchers in a wide range
of research and drug discovery programs and also perform breeding and model validation. We maintain animal
facilities in Alameda, California and Cranbury, New Jersey. These animals and facilities must be free of
co_ntammants 'viruses or bacteria, or pathogens that would compromise the quality of research results.
Contamiuatiod of our isolated breeding rooms could distupt our models, delay delivery to customers of data
generated from phenotyping and result in decreased sales. Contamination would result in inventory loss, clean up
and start- up costs and reduced sales as a result of lost customer orders. -

N . \, o !

For exam‘ple, in 2003 one of our animal facilities in Alameda was contaminated by a mouse virus introduced
throuigh one of our animal vendors. We closed that facility for decontamination, and transferred our most
valuable strams to third party breeders for redérivation so that we could continue to provide animals to our
custorners: The'decontamination process took approximately three months. We have moved all of these
operations to a new barrier facility to reduce the contamination risk. Additionally, there is a known list of mouse
pathogens that 4nimal facilities such as ours routinely test for in their 4nimal populations. This event did not
represeht a lossof re‘venue, but did affect our operational costs by increas‘ing our animal support costs.

i tOur future revenue is unpredictable and could cause our operating results to fluctuate srgmﬁcantly
from quarter to quarter.

Our qua.rterly and annual operating results have fliictuated in-the past and are likely to do so in the future. In
pamcular our operating results in the first and third quarters have historically been lower than those in the
second and fourth quarters due to the decision-making process of our customer base. The sale of many of our
products 1nc1ud1ng our IVIS Imaging Systems and related Bioware;, typically involve a significant scientific
evaluauon and commitment of capital by customers. Accordingly,.the initial sales cycles of many of our products
are lengthy and subject to a number of significant risks that are beyond our control, including customers’
budgetary constraints and internal acceptance reviews.iAs a result of this lengthy and unpredictable sales cycle,
olit operating results have historically fluctuated significantly from quarter to quarter, and we expect this trend to

o
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continue. In addition, a large portion of our expenses, including expenses for our Alameda, California and
Cranbury, New Jersey facilities, equipment and personnel, are relatively fixed. Accordingly, if our revenue
declines or does not increase as we anticipate, we might not be able to correspondingly reduce our operating
expenses in a timely enough manner to avoid incurring additional losses. Our failure to achieve our anticipated
level of revenue could significantly harm our operating results for a particular fiscal period.

The following are among additional factors that could cause our operating results to fluctuate significantly
from period to period: -

» changes in the demand for, and pricing of, our products and services;

« the length of our sales cycles and buying pattems of our customers, which may cause a decrease in our
operating results for the third quarter;

*  the nature, pricing and timing of other products and services provided by us or our competitors;

¢ changes in our long term custom animal production contracts and other renewable contracts, including
licenses;

* our ability to obtain key components for our imaging systems and manufacture and install them on a
timely basis to meet demand,;

* changes in the research and development budgets of our customers;
* acquisition, licensing and other costs related to the expansion of our operations;

» the timing of milestones, licensing and other payments under the terms of our license agreements,
commercial agreements and agreements pursuant to which others license technology to us; and

» expenses related to, and the results of, patent filings and other proceedings relating to intellectual
property rights.

Due to the possibility of fluctuations in our revenue and expenses, we believe that quarter to quarter or
annual comparisons of our operating results are not a good indication of our future performance.

We are subject to the capital spending patterns of the biomedical and biopharmaceutical industry,
which over the past years have been adversely impacted by general economic conditions, industry
consolidation and increased competition.

During the past several years, many of our customers and potential customers, particularly in the
biopharmaceutical industry, have reduced their capital spending budgets because of generally adverse prevailing
economic conditions, consolidation in the industry and increased pressure on the profitability of such companies,
due in part to competition from generic drugs. If our customers and potential customers do not increase their
capital spending budgets, because of continuing adverse economic conditions or further consolidation in the
industry, we could face weak demand for our products. If the demand for our products is weak because of
constrained capital spending by our customers, we may not achieve our targets for revenue and cash flow from
operations.

We have a limited sales and marketing organization, and although we intend to increase our sales and
marketing organization, we may be unable to build an organization to meet demand for our products and
services.

We currently have a limited number of people in our sales force engaged in the direct sale of our products,
many of whom were added in 2004. Because our products are technical in nature, we believe that our sales and
marketing staff must have scientific or technical expertise and experience and require they be trained in the
instrumentation and reagents that they sell. Although we expanded our sales and marketing organization in 2004,
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the number of employees with these skills is relatively small. Competition is intense and we may not be able to
continugito attract'and retain sufficient qualified people or grow and maintain an efficient and effective sales and
marketing department‘ » ,

We depend on key employees in a competitive market for skilled personnel and without additional
employees, we cannot grow or achieve profitability.:'

We ‘are highly dependent on the principal members of our management team, including David W. Carter,
chairman of our board and chief executive officer, and Pamela R. Contag, Ph.D., our president. With the
exception of Mr. Carter and Dr. Contag, none of the principal.:members of our management team and scientific
staff have, entered into employment agreements with us, nor, with the exception of Mr, Carter and Dr. Contag, do
we have any key person life insurance on such individuals. Additionally, as a practical matter, any employment
agreement we may enter into will not ensure the retentlon of the employee who is a party to the agreement.

Our future success also will depend in part on the icontinued service of our key scientific, consulting and
management personnel and our ability to identify hire and retain additional personnel. We experience intense
competition for quahﬂed personnel.' We may be unable to attract and retain perscnnel necessary for the
development of our business. Moreover, a significant portion of our work force is located in the San Francisco
Bay Area,of California, where demand for personnel with the scientific and technical skills we seek is extremely
high.and'is likely to remain high.

‘ I

- Decreased effectiveness of equity compensation could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain
employees, andz proposed changes in accounting for eqiuity compensation could adversely affect earnings.

i ‘We have hlstorrcally used stock options and other‘forms of equity-related compensation as key components
of our total employee compensation program in order to ‘align employees’ interests with the interests of our
stockholders, encourage employee retention, and provide competitive compensation packages. The Financial
Accotmting Standards Board and other agencies have finalized changes to U.S. generally accepted accounting
prin¢iples that wrll require us and other companies to record a charge to earnings for employee stock option
grants and other equity incentives. Moreover, applicable stock exchange listing standards relating to obtaining
stockholder approval of equity compensatlon plans could make it more difficult or expensive for us to grant
optrons to employees in the future. As a result, we may incur incteased compensation costs, change our equity
compensatron strategy or find it difficult to attract retam and motivate employees any of which could materially
adversely affect our busmess : :

'Failure to Taise additional capital or generate the significant capital neressary to expand our

operatlons and‘ develop new products could reduce our ability to compete. '

We antrclpate that planned resources will be sufficient to fund our currently planned commitments.
However, our expectatrons are based on our current operatrng plan, whrch may change as a'result of many factors
1nclud1ng : -

* our success m rampmg up our sales and marketmg orgamzatron
(e the termmatlon or non-renewal of materral contracts or loss of significant customers
it ﬂ “ lll .
. our mab]hty to obtain products from our supphers to manufacture our products in sufﬁcrent quantities;

‘ :y- developments or disputes concerning patents, proprietary nghts or other commercial disputes; and

L changes in our growth rates.
e Ny

Consequently, we may need to raise addrtronal funds through pubhc or private financings. Our inability to
raise capital would harm our business and product development efforts. -
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In addition, we may choose to raise additional capital due to market conditions or strategic considerations
even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. To the extent that additional
capital is raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of these securities could
result in dilution to our then-existing stockholders.

Compliance with governmental regulations could increase our operating costs, which would adversely
affect the commerciaiization of our technology.

The Animal Welfare Act, or AWA, is the federal law that covers the treatment of certain animals used in
research. The AWA currently does not cover rats of the genus Rattus or mice of the genus Mus bred for use in
research, and consequently, we are not currently required to be in compliance with this law.

Currently, the AWA imposes a wide variety of specific regulations that govern the humane handling, care,
treatment and transportation of certain animals by producers and users of research animals, most notably
personnel, facilities, sanitation, cage size, feeding, watering and shipping conditions. If in the future the AWA is
amended to include mice or rats bred for use in research in the scope of regulated animals, we will become
subject to registration, inspections and reporting requirements. We believe compliance with such regulations
would require us to modify our current practices and procedures, which could require significant financial and
management resources.

Furthermore, some states have their own regulations, including general anti-cruelty legislation, which
establish certain standards in handling animals. To the extent that we provide products and services overseas, we
also have to comply with foreign laws, such as the European Convention for the Protection of Animals During
International Transport and other anti-cruelty laws. In addition, customers of our mice in certain countries may
need to comply with requirements of the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals Used for
Experimental and Other Scientific Purposes. Additional or more stringent regulations in this area could impact
our sales of laboratory animals into signatory countries.

Since we develop animals containing changes in their genetic make-up, we may become subject to a variety of
laws, guidelines, regulations and treaties specifically directed at genetically modified organisms. The area of
environmental releases of genetically modified organisms is rapidly evolving and is currently subject to intense
regulatory scrutiny, particularly overseas. If we become subject to these laws, we could incur substantial
compliance costs. For example, the Biosafety Protocol, an international treaty adopted in 2000 to which the U.S. is
not a party, regulates the transit of living modified organisms, a category that includes our transgenic mice, into
countries party to the treaty. As our mice are not intended for release into the environment or for use for food, feed
or processing, the treaty imposes only identification, handling, packaging and transport requirements for shipments
into signatory countries. However, additional requirements may be imposed on such shipments in the future.

Additionally, exports of our IVIS Imaging Systems and biological reagents to foreign customers and
distributors are governed by the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, the Export Administration
Regulations, Patriot Act and Bioterrorism Safety Act. Although these laws and regulations do not restrict our
present foreign sales programs, there can be no assurance that future changes to these regulatory regimes will not
affect or limit our foreign sales.

We use hazardous materials in our business. Any claims relating to improper handling, storage or
disposal of these materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our research and development processes, our anesthesia systems used with our IVIS Imaging Systems to
anesthetize the animals being imaged and our general biology operations involve the controlled storage, use and
disposal of hazardous materials including, but not limited to, biological hazardous materials and radioactive
compounds. We are subject to federal, state and local regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage,
handling and disposal of these materials and waste products. Although we believe that our safety procedures for
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handlmg and’ dxsposmg of these hazardous materials comply ) w1th the standards prescribed by law and regulation,
the nsk‘of accidental contamination or injury from hazardous materials cannot be completely eliminated. In the
event of an accident, we could be held liable for any damages that result, and any liability could exceed the limits
or fall outside the coverage of our insurance. We currently maintain a limited pollution cleanup insurance policy
in the amount 'of $1: 0. million. We may not be able to maintain insurance on acceptable terms, or at all. We could
be requlred to incur 51gn1f1cant costs to comply with current or future environmental laws and regulations.

‘ Pubhc perceptwn of ethical and social issues may llmlt or discourage the use of mice for scientific
expenmentatlon, whlch could reduce our revenues-and adversely affect our business.

dEony

Governmental authorities could, for social or other purposes, limit the use of genetic modifications or
proh1b1t the practlce of our technology. Public attitudes may be influenced by claims that genetically engineered
products are unsafe for use in research or pose a danger to the environment. The subject of genetically modified
Organisms, hke genetically altered mice and rats, has received negative publicity and aroused significant public
debate! In addition, animal rights activists could protest or make threats against our facilities, which may result in
property damage. Ethical and other concerns about our methods, particularly our use of genetically altered mice
and rats, could adversely affect our market acceptance.

! ! ‘/'
s

we may “éngage in future acqulsltwns, whlch could adversely affect your investment in us as we may

never neahze any, beneﬁts from such acquisitions, which also could be expensive and time consuming.

g i We Currently have no commltments or agreements w1th respect to any material acquisitions. If we do
unde:take any, transactions of this sort, the process of integrating an acquired business, technology, service or
p‘roduc‘t‘may“fesu]t in operating difficulties and expenditures and may absorb significant management attention that
would: otherwise be available for ongoing development of our business. Moreover, we may never realize the
anticipated benefits of any acquisition. Future acquisitions could result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity
secumles the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities and amortization expenses related to other intangible
assets or the 1mpa1rment of goodwill, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

If a natural dlsaster strlkes our manufacturmg facility, we would be unable to manufacture our
products fora substantlal amount of time and we would experience lost revenue.

We have relied to date principally on our manufacturing facility in Alameda, California to produce the IVIS
Imagmo Systems, our Bioware cells and microorganisms and LPTA animal models. We have also established a
back—up facﬂlty for producing transgenic animals in.Cranbury, New Jersey and have produced some of our LPTA
animal models there. Both of these facilities and some pieces of manufacturing equipment would be difficult to
replace and could require substantial replacement lead-time. Our facilities may be affected by natural disasters
such as earthquakes and floods. Earthquakes are of particular significance to our Alameda facility, as it is located
in an'edrthquake-prone area. In the event our Alameda facility or equipment was affected by man-made or
natural disasters, we would be forced to shift production of the IVIS Imaging Systems and many of our Bioware
cells and microorganisms and LPTA animal models to our Cranbury facility. We believe that this production

shift would result in a disruption in our operations of approximately 90 to 180 days, which could harm our

business. Alth'ough we currently maintain global property insurance for damage to our property and the
disruption of our business from fire-and other casualties, such insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of our
‘potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

Becatise we receive revenue principally from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and chemical companies

- and biomedical research institutions, the capital spending policies of these entities may have a significant
effect on the demand for our products. o«

o

'We market our products to pharmaceutical, biotechnology and chemical companies and biomedical research

‘ institdtions; and the capital spending policies of these entities can have a significant effect on the demand for our
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products. These policies vary significantly between different customers and are based on a wide variety of
factors, including the resources available for purchasing research equipment, the spending priorities among
various types of research companies and the policies regarding capital expenditures. In particular, the volatility of
the public stock market for biotechnology companies has at certain times significantly impacted the ability of
these companies to raise capital, which has directly affected their capital spending budgets. In addition, continued
consolidation within the pharmaceutical industry will likely delay and may potentially reduce capital spending by
pharmaceutical companies involved in such consolidations. Similarly, changes in availability of grant moneys
may impact our sales to academic customers. Recent developments regarding safety issues for widely used drugs
including actual and/or threatened litigation, also may affect capital spending by pharmaceutical companies. Any,
decrease or delay in capital spending by life sciences or chemical companies or biomedical researchers could
cause our revenue to decline and harm our profitability. In addition, the pharmaceutical industry has undergone
significant consolidation over the past several years. If two or more of our present or future customers merge, we
may not receive the same fees under agreements with the combined entities that we received under agreements
with these customers prior to their merger. Moreover, if one of our customers merges with an entity that is not a
customer, the new combined entity may prematurely terminate our agreement. Any of these developments could
materially harm our business or financial condition.

We face competition from companies with established technologies for in vivo biological assessment,
which may prevent us from achieving significant market share for our products. -

We compete with a variety of established and accepted technologies for in vive biological assessment that‘
several competitors and customers may be using to analyze animal models. The most basic of these technologies
have remained relatively unchanged for the past 40 years, are well established and are routinely used by
researchers. We believe it may take several years for researchers to become fully educated about our in vivo
biophotonic imaging technology.

We believe that in the near term, the market for in vivo biological assessment will be subject to rapid change
and will be significantly affected by new technology introductions and other market activities of industry
participants. As other companies develop new technologies and products to conduct in vive biological
assessment, we may be required to compete with many larger companies that enjoy several competitive
advantages, including: \

+ established distribution networks;
* established relationships with life science, pharmaceutical, biotechnology and chemical corﬂpanies as
well as with biomedical researchers; and

*  greater resources for technology and product development, sales and marketing and patent litigation.

Our principal competitors that use established technologies for in vivo biological assessment include
Exelixis, Inc. and Lexicon Genetics Incorporated. Each of these companies uses animal models in the area of
target validation in drug discovery and utilizes methods of assessment based upon knockout mice as well as other
organisms such as fruit flies, worms and yeast. We face competition from several companies that have recently
begun to market systems that may be used to perform biophotonic imaging with the appropriate licenses. At any
time, other companies may develop additional directly competitive products that could achieve greater market
acceptance or render our products obsolete.

Our intellectual property rights, including one patent that is due to expire in 2006, may not provide
meaningful commercial protection for our products, which could enable third parties to use our
technology, or very similar technology, and could reduce our ability to compete in the market.

We rely on patent, copyright, trade secret and trademark laws to limit the ability of others to compete with
us using the same or similar technology in the U.S. and other countries. However, as described below, these laws
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afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect-our rights to the extent necessary to sustain any
competmve advantage we may have. The laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the
same extent as the laws of the U.S., and many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting
their proprletary nghts abroad. These problems can be caused by the absence of adequate rules and methods for
defendmg and enforcmg intellectual property rights.

‘ ‘We _Will be ablexto protect our technology from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that they
are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. The patent positions
of cornpanies developing;tools for pharmaceutical, biotechnology, biomedical and chemical industries, including
our patent posmon generally are uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions, particularly as to
quesnons concemmg the enforceability of such patents against alleged infringement. The biotechnology patent
situation outside the U.S: is even more uncertain, particularly with respect to the patentability of transgenic
animals. Changes in’ elther the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and other countries may
therefore dmnmsh the value of our intellectual property. Moreover, our patents and patent applications may not
be sufﬁcrently broad to prevent others from practicing our technologies or from developing competing products.
We also. face the risk that others may- independently develop similar or alternative technologies or design around
our patented technologies.

We own, or control through licenses, a variety of issued patents and pending patent applications. However,
the patents'on which we rely may be challenged and invalidated, and our patent applications may not result in
issued patents Infact, one of our primary patents covering our method of in vivo biophotonic imaging was
recently. subject to a re-examination proceeding before the U:S. Patent-and Trademark Office that had been
requested by an. unidentified third party. The re- examlnatxon concluded in 2004, and the patent has been reissued
by the Patent and/Trademark Office, meaning that the claims to that method reissued under the same patent
number; Tne clalms had been amended so as to be shghtly narrower than the claims originally issued.

L ‘ ‘ ! . . t

\We have taken measures to protect our proprietary information, especially proprietary information that is
not covered: by patents or. patent applications. These measures, however, may not provide adequate protection of
our trade secrets or other proprietary information. We seek to protect our proprietary information by entering into
conﬁdentrahty agreements with employees, collaborators and consultants. Nevertheless, employees,
collaborators or consultants may still disclose our proprietary inforrhation, and we may not be able to protect our
trade secrets in:a meamngful way. If we lose employees, we may not be able to prevent the unauthorized
disclosure: ’or use of otr technical knowledge or other trade secrets by those former employees despite the
existence of nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements and other contractual restrictions to protect our
proprietary technology In addition, others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary
mforrnatmn or techmques or otherw15e gain access to our trade secrets.

U S Patent No:4,873,191, claiming the use of certain w1dely accepted microinjection techniques to create
transgenic.animals and licensed exclusively to our subsidiary, Xenogen Biosciences Corp., is due to expire in
October 2006. Upon its expiration, we will not be able to prevent others from practicing those methods for
commercial purposes and 'we may face competition from thrrd parties seeking to provide those'services on a
commercral bas1s ‘

Weimay ne'ed to initiate lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other proprietary rights, which
would be expensive and, if we lose, may cause us to lose some of our intellectual property rights, which
would reduce our ability to compete in the market and may cause our stock price to decline.

R : N

We rely on patents to protect a large part of our intellectual property and competitive position. Our patents,
which have'been ormay be issued, may not afford meaningful protection for our technologies and products. In
addition; our current and future patent applications may not result in the issuance of patents in the U.S. or foreign
countries. Our competltors may develop technologies and products similar to our technologies and products which
do not 1nfr1nge our patents In order to protect or enforce our patent nghts we may initiate patent litigation against
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third parties, such as infringement suits or interference proceedings. This risk is exacerbated by the fact that those
third parties may have access to substantially greater financial resources than we have to conduct such litigation.

These lawsuits could be expensive, take significant time and could divert management’s attention from
other business concerns. These lawsuits would put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly
and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Additionally, we may suffer reduced instrumentation sales and/
or license revenue as a result of pending lawsuits or following final resolution of lawsuits. Further, these lawsuits
may also provoke these third parties to assert claims against us. Attempts to enforce our patents may trigger third
party claims that our patents are invalid. The patent position of biotechnology firms is highly uncertain, involves
complex legal and factual questions, and continues to be the subject of much litigation. We cannot assure you
that we will prevail in any of these suits or that the damage or other remedies awarded to us, if any, will be
commercially valuable. During the course of these suits, there may be public announcements of results of
hearings, motions and other interim proceedings or developments in the litigation. If securities analysts or others
perceive any of these results to be negative, it could cause our stock price to decline.

Our success will depend partly on our ability to operate without infringing or misappropriating the
proprietary rights of others.

We may be exposed to future litigation by third parties based on claims that our products infringe the
intellectual property rights of others. This risk is exacerbated because there are numerous issued and pending
patents in the life sciences industry and, as described above, the validity and breadth of life sciences patents
involve complex legal and factual questions. Our competitors may assert that their U.S. or foreign patents may
cover our products and the methods we employ. For example, one of our principal competitors, Lexicon Genetics
Incorporated, had been involved in litigation regarding intellectual property claims relating to the creation of
transgenic animals. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently
pending applications, of which we are unaware, which may later result in issued patents that our products may
infringe. There could also be existing patents of which we are not aware that one or more of our products may
inadvertently infringe. In addition, AntiCancer, a party with whom we have been engaged in ongoing litigation,
recently filed a lawsuit against us alleging infringement of five patents. See ‘“‘Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings.”

From time to time, we have received, and may receive in the future, letters asking us to license certain
technologies the signing party believes we may be using or would like us to use. If we do not accept a license, we
may be subject to claims of infringement, or may receive letters alleging infringement. Infringement and other
intellectual property claims, with or without merit, can be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and can
divert management’s attention from our core business.

If we lose a patent infringement lawsuit, we could be prevented from selling our products unless we can
obtain a license to use technology or ideas covered by such patent or are able to redesign the products to avoid
infringement. A license may not be available at all or on terms acceptable to us, or we may not be able to
redesign our products to avoid any infringement. If we are not successful in obtaining a license or redesigning
our products, we may be unable to sell our products and our business could suffer.

Our rights to the use of technologies licensed to us by third parties are not within our control, and
without these technologies, our products and programs may not be successful and our business prospects
could be harmed.

We rely on licenses to use various technologies that are material to our business, including licenses to the
use of certain biologicals, and licenses to engineer and commercialize transgenic animals. We do not own the
patents that underlie these licenses. Our rights to use these technologies and employ the inventions claimed in the
licensed patents are subject to the negotiation of, continuation of and compliance with the terms of those licenses
and the continued validity of these patents. In some cases, we do not control the prosecution or filing of the
patents to which we hold licenses. Instead, we rely upon our licensors to prevent infringement of those patents.
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Under the: GenPhann International, Inc. sublicense for certain gene targeting patznts we use, GenPharm retains
the sole right to enforce those patent rights against infringers. Under the Promega Corporation and The Regents
of the Umvers1ty of California Licenses for a patented form of ﬁreﬂy luciferase used in our LPTA animal models
and certam of our Bioware, we do not have the right to enforce the patent, and neither licensor is obligated to do
so on our behalf. Some of the licenses under which we have rights, such as our licenses from Stanford University
and Ohio University, provide us with exclusive rights in specified fields, including the right to enforce the
patents licensed to us from these two universities, but we cannot assure you that the scope of our rights under
these and other licenses will not be subject to dispute by our licensors.or third parties. Certain of our other
licenses’ Contarnudue diligence obligations, as well as prov1srons that allow-the licensor to terminate the license
upon’ specrfrc condrtlons i :

~We occasionally may become subject to commercial disputes_that could harm our business.

: We“a“re currently the subject of, and may from time to time become engaged in, commercial disputes such as
claims by customers, suppliers or other third parties. These disputes could result in monetary damages or other
remedies that could adversely impact our financial position or operations. For example, on August 9, 2001,
AntiCancer, Inc: filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of California, County of San Diego, against us and other
third pames The complaint alleges five causes of action, including trade libel, defamation, intentional
interferénce Wl[h contract, intentional interference with prospective economic advantage and unfair competition.
These. claims are based on alleged false statements made by unidentified employees and/or third parties regarding
Anthancer S products AntiCancer seeks unspecified general -and exemplary moretary damages arising from the
alleged 1mpact of the alleged false statements, as well as its-costs and expenses incurred in connection with the
lawsuit., The Court recently denied our motion for summary _]udgment of the case, and trial is scheduled to begin
on September 19 2005. AntiCancer recently filed another lawsuit against;us for patent infringement. We believe
both complamts are without merit and are mountmg a v1gorous defense. See “Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings.”

I T :
However even 1f we prevail in these lawsults the defense of these or similar lawsuits will be expensive and
trme consummg .and,may distract our management from operating our business.

. We expect that our stock price will fluctuate significantly, and you may not be able to resell your
shares atior above your investment price.

The stock market has experienced extreme price and volume ﬂuctuatrons The market prices of the
securities of brotechnology companies, particularly companies like ours without consistent product revenues and
earnings, have béen highly volatile and may continue to be highly volatile in the future. This volatility has often
been, unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. Factors that could cause this volatility in
the market pnce of our common stock include:

I

. 3\1 announcements of technological 1nnovat10ns or new products by us or our competitors;

developments or -disputes concerning patents or propnetary nghts or of mfrmgement interference or
, other lmganon against us or our licensors;

the tmung and development of our products and services;
‘- changes in our revenue due to contracts which are not renewed;

. changes in° pharmaceutlcal and biotechnology companres research and development expenditures;

.. announcements concerning our Competitors, or the btotechnology or pharmaceutrcal industry in general;
!

AL new regulatory pronouncements and.changes in regulatory guidelines;

el general and industry- specrﬁc economrc condmons and issuance of new or changed research reports or
recommendatrons by industry or fmanmal analysts about us or our busmess

'» . actual or ant1c1pated fluctuations in our operating results;
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+ changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, or termination of research
coverage;

* changes in accounting principles; and

» the loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel.

These and other external factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate
substantially, which may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may
otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock. In the past, securities class action litigation has
often been brought against companies that experience volatility in the market price of their securities. Whether or
not meritorious, litigation brought against us could result in substantial costs, divert management’s attention and
resources and harm our financial condition and results of operations.

We have recently begun a more extensive assessment of the adequacy of our internal control system,
which will be costly and could result in the identification of deficiencies in our system of internal controls.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires management to include an annual report regarding
our evaluation of our internal controls in the company’s annual report for the year ending December 31, 2005. In
preparation for that management report, we will need to assess the adequacy of our internal control, remediate
any weaknesses that may be identified, validate that controls are functioning as documented and implement a
continuous reporting and improvement process for internal controls. We expect to utilize outside consultants to
assist with this project, which will increase our selling, general and administrative costs in 2005. We may also
discover deficiencies that require us to improve our procedures, processes and systems in order to ensure that our
internal controls are adequate and effective, and that we are in compliance with the requirements of Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If the deficiencies are not adequately addressed, or if we are unable to complete all of
our testing and any remediation in time for compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act and the SEC rules under it, we would be unable to conclude that our internal controls over financial
reporting are designed and operating effectively, which could adversely affect our investor confidence in our
internal controls over financial reporting.

If the ownership of our common stock continues to be highly concentrated, it may prevent you and
other stockholders from influencing significant corporate decisions and may result in conflicts of interest
that could cause our stock price to decline.

Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders beneficially own or control more than 50
percent of the outstanding shares of our common stock. This significant concentration of share ownership may
adversely affect the trading price for our common stock because investors may perceive disadvantages in owning
stock in companies with controlling stockholders. These stockholders, acting together, will have the ability to
exert substantial influence over all matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election and
removal of directors and any proposed merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. In
addition, they could dictate the management of our business and affairs. This concentration of ownership could
have the affect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control, or impeding a merger or consolidation,
takeover or other business combination that could be favorable to you.

Future sales of common stock by our existing stockholders may cause our stock price to fall.

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales by our existing stockholders of
shares of common stock in the market, or the perception that these sales could occur. These sales might also
make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities at a time and price that we deem appropriate. The lock up
agreements following our initial public offering expired in January 2005, and therefore most of our shares are
freely tradable without restriction or further regulation, other than shares purchased by our officers, directors or
other “affiliates” within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act.
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Terrorlst acts, acts of war and natural disasters may seriously harm our busmess and revenues, costs
and expenses and financral condition.

: :Terrer_ist acts, acts of war and natural disasters (wherever located around the world) may cause damage or
disrliption% to us, ‘our employees, facilities, partners, suppliers; distributors and customers, any and all of which
could ‘signiﬁcanrly impact our revenues, expenses and financial condition.. The terrorist attacks that took place in
the United States.on September 11, 2001 were unprecedented events that have created many economic and
political uncertainties. The potential for future terrorist attacks, the national and international responses to
terrorist attacks.and other acts of war or hostility have created many economic and political uncertainties that
could adversely affect our business and results of operations that cannot presently be predicted. The tsunami in
Asia on December 26, 2004 was unpredictable and caused dévastation of tremendous proportions and its effects
are still being realized. The unpredictability of such a disaster inevitably causes uncertainty that could adversely
affect our business and results of operations. We are largely uninsured for losses and interruptions caused by
terrerrst acps, acts of war and natural disasters.

.

Itern 7A. Quanﬁtative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact the financial position, results of operations or cash
flows due to adverse changes in financial and commodity market prices and rates. We are exposed to market risk
in the areas of changes in United States and foreign interest rates and changes in foreign currency exchange rates
as measured against the United States dollar. These exposures are directly related ro our normal operating and
funding activities. ; ‘

We have limited exposure to financial market risks, including changes in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates., Our exposure to interest rate risk at December 31, 2004 was related to our investment portfolio
and our borrowmgs Fixed rate investments and borrowings may have their fair market value adversely impacted
from changes in interest rates. Floating rate investments may produce less income than expected if interest rates
fall, and floating rate borrowrngs will lead to additional interest expense if interest rates increase. Due in part to
these factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in U.S. interest rates.

| . We invest onr excess cash in debt instruments of the U.S. government and its agencies and in high quality
corporate issuers: Due to the short-term nature of these investments, we concluded that there was no material
exposure to mterest rate risk arising from our investments as of December 31, 2004.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

- We incorporate the information required for this item by reference to the financial statements listed in
Item 15(a) of Part IV of this 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Ttem 9A. ‘Contr‘\ols and Procedures.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management, with the participation of our chief
executive officer and our chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as defined by Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form.10-K. Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that
information'we are required to disclose in reports that we-file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC’s rules and forms and that such
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information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There was no change in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

If, as of December 31, 2005, we meet the definition of “accelerated filer,” as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act, we will be required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to include an assessment of our internal
control over financial reporting and attestation from an independent registered public accounting firm in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2005. If, however we are not deemed an
“accelerated filer” at that time, we will not have to include such assessment and attestation until our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.
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PART II1
Item 10. ‘ lDireetors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.
ol o L Executive Ofﬁcers of the Registrant

Informatron regardmg our directors will be mcluded in our proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and is incorporated by reference herein.

3 ‘;O;nr“eXecutlye ofﬁcers and their ages as of March 4, 2005 are as follows:

Name

. “: - Age  Position

Davrd W Caner ..... e © 66  Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
P : ' Board
Pamela Re111y Comag, PhiD. .. ... ... ..o -’47 President and Director
W1111am A Albnght 5 - 47  Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President,
Finance and Operations

Dav1d R. Boyko e e 42 Vice President, Licensing and Legal Services
Anthony F. Purchio, Ph.D. ...... R 56- Chief Scientific Officer and Vice President
Bradley W Rice, PhD. ....................... 45" Chief Technology Officer and Vice President
Mlchael I Sterns D V M ..................... ‘ 46 Chief Business Officer and Vice President

Dawd Ww. Carter has served as our Chairman of the Board of Directors since November 1997 and as our
Chief Executlve Officer since April 2003. From J anuary'1998 to April 2003, he served as Co-Chief Executive
Officer and from May 1997 to November 1997, Mr. Carter'was our consultant. From 1991 to May 1997, he
served as: Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Somatix Therapy Corporation, a
publicly- held gene therapy company, which merged with Cell Genesys, Inc. in 1997. Mr. Carter is a director of
Cell Genesys, Inc. and Immunogen, Inc. Mr. Carter recelved aB.A.in Hlstory and an M.B.A. from Indiana
Umversrty

Pamela Reilly Contag, Ph.D. is one of our co-founders and has served as our President since August 1996
and as-a director since August 1995. From August 1995 to January 1998, she served as our Chief Executive
Officer, and from January 1998 to April 2003, she served as Co-Chief Executive Officer. Since January 1998,
Dr. Contag has served as a Consulting Professor at Stanford University. From September 1996 to January 1998,
Dr. Contag wasa research associate at Stanford University. Dr. Contag received a B.A. in Biology from the
College of St. Catherine and an M.S. and a Ph.D. in Microbiology from the University of Minnesota. Dr. Contag
was'a Postdoctoral Fe]low of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology at Stanford University.

Wzllzam A Albrzght Jr. has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Vice President since July 1, 2004 and
as our Ch1ef Fmancral Officer and Senior Vice President, Finance and Operations since February 2005. From
March 2003 to February 2004, Mr. Albright was Chief Executive Officer and a director of FlowMedica, Inc., a
medical dev1ce company From May 1999 to December 2002, Mr. Albright was President, Chief Executive
Officer and a director at Nexell Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly-held cell therapy company. From March 1996 to
September 1998 Mr. Albright was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at LocalMed, Inc., a
medical device company. Mr. Albright received a B.S. and an M:S. in Biological Sciences from Stanford
University andian M.B.A. from Harvard Business School:

David R. Bovko has served as our Vice President of Licensing & Legal Services since February 2002. From
June 1999 to February 2002, Mr. Boyko was a Senior Associate in the Technology Transactions Group at Wilson
Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C., and from September 1995 to June 1999, Mr. Boyko was an Associate with
Ftied, Frank, Harris, Shriver and Jacobson. Mr. Boyko also served eight years as an officer in the U.S. Air Force
where he was involved with strategic weapon system development. Mr. Boyko received a B.S. with distinction in
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Mechanical Engineering from Cornell University, an M.A. in International Relations from the University of
Southern California and his J.D. from the University of California, Los Angeles School of Law.

Anthony F. Purchio, Ph.D. has served as our Chief Scientific Officer since May 1999 and as a Vice
President since December 1999. From June 1998 to May 1999, Dr. Purchio was a consultant to Morthogen, Inc.
and Regenics. From November 1995 to June 1998, Dr. Purchio served as Vice President of Research and
Development at Hepatix, Inc., a biotechnology company engaged in developing bio-artificial liver tissues. Dr.
Purchio received a Ph.D. in Experimental Pathology from the University of Colorado Medical Center and
completed his postdoctoral training at the Molecular Biology Institute, University of California, Los Angeles.

Bradley W. Rice, Ph.D. has served as our Chief Technical Officer and Vice President since January 2004,
From 1999 to January 2004, he served as our Director of Physics R&D. Prior to joining Xenogen, Dr. Rice
worked for 15 years as a project engineer and staff scientist in the Magnetic Fusion Energy Program at Lawrence
Livermore National Laboratory. Dr. Rice received his B.A. in physics from Colorado College, M.S. in electrical
engineering from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, and his Ph.D. in Applied Science from the University of
California-Davis.

Michael J. Sterns, D.V.M. has served as our Chief Business Officer and Vice President since September
2003. From January 2003 to September 2003, he served as our Vice President, Corporate Development. From
December 2000 to December 2002, Dr. Sterns was Executive Vice President, Corporate Development at
BioSpace.com, Inc., a news and information website serving the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry.
From December 1998 to December 2000, Dr. Sterns was the Executive Director and Head of Business
Development at Telik, Inc., a publicly-held drug development company. Dr. Sterns received his B.S. in
Biological Sciences from the University of Southern California, his Doctorate in Veterinary Medicine from the
University of California, Davis, and his M.B.A. from the University of California, Berkeley.

Audit Committee

We have a separately designated standing audit committee established in accordance with Section 3(a) (58) (A)
of the Exchange Act. The members of the Audit Committee are Michael F. Bigham, Christine B. Cordaro, Gregory
T. Schiffman and Raymond J. Whitaker, Ph.D.

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

This information will be included in our proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and
is incorporated by reference herein.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board has determined that audit committee member Gregory T. Schiffman is an audit committee
financial expert as defined by Item 401(h) of Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is independent within the
meaning of Item 7(d)(3)(iv) Schedule 14A of the Exchange Act.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Corporate Conduct and Ethics that applies to our employees, officers and
directors. This Code is available for review on our website at www.xenogen.com. We will post any amendments
to or waivers from the Code of Corporate Conduct and Ethics on our website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

This information will be included in our proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and
is incorporated by reference herein.
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Item 2. Securlty 0wnersh1p of Certain Beneficial Gwners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

ThlS 1nformatron will be included in our proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meetmg of Stockholders and
is mcorporated by reference herein.

Item 13.: Certam Relatlonshlps and Related Transactlons

Ben]amm Caner and Daniel Carter, the Divisional Vice President, Business Development and Manager of
IT Systems and Operatlons respectively, of the Company, are both sons of our Chief Executive Officer and
Chairmanof the Board, David W. Carter and each receives an annual salary in excess of $60,000. Neither serves
as an executive officer of the Company. .

Tn connection with the sale of a corporate residence in 2003, Pamela R. Contag, Ph.D., our President and a
director, purchased from the Company certain personal property, including home furmshlngs for a total cost of
$80, SOOiwhich.the Board believes is equal to or higher th'an it would have received from a third party.

Chrlstopher H. Contag, Ph.D., a co-founder and chairman of our Scientific Advisory Board, is married to
Pamela R. Contag, Ph.D., our President. Dr. Christopher Contag receives a monthly consulting fee of $3,000 for
his sefvices as chairman of our Scientific Advisory Board. Dr. Pamela Contag and Dr. Christopher Contag are
two of the three ¢o-inventors on certain patents we have licensed from Stanford University. Pursuant to Stanford
University’s present policy on royalty sharing, the net royalties it receives are shares equally with the inventors,
the inventor’s department and the inventor’s school with each receiving one-third of the net royalties. Each of Dr.
Contag isvéntitl‘ed to receive more than $60,000 in roya]ties paid by Xenogen in 2004.

Dav1d W Carter, our Ch1ef Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, is a member of the board of
directors of’ Cell Genesys Inc. Cell Genesys, Inc. has purchased certain imaging products and services from us in
the past and may do so in the future. The Board believes that such products and services are provided at a similar
cost to those of other independent customers »

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

This informntion will be included in our proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and
is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Form 10-K.

(1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .......... ... .. ... .o i, F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets ... ... ..o e e e E-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations ..................... PN F-3
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders” Equity ......... F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash FIOWS .. ... ... e F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ............. ... .. iiiin.... N F-7

) Iridex to Financial Statements Schedules

IT - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserve
We have omitted all other schedules, as those schedules are not applicable, not required, or because the required
information is‘included in the consolidated financial statements or accompanying notes.
(3) Exhibits:
See Item 15(b) below.
(b) Exhibits.

Exhibit

Number Description
3.1(2) Amended and restated certificate of incorporation of the registrant
3.2(DH) Amended and restated bylaws of the registrant
4.1(1) Form of specimen common stock certificate

10.1(1) 1996 stock option plan
10.2(1) Form of 2004 equity incentive plan
10.3 Form of award agreement for 2004 equity incentive plan

10.4(1) Form of 2004 director stock plan

10.5 Form of restricted stock purchase agreement for 2004 director stock plan

10.6 Director compensation policy

10.7 Summary sheet for executive cash compensation

10.8(3) Form of indemnification agreement between the registrant and each of its officers and directors

10.9(3) Employment agreement between the registrant and David W. Carter, dated January 21, 1998

10.10(3) Employment agreement between the registrant and Pamela R. Contag, Ph.D., dated January 21,
1998

10.11(3) Real estate lease agreement by and between the registrant and Alameda Real Estate Investments
dated January 15, 1998 for 860 Atlantic Avenue, Alameda, California, together with Amendment
No. 1 dated June 9, 1998, Amendment No. 2 dated November 28, 2000 and Amendment No. 3
dated January 30, 2003
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Exhibit
Number ' Y

" Description

10112 1t

10.133)

10.15 .

10. 16(1)

1017(1),

10.18(1)
10.19(1)F

10.20{1)5’{31

ot

10.21(1)%

el

b

10.2’2(1)»#1‘* |

10231

10. 24(1)'{'

10. 25(1)1

1026(1)F

10.27(1)

1028(1)7

. "Amendment No. 4 dated March I, 2005to Real estate lease agreement by and between the

registrant and Alameda Real Estate Investments dated January 15, 1998 for 860 Atlantic

Avenue .Alameda, California _ ‘

Real estate lease agreement by and between the registrant and Alameda Real Estate Investments
_ dated June 6, 2000 for 2061 Challenger Drive, Alameda, Cahforma together with Amendment
No 1 dated Novembet 28, 2000

Amendment No 2. dated March 1, 2005 to Real estate lease agreement by and between the

‘ regrstrant and Alameda Real Estate Investments dated June 6, 2000 for 2061 Challenger Drive,

Alameda Cahforma

Real estate lease agreement by and between the reglstrant and Alameda Real Estate Investments
dated March 1, 2005, together with Addendum thereto

Real estate lease’ agreement by and between the registrant and Cedar Brook II Corporate Center,
L.P. dated August 1998 for 5 Cedar Brook Drive, Cranbury, New Jersey, together with
Amendment No. 1 dated August 5, 1999 :

Real estate lease agreement by and between the registrant and Duke-Weeks Realty Limited
Partnershrp, dated February 22, 2000 for 2033 Westport, Center Drive, Maryland Heights,
MISSOHI‘I

Forfn of common stock warrant

chense agreement between the reglstrant and the Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford
Jumor Umversrty, dated May S 2000

chense agreement between the registrant (Xenogen Biosciences, formerly Embryogen Inc.)
and Oh10 Umversrty, dated June 13, 1985 and amended July 1,1991 .

Subhcen_se agreement between the registrant (Xenogen Biosciences, formerly DNX, Inc.) and
GenPharm International, Inc., dated January 1, 1991 together with letter agreement amendment
dated August 21, 1991

3 CCD camera manufacture and supply agreement between the registrant and Spectral

Instruments, Inc., dated April 9, 2003

Commerc1al license agreement between the reg1strant and IRM, LLC (an affiliate of Novartis
AG) dated July 12, 2000 and amended July 12, 2003 by the registrant and Novartis Instrtutes
for BroMedrcal Research, Inc. (an affiliate of Novartis AG)

chense agreement between the registrant and Promega Corporation, dated March 20, 2003

Collaborative research agreement between the registrant (Xenogen Biosciences) and Pfizer,
Inc., dated September 30, 2001 and amended January 21, 2002, September 29,2003 and"
December 11, 2003

Collaborative research agreement between the registrant (Xenogen Biosciences) and Pfizer,
In¢::, dated December 28, 2000 and amended December 28, 2003

Form of restricted stock purchase agreement betWween the registrant and Pamela Reilly Contag,
Ph D and David W. Carter

Orrgmal equ1pment manufacturer agreement between the registrant and Andor Technology
lelted dated September 20, 2002
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.29(1)t Supply agreement between the registrant and Biosynth International, Inc., dated December 31,
2001 and amended May 17, 2004

10.30(1)+ Distributor Agreement between the registrant and SC BioSciences Corporation, dated January
27,2003

10.31(LF License Agreement between registrant and Taconic Farms, Inc., dated January 13, 2000 and
amended July 1, 2002

10.32(D)t Contract between the registrant (Xenogen Biosciences) and National Institute of Environmental
Health Sciences, dated September 19, 2003

10.33(4) Loan and Security Agreement between Silicon Valley Bank and the registration dated
September 10, 2003, as amended by Loan Modification Agreement dated September 30, 2004

10.34(2) Amendment No. 1 to contract between the registrant (Xenogen Biosciences and National

) Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, dated August 2, 2004.

211 List of subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of independent registered public accounting firm

24.1 Power of attorney (contained on signature page)

311 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sabanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

31.2 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sabanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 ‘

32 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(1) Incorporated by reference to exhibits to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-114152).

(2) Incorporated by reference to exhibit from the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2004. .

(3) Incorporated by reference to exhibits to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-114152), with the exception of the most recent amendment, dated March 1, 2003, which is filed
hereto.

(4) Incorporated by reference to exhibit from the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2004.

T Portions of this exhibit have been redacted and granted confidential treatment by the Commission.




SIGNATURES
‘ 'Pursuant toithe requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 14,
2005..
XENOGEN CORPORATION

SR LIS By: /s/  DaviD W. CARTER

David W, Carter
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appomts David W. Carter, Pamela Reilly Contag, Ph.D. and William A. Albright, Jr., and each of
them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and
all capacities, to sign any amendments to this report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and
other docurnentsin connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

Pursuant to rhe requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the followmg persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

‘;Slgnature : : me D_aig
‘ ‘{/s/i : DAViD W. CARTER Chairmén of the Board and Chief March 14, 2005

David W. Carter ‘ Executive Officer (Principal
X Executive Officer)

/sl " PAMELA REILLY‘CONTAG, Pu.D President and Director March 14, 2005
""Pamela Reilly Contag, Ph.D.

/s/ WI}_LIAM A. ALBRIGHT, JR. Senior Vice President, Finance and ‘March 14, 2005
| William A. Albright, Jr. Operations and Chief Financial
o ' Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

/s/  MICHAEL F. BIGHAM Director - March 9, 2005
', Michael F. Bigham

- /s/' ROBERT W. BRECKON Director . March 14, 2005
“ ' Robert W. Breckon

" /s/ CHRISTINE B. CORDARO Director March 14, 2005
- Chpistine B. Cordaro

/s/  .MICHAEL R. EISENSON Director March 14, 2005
Michael R. Eisenson
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Signature

/s/  WILLIAM A. HALTER

William A. Halter

/s/ CHRIS JONES

Chris Jones

/s/  GREGORY T. SHIFFMAN

Gregory T. Schiffman

/s/ RAYMOND WHITAKER, Pu.D.

Raymond Whitaker, Ph.D.

Director

Director

Director

Director
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March 14, 2005

March 14, 2005

March 9, 2005

March 14, 2005




I{lEPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC‘ ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Dlrectors and Stockholders of
Xenogen Corporatlon
gy

L We have andited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Xenogen Corporation and its subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, redeemable convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004. Our audits included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the respons1b1hty of the Company’s management. Our
responsxbthty is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on
our audits.:

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit includes
consideration of. internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropnate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company s mternal control over financial reporting. Accordingly we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accountmg principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall fmanc1al statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opm1on ; ‘ :

CIn our’ opmlon such financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consohdated f1nanc1a1 position of Xenogen Corporanon and its subsidiaries-as of December 31, 2004, and 2003
and the consohdated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31,2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic
consohdated ﬁnanc1al statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therem " '

As dlscussed 1in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of
accounting - for goodwdl and purchased intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets..

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

March 18,2005
San Francisco, California-



XENOGEN CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2004 2003
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ... i h e $ 19423 $ 12,519
Short teIm INVESIIMENTS . . ..ot ettt et et e e s 2,493 1,027
Accounts receivable—net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $738 and $21 and in 2004 and
2003, TESPECIIVELY « o\ttt 7,769 5,460
IVEIEO Y .ottt e e e e e e 4,175 2,109
Prepaid expenses and Other CUTTENT @SSELS « . o . oottt i ettt et 1,293 1,170
T otal CUITENL ASSBES . .\ ittt e it e e 35,153 22,285
Property and equipment—mnet .. ........ . ... 3,184 4,966
Purchased intangible assets—net . ........ e e cees 531 1,135
Restricted INVESTMENTS . . . o\ it e et e e e e 50 2,183
Other NONCUITENE ASSEES &+« + v ot e ot e e ettt e e e ettt et et e e et e et e e e e ettt eee e 1,020 990
B 7Y T = £ $ 39,938 $ 31,559
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts Payable . .. ... e $ 2564 $ 2,088
Accrued COMPENSAtION . . .. ..ottt ettt e e e e e e 1,998 1,529
Deferred rEVEIUE . .. i\ ittt ittt ettt e e e e e 8,638 9,918
Accrued restructuring charges .. ... ... 281 267
Loans payable—current portion .. .. ....... ... i ettt e 6,372 1,154
Capital lease obligations—current portion ............ ... 18 57
Other accrued liabilities . ........ ... . civiiiniiia, P 1,211 958
Total current Habilities . . ... ..ottt e e e 21,082 15,971
Noncurrent liabilities: :
Loans payable ........... e e e 1,053 5,163
Capital lease 0bligations .. ... .. .. i e 1 19
Deferred rent ... ... e e 605 685
Accrued restructuring Charges . . ... oottt e e e 1,250 1,531
Total noncurrent Habilities . . ... .. i e 2,909 7,398
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 and 10,428,571 shares authorized at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively; 0 and 9,418,766 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively; liquidation preference of $0 and $102,853 at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively .. ... e — 66
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 and 15,714,285 shares authorized at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively; 14,769,552 and 1,016,480 issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively (Note 10) . ..., 15 7
Additional paid-in capital ... ... ... 186,110 159,600
Notes receivable from stockholders . . ... .. i e — (11D
Deferred stock-based compensation ... ... ... .. . s (2,443) (5,436)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . .......... . ... i i @20 1
Accumulated defiCit . . ..o (167,714) (145,937)
Total stockholders” eqUity ... ... i i i e e 15,947 8,190
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity ........ $ 39,938 $ 31,559

See notes to consolidated financial statements

F-2




XENOGEN CORPORATION

ST CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
o (In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Reveriue: ‘
Product . ..o i e
CCOMITACE v vt ettt e e e e e e e
LICENSE .ttt et e T

TOAL TEVEIIUC .« v oo e sttt e e e e e e e e e e e e

Cost of revenue :
lProduct @) I
Contract ()
Llcense () o P
3 Tota] COSLOF TEVENUE -« o\ vttt ee e e et e e e
g Gross margm .............. S P
Operatmg expenses
Research and development @ e N
Selling, general and administrative (@) .. ...
Depreciation and amortization eXPenses . ... .......ouiveeernreroneinann..
Restructuring Charges . ... PR

Totaloperanngexpenses TN

Loss from operatrons ............................................ I
Other INCOME—DEL . /. .t .o\ ottt e et et e e e e e
InterestinCome . ... ... e
Interest CXPEIISE. -1ttt e

Loss' before cumulatrve effect of an accounting change .. ... e Ll

Cumulatwe &ffect'of an accounting change (Notes 1 and 2)—impairment of
goodwill ... .. e e

Netloss.‘.‘,....‘.‘ .................................... e
Preferred‘stock drv1dends ..................................................
Accretion of fedeemable convertible preferred stock . ......... B

Net los‘s‘attributalale to common stockholders ......... ... Lo oo
Welghtéd average nurnber of common shares outstanding . .. S

Loss per share data (basic and diluted):
Net loss attnbutable to common stockholders excluding cumulative effect of an
-accounting change—impairment of goodwill . ... .. ... . ... ...l
Cumulative effect of an accounting change—impairment of goodwill ...... ... ..
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ................. .. ... .. .....

)
, B

(a) Includes charges for stock-based compensation as follows
Cost of revenue:

Product ‘ e el e .
Contract ......... e e T
chense‘.‘..i.‘..,.,.‘ .............. S
Totalcostofrevenue TR \ e
Research arid development ... . . . .. T e
Selling, general and administrative ... ... PO P

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
$ 16411 $ 7577 $ 5,148
8,925 7,369 6,541
5,547 5,117 4,325
30883 20,063 16,014
10,820 4385 2,774
8,761 7,629 9,145
909 729 458
20,490 12,743 12,377
10,393 7,320 3,637
12,514 11920 14,125
16,654 10,890 12,561
3,092 3,836 4,735

— 669 3411
302260 27315 34,832
(21,867)  (19,995)  (31,195)
593 43 54

147 122 416
650) (717 (921)
Q1,777)  (20,547)  (31,646)
— —  (30,906)
(21,777)  (20,547)  (62.552)
— (5.629)  (2,230)
— (344)  (1,045)
$ @1,777) $(26,520) $(65,827)
7295321 782,638 546,824
$ (299 $ (33.89) $ (63.86)
g — (56.52)
$ (299 $ (33.89) $(120.38)
$ 91 $ 166 $ 115
257 216 274

32 28 19

$ 680 410 '$ 408
$ 1481 873 $ 868
$ 2,364 528§ 495
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XENOGEN CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands}
Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Cash flows from operating activities: :
Nt 088 .ttt e $(21,777) $(20,347) $(62,552)
Reconciliation of net loss to net cash used in operating activities: ‘
Noncash restructuring charges—fixed asset write-offs . ..................... — — 1,156
Noncashstock-based compensation eXpense ............c..oviviieinn.n .. 4,525 1,811 1,771
Noncash interest expense related to warrants granted . ...................... — 43 26
Amortization of INVESIMENtS . .. ...ttt 144 — —_
Loan forgiveness . ...t e 153 — —
Depreciation and amortization . .............rvereeirinrerrnaanes o 3,092 3,836 4,735
Impairment of goodwill ... ... .. e — — 30,906
Gain on disposal of fixed assets ...............c.oo i — 458 9
Noncash interestincome . ..................... P (52) (25) (38)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ‘
Accountsreceivable ....... .. ... e (2,309) (2,967) = (183)
Prepaid expenses and otherassets . ........... ... . i (113) (550) 831
IventOry . e e . (2,066) (1,099) 84
Other NONCUITENE ASSELS . . . o\ vttt ittt ettt ettt (41) 36 32)
Accounts payable . ... .. 476 61) 46
Accrued compensation and other liabilities .................. .. ... .... 722 974 (155)
Deferred TeVEnUE . . ... ... ot it o (1,280) 4,823 137
Accrued restructuring Charges . . ......oor et 267) (314) 2,112
Deferredrent . ... . e e (80) 24 55
Net cash used in operating activities . ...............coviinaen. .. - (18,873) (13,558) (21,092)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment . ... ... i (824) (1.147)  (2,553)
Proceeds from sale of property andequipment . ........... ... ... ... . ... 130 964 —
Purchase of INVeStMENtS . . ..ot i it et e e e (5,340) (1,729) (11,621)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments . . .............. ... ... . .. ... 5,851 2,285 12,375
Unrealized loss on available for sale investments . . ............................. an — —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities . . ................ (194) 373 (1,799)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of commonstock .......... ... .. ... i 37 29 27
Repurchase of common stock .. ... ... i — (8) 4)
Proceeds for stock offering . ... . .. 24,383 -— —
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock . ................ ... .. ... .. — 21,510 983
Borrowings from loans ...... ... . e 3,292 5,059 2,335
Repaymentof loans .. ... . e e 2,184) (6,063) (2,888)
Capital 1€ase PAYIMENLS . ...\ttt ettt e e e e 537 (44) (56)
" Net cash provided by financing activities ......................... 25,971 20,483 397
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. ........ ... ... ... .. ... ..... 6,904 7,298  (22,494)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . . ... ... ... ... .. i, L. 12,519 5221 27,715
Cash and cash equivalents,endof year ... ............. ISP $ 19,423 $ 12,519 § 5221
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information—cash paid for interest . .............. $ 650§ 717 $ 921
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing activities:
Warrants issued in conjunction withloans .......... ... .. ... ... ... ... ... § — $§ — 8 24
Stock dividends to redeemable convertible preferred stockholders ................. $ — $ 5629 § 2371
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock ... ...........0 ... $ — $ 344 $ 1,045
Exchange of shares to Series AA preferred stock and common stock ...l $ — $118542 § —

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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“ete o0+ XENOGEN CORPORATION.

N OTES TO CONSOLIDATED F INAN CIAL STATEMENTS
‘ Years Ended December 31 2004 2003 and 2002

1. Summary of Slgmﬁcant Accountlng Pohcres

Orgamzanon and ‘Basis of Presentation—Xenogen Corporatlon (the “Company ") was founded on August 1,
1995 as a life sciences company incorporated in the. State of California.-In September 2000, the Board of
Directors, approved the: Company s reincorporation in the, State of Delaware. The reincorporation was approved
by the State of: Delaware on September 26, 2000. N o .

We develop and manufacture products and technologres for acqumn analyzing and managing complex
1mage dataifrom 11ve ammals These products and technologies are comprised of an imaging system, software
and b1ologlcal matenals -and are ‘designed to improve the efficiency and productivity of drug discovery and
development by.facilitating biological assessment. Our in vivo biophotonic imaging system combines
technolog1es in molecular biology and physiology to enable researchers to track and monitor the dynamic
properties’ assoc1ated with the mechanisms of disease and the impact of drugs on such mechanisms as they occur
at the molecular level 1n live animals,

Prmcrples of Consohdanon—The consolidated financial statements mclude the accounts of the Company
and our Wholly owned subs1d1ary, Xenogen B10sc1ences Corporat1on mcorporated in the State of Ohio (DNX)."
All srgmﬁcant mtercompany accounts’ -and transacttons have been ehrmnated

Use of Estzmares—The preparation of fmancxal statéments in conforrruty with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated fmanc1al statements and accompanvmo notes. Actual results
could dtffer from those estimates. :

Reclasszf" cattons——Certam prior year amounts have been reclassrﬁed to conform with current yéar
presentatlon These reclassrﬁcauons had no effect on net loss or losses per share

Cash and Cash Equwalents——We cons1der all short-term, hrvhly liquid investments with original maturity
of three’ months or less to be cash equlvalents ‘

Short Term Investments——We account for short- term: investments in-accordance with Statement of Financial
Accountmg Standards (SFAS) No. 115, Accounting for Certam Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. To
date, all short term investments, comprised of corporate debt securities, have been classified as available-for-
sale, and are cartied-at market value as determined based on quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses
are reported in other comprehensrve income. The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included in interest income. Realized
gams and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary for available-for-sale securities are
1ncluded in’ mterest and other income and have not been significant to date. Reallzed gains and losses are
computed ot a spec1ﬁc identification basrs ‘ L .

Resmcted Investments—We account for certain mvestments prlmamly comprised of money market funds
and certlfrcate of depos1ts as restncted investments in connection with lease agreements and loans.

Fazr Value of F mancra/ Instruments—The carrying amounts of certain of our financial instruments,
including cash and, cash equrvalents and investments, approximate fair value due to their short maturities. Based
on borrowmg rates currently available to us for loans and capltal lease obhgauons with srrrular terms, the
carrymg value of our debt obl1gat10ns approxrmate fair value

Inventorzes—Inventones are stated at the Jower of standard cost Wthh approximates actual cost or market.
Cost is based on the first in, first out- method. .

_.tf y | I ‘} ‘ : ‘ F-7



Property and Equipment—Property and equipment including equipment held under capital leases are stated
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets (five years for furniture and fixtures, and three years for
laboratory and office equipment). Amortization of leasehold improvements is determined using the straight-line
method over the shorter of useful life of the assets or the life of the lease. Equipment under capital leases is
amortized over the lesser of its lease term or estimated useful life.

Software Costs—Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed, requires capitalization of certain software
development costs subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Based on our product
development process, technological feasibility is established upon the completion of a working model. To date,
costs incurred by us between the completion of the working model and the point at which the product is ready for
general release have been insignificant. Accordingly, we have charged all such costs to research and development
expense in the period incurred.

Purchased Goodwill—Goodwill was attributable to the acquisition of Chrysalis DNX Transgenic Sciences
Corporation (DNX) in November of 2000 (see Note 3). On January 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of
Statement Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142), and
as a result, we ceased to amortize goodwill. In lieu of amortization, we performed an initial impairment review of
goodwill in 2002 in accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS No. 142. Accordingly, we recorded an
impairment of goodwill of approximately $30.9 miilion, as cumulative effect of an accounting change in the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002. Prior to the adoption of SFAS
No. 142, our growth expectation for DNX were such that no'impairment of the goodwill had been indicated.

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill, which is only attributable to DNX, for December 31, 2002,
was as follows (in thousands):

Balance, beginningof year ................ ... ... ..... e $ 30,420
Reclassification of assembled workforce .......................... e 486
Impairment of goodwill (see Note 3) . ........ ... .o, (30,906)
Balance,end of year . ................... FS 5 —

The impairment of goodwill was recorded as cumulative effect of an accounting change in the consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—We account for long-lived assets in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
(SFAS No. 144), which was adopted on January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, Accounting
for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets To Be Disposed of (SFAS No. 121). We
regularly evaluate our long-lived assets, including our intangible assets, for indicators of possible impairment
whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
fully recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of an asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount.
Impairment, if any, is measured using discounted cash flows. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, we performed an
evaluation of our long-lived assets and noted no impairment.

Revenue Recognition—We recognize revenues in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104 (SAB 104). Arrangements with multiple elements are accounted for in
accordance with EITF 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” Revenues are recognized
when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the
price is fixed and determinable and collectibility is‘reasonablyl assured.
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~ We generate‘ revenue primarily from two sources: (1) sales of our IVIS Imaging System and associated
accessories and (2) licenses for the use of our in.vivo biophotonic imaging technology, transgenic animals and
associated b1010g1cal products to customers on a nonexclusive and nontransferable basis for the purposes of its
apphcatronlm the fields of drug recovery and/or prechmcal drug development research.
I k ‘

Our IVIS Imaging System is eomposed of separate hardware and software components. The hardware (non-
software) component is primarily an enclosed ultra-sensitive CCD camera system. The primary software
component (L1v1ng Image) enables the user to organize and view the image data. This software component is not
considered essentlal to the functionality of the camera system as similar software is available from other vendors.
We allocate revenue.on the sale of its IVIS Imaging Systems between software and non-software related
dehverables based on fair value as required by EITF 03-5.

, Revenue allocated to non-software deliverables is further allocated based on the separation criteria
established in EITF 00-21. Using that criteria, which requires that each deliverable have stand-alone value in
order to be consrdered a separate unit of accounting, we have identified four separate non-software deliverables:
(1) the' camera system, (2) the technology licenses, (3) follow-on technical'services, and (4) system accessories.
We allocate revenue to these units of accounting based oir fair value as determined by reference to the price at
which it wolld be sold separately by-us and/or other third-parties as appropriate. Revenue allocated to each
individual unit of ;accounting is then recognized in accordance with the requirements of SAB 104.

Revenue from the sale of add on accessories is recognized upon delivery (i.e. transfer of title), as the
functronahty of accessories is not contiiigent upon installation due to the “plug and play” nature of the
accessories. Revenue associated with follow-on technical services is recognized as the services are performed.

. We grant time-based technology licenses to our commercial customers. The fees, net of any customer
discounts, attributable to these time-based technology licenses are recognized as earned on a straight-line basis

over the‘term of the license: We grant perpetual technology licenses to academic and not-for-profit customers in
connegtion’ ‘with thé sale of the i imaging system. The IVIS:Imaging System and related perpetual technology
licenses ‘are_sold as a combined unit and reventie is recognized upon installation of the combined unit.
Revenue allocated to the software and related customer support is accounted for separately in accordance
with AICPA Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, or SOP 97-2. Under SOP 97-2, the
software components are recognized upon installation-of the system as thé functionality of the system is
contingent upon installation due to the complex nature of the system. Post customer support is deferred and
amortized over a strarght -line basis over customer support: penod ‘

Deferred revenue prtmartly related to time-based technology licenses and software maintenance contracts,
is recorded when the payments from the customer are received prior to our conclusion of performance
obl1gat10ns related to the payment and recognized upon complet1on of those performance criteria. Contract
payments are generally for one year or less.

: S

Revenue relattng to research and development agreements is recognized as the defined services are
performed. Under these agreements, we are required to perform research and development activities as specified
in each respective agreement. The payments received under these agréements are non refundable.

Because Services are performed ratably over the period, contract revenueé attributable to fixed price contracts
is recognizéd on a'straight-line basis over the term of the contract provided that the payments are non refundable
and are based on'an agreed upon schedule and the services are performed ratably over the term of the contract.
Certain agreements may define specific milestones and the payments associated with each milestone. Such
paymenis are recognized as revenue upon achievement. of the milestone events, after which we have no future
performance obligations to this payment. Any payments received in advance of the completion of the milestone,
are recorded as deferred revenue.
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Sales to distributors are recognized upon sale of the product by the distributor to the end user. Our
arrangements with end customers do not allow for product returns.

Product Warranty—We warrant our IVIS Imaging System for a period of one year. We accrue for estimated
warranty costs concurrent with the recognition of revenue. The initial warranty accrual is based upon our
historical experience and is included in other current liabilities. The amounts charged and accrued against the
warranty reserve are as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003
Balance, beginning of year .. .........o i e $131 $ 93
Currentyearaccrual . ... ... . e e 372 91
Warranty expenditures charged toaccrual . ........ ... .. .. L oL 257) (53)
Balance,endofyear....... ... ... i e $246  $131

Research and Development—Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and include costs
associated with company sponsored, collaborative and contracted research and development activities. Research
and development costs consist of direct and indirect internal costs related to specific projects as well as fees paid
to other entities that conduct certain research activities on behalf of the company.

Income Taxes—We utilize the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets
and liabilities, and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are
expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded as realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon
future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain.

Stock-Based Compensation—We have elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25), and related interpretations in accounting for our employee
stock options because the alternative fair value accounting provided for under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123), as amended by SFAS No. 148,
requires use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing employee stock options.
Under APB 25, when the exercise price of the Company’s employee and director stock options equals the market
price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

SFAS No. 123 requires that stock option information be disclosed as if we had accounted for our employee
stock options granted under the fair value method of SFAS No. 123. The fair value of these options was
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Sholes option pricing model, and was amortized using the graded
vesting method over the options vesting period, with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2004 2003 2002

Dividend yield ........... . . i e — — —
VOlatility . .ot e 2% — -—
Risk-free interest rate .. ..., vttt ittt 35% 35% 42
Weighted average expected life (inyears) .......... ... v, 5 5 5

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and
2002 were $4.07, $1.46 and $1.85, respectively. The minimum value basis for pricing options was used for all
grants made prior to Xenogen becoming a publicly traded company in July 2004. For options granted after
July 18, 2004, an average stock volatility factor of 58% was utilized for valuation.




The followmg table summarizes relevant information as to reported results, with supplemental information
as if the fan‘ value recogmtlon provisions of SFAS No. 123 had been applied (in thousands, except per share
data): | -

l
s
BN

l

e P ‘ ‘ _ Years Ended December 31,

L o 2004 2003 2002
Net loss attr1butable to common stockholders: - . ............. . ... ... ... $Q21,777) $(26,520) $(65,827)
Add employee stock based compensation .. ... . i 4,518 1,782 1,771
Deduct stock based c¢ompensation determined under the fair value based :

method for all- awards net of cancellations :........ el L. (4,102) (281)  (2,682)

Pro forma-. [ ... L S [P P e - SQL361) $25.019) $(66,738)
Basic, and dlluted net loss, attnbutable to common stockholders loss per share: ‘

Asreportedl.‘...."._..‘,........;......; ......................... $ (2.99) $ (33.89) $(120.38)

Pro forma e e e e $ (293) $ (31.97) $(122.05)

Dunng the preparatlon of our 2004 consohdated ﬁnancral statements, we determined that pro forma loss and
pro forma net, loss, per share for 2003 had been calculated incorrectly. Accordingly, such pro forma amounts
presented above have been revised. The effect was to decrease the pro forma net loss for 2003 by $0.7 million.
This change did not 1mpact our consolidated financial posmon results of operation or cash flows for any of the
periods presented

-»{;-H‘ ’tu“t.‘l.; .

Stock‘cornpensation expense for options granted to nonemployees has been determined in accordance with
SFAS No. 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued
to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with, Selling Goods or Services, as the fair value of
the consideration réceived or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably
measured. The fair}yalue of options granted to nonemployees is remeasured as the underlying options vest.

Loss. Per Share—Basic net loss attributable to common stockholders per share is computed by dividing net
loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period (excluding shares subject
to repurchase). Diluted net loss per share was the same as basic net loss attributable to common stockholders per
share for all penods presented since the effects of any potenually dilutive securities are excluded as they are
antldrlutlve due to-Qur net losses.

t-tt‘l:
[N !

Other Comprehenszve Loss—Comprehensive loss is deﬁned as the changes in net assets durmg the period
from non- owner sources, including unrealized losses on avallable for-sale investments.

Sign‘ificant Conc‘entrazions—Cash equivalents and investments are financial instruments that potentially
subject usito! concentratlons of risk to the extent of amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. Xenogen
invests cash Wthh is not required for immediate operating needs, primarily in highly liquid instruments, which
bear mlmmal risk due to their short-term maturity.

We ha‘\ié?}not3é§gperienced significant credit loss from our accounts receivable, licenses, grants, and
collaboration agreernents, and none are currently expected. We perform a regular review of our customer activity
and associated credit risks, and do not require collateral from our customers.

‘ | L ; s

We are dependent on the continuing validity of our exclusive license obtained from a university for the use
of licensed patents,and certain materials as a core to our proprietary-developed products and technologies.

We rely on several companies as the sole source of various materials used in our manufacturing process,
Any interruption in the supply of these materials could result in the failure to meet customer demand.
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Revenue from customers representing 10% or more of total revenue during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was as
follows:

2004 2003 2002

CUSIOMIET A Lot e e 16% 21% 19%
Customer B . ... — 10% 15%

Recent Accounting Pronouncements— In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure” which
amends FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods
of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require
prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements of the method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. We adopted the disclosure
provisions of SFAS No. 148 at the beginning of fiscal 2002. In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement
No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment” This statement requires that stock-based compensation be recognized as a
cost in the financial statements and that such cost be measured based on the fair value of the stock-based
compensation. Our adoption of this statement, which we expect to occur in the third quarter of 2005, will have a
material, although non-cash, impact on our condensed consolidated statements of operations.

In March 2004, the EITF reached a final consensus on Issue 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments”, to provide additional guidance in determining whether
investment securities have an impairment which should be considered other-than-temporary. On September 15,
2004 the FASB issued proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-1-a to address the application of the EITF Issue 03-1 to debt
securities that are affected by interest rate and/or sector-spread changes only. On September 30, 2004, the FASB
issued FSP EITF Issue 03-1-1, which delayed the effective date of certain paragraphs of the EITF until EITF 03-1-a
is issued. We expect that the adoption of this Issue and the related FSP’s will not have a significant effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.

In May of 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS No. 150 requires issuers to classify as liabilities (or assets in
some circumstances) certain financial instruments that embody obligations. Financial instruments within the
scope of SFAS No. 150 shall be initially measured at fair value and subsequently revalued with changes in value
being reflected in interest cost. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after
May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15,
2003. Restatement is not permitted. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In April of 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities
under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. This statement amends
SFAS No. 133 for decisions made as part of the Derivative Implementation Group process that effectively
required amendments to SFAS No. 133, in connection with other FASB projects dealing with financial
instruments and in connection with implementation issues that have been raised in relation to the application of
the definition of a derivative. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30,
2003. Also, the provisions of SFAS No. 149 that relate to SFAS No. 133 implementation issues that have been
effective for fiscal years that began prior to June 15, 2003, should continue to be applied in accordance with
respective effective dates. In addition, provisions of this statement related to forward purchases or sales of when-
issued securities or other securities that do not yet exist, should be applied to both existing and new contracts
entered into after June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
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ln December of 2003 the FASB issued FASB Interpretatron No. 46 (Revised), Consolidation of Variable
Interest! Entmes an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 (FIN No. 46R). FIN No. 46R expands
upon and strengthens existing accounting guidance that addresses wheh a company should include in its financial
statements the assets; llablhtres and activities of another entlty A variable interest entity is any legal structure
used for busrness purposes that-either does nothave equity investors with voting rights or has equity investors
that do not provrde sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities. A variable interest entity
often holds ﬁnanc1al assets, including loans and receivables, real estate or other property. A variable interest
entity mdy’ 'be essentially passive or it may engage in research and development or other activities on behalf of
anothet company Previously, one company generally has included another entity in its consolidated financial
statements only ifiit controlled the entity through voting 1nterests FIN No. 46R changes that by requiring a
variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majonty of the risk of loss
from the variable intérest entity’s activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or
both. As of December 17, 2003, the efféctive date of FIN No. 46R has been deferred until the end of the first
interim or arinual’ reportrng period ending after'March 15, 2004. We do not have any variable mterest entities and
. the adoptlon had no 1mpact on our consohdated financial ! statements ‘

.l TR 0 R iy

I April 2004 FASB issued FSP FAS No 129-1, “Disclb‘sure o'fInformation about Capital Structure,
Relating to. Contzngenrly ‘Convertible Securities” 10 provide disclosure guidance for contingently convertible
securities: We adopted the ‘disclosure provisions'in the secotid quarter of 2004 as they applied to the convertible
notes’ 1ssued»1n March 2003; The adoptron of FSP FAS No 129 1 did not have a materral 1mpact on our financial
condmon or, results of operatrons : =

ha recent EITF rneetlng, EITF Issue No. 04-08, “Accountmg Issues Relatéd to Certain Features of
Contmgently Convernble Debt and the Effect on Diluted Earnings per Share,” was discussed. The tentative
conclusron was that, shares available under contingently convertible debt should be included in diluted earnings
per shate or EPS, inall penods except when inclusion is anti-dilutive, regardless of whether the contingency is
met and regardless of: whether the market price contingency is substantial. Management expects that the adoption
of this! Issue will not have an effect on our frnanc1al COndlthI'l or results of operat10n< as we currently have no
contmgently convertlble debt outstandmg :

LR r“ - . . . ) . . Sy

2. Purchased Intanglble Assets and Impalrment of Goodwnll

Goodw1ll was atmbutable to the acquisition of Chrysahs DNX Transgenic Sciences Corporation (DNX) in
November 2000..0n J anuary 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of Statement Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, Goodwzll and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS No: 142), and as a result, we ceased to amortize goodwill.
In lieu of amortization, we ‘performed an initial impairment review of goodwill in 2002 in accordance with the
transition prov1srons ‘of SFAS No.-142. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment of goodwill of approximately
$30.9 million, as a cumulatrve effect of an accounting change in the consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended Decembe1 31, 2002, Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, our growth expectation for DNX was
such that no 1mpa1rment of the goodwill had been indicated.

\: L Ll
i

The"COmponents of identifiable intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

SR E ' - ' December 31, 2004

i ‘ B . L a ‘ : Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
SR B ’ e : : Amount . -~ Amortization - Amount

Paents - P - $3,019 $(2.488) $531

S W o l . ' P " December 31,2003

Gross Carrying Accumulated = - Net Carrying
Amount | Amortization ° Amount

Patents ... BN T $3019  $(1,884)  $1,135




As of January 1, 2002, purchased intangible asset associated with the assembled workforce in the amount of
$486,000, net of accumulated amortization of $291,000, was reclassified to goodwill in accordance with SFAS
No. 142, written off, and included in the impairment of goodwill. .

Amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 was $603,000, $603,000 and $850,000, respectively. Amortization expense for the year ended
December 31, 2002 included the write-off of licensed intellectual property of $101,000. Amortization expenses
are expected to be approximately $531,000 for 2005. Purchased intangible assets have estimated useful lives of
two to five years.

3. Restructurihg Charges

In September 2002, we implemented a restructuring program (Restructuring Plan) to bring our expenses
more in line with revised revenue and cash flow projections. This plan required the closure of the St. Louis
facility, consolidation of the animal production in Cranbury, New Jersey, and elimination of personnel. Through
the completion of the Restructuring Plan in December 2002, we recorded $3,411,000 of restructuring charges in

" accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity, and Staff Accounting Bulletin 100, Restructuring and Impairment
Charges. These charges represented estimated employee severance costs, abandonment of leasehold
improvements and other fixed assets associated with the vacated facility, and remaining lease obligation, in the
amount of $275,000, $1,028,000 and $2,108,000, respectively. At the completion of the Restructuring Plan, we
incurred approximately $228,000 in severance payments to employees.

In connection with the closure of the St. Louis facility, we wrote off of the remaining cost of licensed
intellectual property in the amount of $101,000.

In February 2003, we further reduced our workforce at both the Alameda and New Jersey sites. We recorded
severance cost of $669,000 in accordance with SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities, which requires companies to recognize costs associated with restructuring, discontinued
operations, plant closing or other exit or disposal activity, when they are incurred rather than at the date of a
commitment to an exit or disposal plan.

The following table depicts the restructuring and impairment acﬁvity_during fiscal years ended December
31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

Severance
and Related Vacated
Charges Facilities Total
Accrued restructuring charges:
Ending balance, December 31,2002 ..................... $ 47 $2,065  $2,112
Charged tO Xpense . ... veennneinn.. 669 — - 669
Cashexpenditures . .......... ... eernannnen (716) (267) (983)
Ending balance, December 31,2003 .. ................... — 1,798 1,798
Cash expenditures ........ e — (267) (267)
Ending balance, December 31,2004 ................ P $— $1,531  $1,531

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recorded approximately $281,000 and $267,000, respectively, as
current accrued restructuring charges and approximately $1,250,000 and $1,531,000, respectively, as noncurrent
accrued restructuring charges in the consolidated balance sheets.
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We expect 1o’ pay the accrued lease 0b11gat10ns over the remaining term of the lease, which terminates in
2010. s - :

4, ShoriéTermf7énd Restricted Investments

r We 1nvest our, excess cash in debt instruments of financial mstrtutlons and corporations with strong credit
ratings. ‘We have estabhshed guidelines relative to diversification and maturities that minimize risk and maximize
11qu1d1ty These gmdehnes are periodically reviewed and modified to take advantage of trends in yields and
1nterest4rates We have not experienced any material losses on our investments. At December 31, 2004, all of the
1nvestments held by the Company had a contractual maturity of one year or less.
The followmg is a summary of our short-term and restncted investments, accounted for as available-for-sale
secuntres (m thousands)

Available-for-Sale Securities

Gross
Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains (Losses) Fair Value

December31 2004 ERE o ‘ 1

‘ _ Certificates of deposit ............ e P $ 254 $— ©$ 254
. ‘Corpora‘te debt SECUITHES .o vttt e 2,310 21 2,289
T ‘ L ssed osen’ s
Deeernher 31,,2()03: ‘ i : . ‘ ‘ ‘
1 "'Money market funds ............. S e $1,024 $— $1,024
. 'Certificates of deposit ........... i 159 — 1,159

:Corporafe debt securities ............ I F 1,026 1 1,027
. | $3209  $ 1 $3210

At December 31 2004 and 2003, approxrrnately $50, 000 and $2,183, 000, respectively, held in certificates of
deposrt and money market funds, represented réstricted investments in connection with lease agreements and loans
and was recorded as restricted investments on the consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2004 and 2003,

: approxnnately $204 000 and $0, respectively, held in certificates of deposn: was not restricted in connection with
lease agreements and loans and was recorded W1th short-term mvestments on the consolidated balance sheets.

S. Inventory

Inventones consrsted of the followmg (m thousands) at the periods mdlcated below:
. o f‘j;',ww . ,

e } . , 2004 2003
»Rawmatenals,..'"...‘..‘ ......... U $2,274  $2,044
Flrushed goods P 663 65

'Work i Progress e R B 1,238
T - " 0 C$4,175  $2,109

i . —————e




6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2004 2003

Land and building . ... ... .oovten et $ — $ —
Furniture and office equipment ........ PR PP 3,904 3,910
Laboratory equipment . . ..................... 9,074 8,676
Leasehold improvements ...... P 4,374 4,117

' 17,352 16,703
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ........................ (14,168) (11,737

$ 3,184 $ 4,966

Depreciatioﬁ' expense was approximately $2,487,000, $3,232,000 and $3,887,000 at December 31, 2004,
2003, and 2002, respectively.

During 2003, we sold a corporate house and its furnishings resulting in a loss of $308,000. This loss was
included in other income, net.

The cost of assets held under capital leases included in fixed assets was approximately $263,000 at both
December 31, 2004 and 2003. Accumulated amortization of assets held under capital leases was approximately
$243,000 and $219,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

7. Loans Payable and Capital Lease Obligations
Loans payable at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of the following (in thousands):

Due December 31,

Interest Rate Payment Term Repayment Schedule Date 2004 2003
Bank of America ... ... 7.88% Principal & interest Monthly 2005 $ 42 $ 128
Bank of America...... 3.00-3.25% Interestonly Monthly 2004 — 1,000

. , Principal at maturity
Silicon Valley Bank ... 5.50% Interest only , Monthly 2005 5,000 2,000
Principal at maturity '

GE Capital Joans . . .. .. 9.28-9.94%  Principal & interest Monthly 2006-2007 2,383 3,227
Total ........... $7425 $6,355

The weighted average interest rate on loans for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 was 8.25% and
10.21%, respectively.

Capital lease obligations at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, ‘

Interest Rate Payment Term 2004 2003

Ford ... ... . . 6.90-7.90% Principal & interest $ 8  $22
Dell ... ... 0. i e 6.42% Principal & interest 8 21
CMFinancial ........... ... ... .. ... 11.46-11.48%  Principal & interest 3 33
Total ..o $19 876

Under the terms of the secured loan with Silicon Valley Bank, the Company is required to maintain at all times
a certain ratio, calculated by the sum of unrestricted cash and investment with the bank plus eligible accounts
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receivable; divided by outstanding loan amount. Total available borrowing under this credit facility is $7 million,
and is secired by the Company’s assets excluding encumbered fixed assets and intellectual property. As of
December 31, 2004 we had borrowed $5 million on our $7 million credit facility and utilized an additional $0.8
million towards certam real estate letter of credits, leavrng us $1.2 million of -available facility under this agreement.

“AtDecembe‘r 31; 2004 and 2003, we were in compllance with covenants under the agreement.

: ‘U‘nder the terms of the secured loan with Bank of America, we are required to restrict the use of cash
equivalent to its;outstanding loan amount. We can not withdraw funds from the deposit account without prior
written consent of the bank. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we were in compliance with such requirement.

In J anuary 2‘(‘)04,.we‘ repaid all obligations relating to the $1 million loan from Bank of America.

‘oﬁ;_;quipmé}it lines with other lenders are secured by the financed equipment.

The ,aégregate amount of required future payments on Joans paj;rar)le and capital leases at December 31,
2004, is asjfollows (in thousands):

e Loans Payable Capital Leases
2005 L. $ 6,762 $ 19

2006 0. e e 1,004 1
2007 4t R 1) —
_Total Minimum Payments . .................... e 7,868 20
Less amount representing interest . . . . . e e , (443 (D
‘Present:vah‘le'_of minimum payments . ................. el 7,425 19
‘Gurren; portion ..L................. e S L. _(6,372) (18)
LONg-term POrtion . . ..........oouuiei it $ 1,053 1

8. Commltments and Contmgencnes

Operatmg Leases—We lease certain real property under non-cancelable operating lease agreements in
Alameda and Mountain View, California; Cranbury, New Jersey; and St. Louis, Missouri. These leases expire at
various dates between 2006 and 2010 and have extension options of between one and five years. In connection
with these lease agreements we are required to hold certificates of deposit amounting to $50,000 and $1,159,000,
included in restrlcted investments at December 31, 2004 and 2003.

The followmg is a schedule of minimum rental comnntments under operating lease agreements as of
December 31 2004 (1n thousands) ‘

I Years Endmg December 31,

C S I

2005 e $ 3,734
2006 2,422
2007 vt e 1,996
CN2008 LU U P 1,983
L2009 Ll B B Ty 1,693
" Thereafter | ... SO e 81
| $11,909

u‘l‘ !
T

Dunng the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we mcurred rent expenses of approxrmately
$3, 919 OOO ‘$3 729 000 and $3,809,000, respectively. -

F-17



On March 2, 2005, we concurrently entered into two amendments to existing real estate operating leases and
one new real estate operating lease in Alameda. One amendment extends the term of one lease for an additional
term of five years commencing on March 1, 2006 and ending February 28, 2011 and the other amendment
provides for and requires the early relocation from one facility to the other. The new real estate lease is for
approximately five years and ten months with two options to extend the term each for an additional five-year
period. These new lease amendments and agreements will not increase our overall minimum rental commitments
under operating lease agreements.

Purchase Commitments—We had various purchase order commitments totaling approximately $1.1 million
as of December 31, 2004.

Legal Proceedings—On August 9, 2001, AntiCancer, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of
California, County of San Diego, against us and other third parties. The complaint alleges five causes of action,
including trade libel, defamation, intentional interference with contract, intentional interference with prospective
economic advantage and unfair competition. These claims are based on alleged false statements made by
unidentified employees and/or third parties regarding AntiCancer’s products. AntiCancer seeks unspecified
general and exemplary monetary damages arising from the alleged impact of the alleged false statements, as well
as its costs and expenses incurred in connection with the lawsuit. The Court recently denied our motion for
summary judgment of the case, and trial is scheduled to begin on September 19, 2005. We believe the complaint
is without merit and are mounting a vigorous defense.

On March 7, 2005, AntiCancer filed a lawsuit against us in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of California alleging infringement of five patents of AntiCancer. The complaint secks damages and injunctive
relief against the alleged infringement. We intend to vigorously defend ourselves against such infringement
claims, including contesting the validity of AntiCancer’s patents. Even if we prevail in these lawsuits, the
defense of these or similar lawsuits will be expensive and time-consuming and may distract our management
from operating our business.

From time to time we are involved in litigation arising out of claims in the normal course of business. Based
on the information presently available, management believes that there are no claims or actions pending or
threatened against us, the ultimate resolution of which will have a material adverse effect on our financial
position, liquidity or results of operations, although the results of litigation are inherently uncertain, and adverse
outcomes are possible. ‘

9. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock -

In accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-27, Application of EITF Issue No. 98-5, Accounting for Convertible
Securities with Beneficial Conversion Features or Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios to Certain
Convertible Instruments (EITF Issue No. 00-27), we recorded a deemed dividend in the amount of $141,000 in
2002, equal to the additional number of shares of common stock resulting from the adjustment of the conversion
ratio multiplied by the Company’s common stock price at the issuance date of Series F redeemable convertible
preferred stock.

During 2003 and 2002, we paid a dividend in kind for Series G redeemable convertible preferred stock of
80,002 and 54,713 shares, respectively, of Series G redeemable convertible preferred stock. These shares were
valued at $3.2 million and $2.2 million, and were recorded in our consolidated financial statements as an increase
to Series G redeemable convertible preferred stock.

From the issuance of Series C, D, E, F and G redeemable convertible preferred shares until the conversion
of the redeemable convertible preferred stock, we accreted annually up to the respective redemption values of
each of the Series C, D, E, F and G redeemable convertible preferred shares. In 2003 and 2002, cumulative
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accretion to the full redemption values was $2,099,000 and $1,755,000, respectively, recorded as mezzanine debt
and presented out51de of stockholders” equity.

In‘2003, upOn issuance of the Series AA convertible preferred stock, all outstanding Series C, D, E, Fand G
redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted to Series AA convertible preferred stock and common
stock. Furthermore, all-outstanding warrants were converted to Series AA warrants or common stock warrants
(see Note 11). '~ '

10. Convertlble Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
Initial Publzc Oﬁermg

OonJ uly 21, 2004 we: completed an Initial Public Offerrng (IPO) of 4,200,000 shares of common stock at a
price of $7:00 per share for proceeds of $24.9 million net of underwriting commissions and offering expenses.

Reverse Stock Splzt ‘

In Apnl 2004, our board of directors approved a 1 for 7 reverse stock split for all common and preferred
shares. Such stock split was approved by our shareholders on May 31, 2004 and was effective on July 7, 2004.
All sharkes; per shiare data and liquidation preferences per Share in the accompanytngr consolidated financial
statements have been restated to reﬂect the reverse stock spht '

On July 7, 2004 we amended our certificate of mcorporanon to reﬂect a par value of $0.007 for both
common and preferred shares after the stock split. Subsequent to the stock split and with the initial public
offering on: July 21, 2004, we amended our certificate of i 1ncorporat10n to reflect a par value of $0.001 for both-
common and preferred shares. ! :

Converttble Preferred Stock

In Aprrl and J uly of 2003, we issued approximately 6 million shares of Series AA convertible preferred
stock at $3. 64 per share, raising net proceeds of approximately $21.5 million. In connection with the financing,
we also: tssued approximately 3.4 million shares of Series AA convertible preferred stock and 400,000 shares of
common stock, in exchange for cancellation of 3.2 million shares of all.other outstanding Series of redeemable
and convertrble preferred stock. In connection with the issuance of Series AA convertible preferred stock, we
also exchanged outstandmg warrants to purchase previously issued Series of preferred stock for approximately
369, 000 warrants to purchase shares of Series AA convertible preferred stock and 8,000 warrants to purchase
common stock. In accordance with EITF Issue.No. 00-27, 'Application of EITF Issue No. 98-5, Accounting for
Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversion Features or Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios to
Certain Convertzble Instruments (EITF Issue No. 00-27), we recorded an aggregate deemed dividend charge of
$2, 369 000 i1 2003 representing the aggregate beneficial conversion feature.

In connectlon Wlth the completion of the initial public offering on July 21, 2004, all 9,418,766 shares of
convemble preferred stock were automatically converted into 9,418,766 shares of common stock.

Convertlble preferred stock is issuable in series, with rrghts and preferences. Shares issued and outstanding
as of December 31,2004 and 2003 were 0 and 9,418,766, respectrvely, with a liquidation value of $0 and
$102, 853 ()00 respectlvely ‘
S

11. Stock-]Based Compensatlon

Common Stock s . A
Common stock 1ssued to certain employees of the Company upon the early exercise of opt1ons and issuance
of restricted stock is sub]ect to right of repurchase which lapses over:vesting periods. At December 31, 2004 and

F-19



2003, 12,499 and 726 shares were subject to repurchase at a weighted-average price per share of $0.48 and $3.43,
respectively.

Reserved Shares

As of December 31, 2003 and 2004, Xenogen has reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as
follows:

) 2004 2003
StOCK OPHONS . . o .ottt et et e e e e 2,698,502 1,499,920
WA . . ettt et e e 395,483 395,483
Preferred stock . . ... . oo e — 9,418,766

3,093,985 11,314,169

Note Receivable from Stockholders

During 199'8, we issued 88,642 shares of common stock to officers in exchange for full recourse notes
receivable of approximately $111,000, at an interest rate of 6% per annum. The notes, initially due at the earlier
of December 31, 2002 or cessation of employment, were amended to become due at December 31, 2004 or
cessation of the employment. Shares were fully vested at December 31, 2003.

On March 5, 2004, our board of directors passed a resolution to forgive outstanding notes receivable,
including accrued interest contingent upon the filing of a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form S-1 for an initial public offering before November 1, 2004. As this filing occurred on
April 2, 2004, the notes were forgiven and a variable accounting stock-based compensation charge of $0.8
million was recorded for 2004,

Warrants

In connection with the issuance of convertible notes payable in 1997, we granted warrants to purchase
12,033 shares of Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $12.46 per share to an
officer and a stockholder. In 2003, upon the issuance of Series AA convertible preferred stock, these warrants
were converted to warrants to purchase Series AA convertible preferred stock and common stock. Upon
completion of our [PO, warrants to purchase Series AA convertible preferred stock were converted to common
stock warrants. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, these warrants were still outstanding.

In connection with a debt financing in 1998, we issued warrants to purchase 8,021 shares of common stock at
an exercise price equal to $12.46 per share. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, these warrants were still outstanding.

In connection with a financing in 1999, we granted a lender warrants to purchase 6,320 shares of common
stock at an exercise price equal to $15.82 per share. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, these warrants were still
outstanding.

In connection with extensions in amounts available under one of the financing arrangements in 2000, we
granted a lender warrants to purchase 1,580 and 2,576 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to $15.82
and $40.74 per share, respectively. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, these warrants were still outstanding.

In connection with a debt financing in 2001, we issued warrants to purchase 3,589 shares of Series G
convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $40.74 per share. In the accompanying consolidated financial
statements, these warrants were valued at approximately $20,000 and recorded as discount to debt to be
amortized to expense over the loan’s repayment period of 36 months from the date of withdrawal. The
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assumptrons used in calculatmg the fair value were as follows: a r1sk free interest rate of 4%, a contractual term
of 10: years 8% d1v1dend yield, and a volatility factor of 65%. In 2003, upon issuance of Series AA convertible
preferred stock these warrants were converted to warrants to purchase Series AA convertible preferred stock and
comimon stock Upon completion of our IPQ, warrants to purchase Series AA convertible preferred stock were
converted to common stock warrants. At December 31 2004 and 2003 these warrants were still outstanding.

ol In connectron w1th the issuance of Series G redeemable convertible preferred stock in 2001 and 2002, we -
granted warrants* to purchase 344,760 and 13,463 shares of Series G redeerhable convertible preferred stock,
respectlvely, wrth an exercise price of '$40.74 per share to the investors. Approximately $77,000 and $2.0 -
rnllhon respectrvely, of the dggregate proceeds were allocated tothe fair value of warrants issued. These
warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes method with the following assumptions: a 3% tisk-free interest
rate, an 8% dividend yield, an expected life of 10 years and a volatility factor of 65%. In 2003, upon issuance of
the Series. AA convertrble preferred stock, these warrants were converted to warrants to purchase Series AA
convertlble preferred stock and common stock. Upon completion of our IPO, warrants to purchase Series AA
convemble preferred stock were converted to common stock warrants: At December 31, 2004 and 2003, these
warrants were strll outstandmg ‘ :

In connecnon with a debt financing in 2002 we 1ssued warrants to purchase 3,141 shares'of Series G
preferred stock at an exercise price of '$40.74 per share. In the accompanying consolidated financial statements,
these warrants were; valued at approximately $24,000 and recorded as discount to debt to be amortized to expense
over the loan s repayment period of 36 monthis from the'date of withdrawal. The assumptions used in calculating
the farr value were as-follows: a risk-free interest rate of 3.85%, a contractual term of seven years, 8% dividend
yield, and a volatlhty factor of 75%. In 2003, upon issuance of the Series’ AA convertible preferred stock, these
warrants were converted to warrants to purchasé Series AA convertible preferred stock and common stock. Upon
completlon of our IPO, warrants to purchase Series AA convertible preferred stock were converted to common
stock | Warrants At December 31, 2004 and 2003, these warrants were still outstanding. .

Lt

Stock Opnon Plans
1996 Plan' : tm, o

In' 1996 our board of directors adopted the 1996 Stock Optlon Plan {1996 Plan). The 1996 Plan provides for
the grantmg of mcentlve and nonstatutory stock options to employees, officers, directors, and nonemployees of
the Company Incentlve stock options may be granted w1th exercise prices not less than fair value, and
nonstatutory stock optrons may be granted with an exercise price not less than 85% of the fair value of the
common stock on the date of grant. Stock optlons granted to a stockholder owning more than 10% of voting
stock of the Company may be granted with an exercise price of not less than 110% of the fair value of the
common stock on the date of grant. Our board of drrectors determines the fair value of the common stock..Stock
optrons are’ generally granted with terms of up to ten years and vest over a period of four years under the 1996
Plan. The 1996 Plan, whrch upon acceptance by the optronee would permit the optionee to exercise unvested
optrons and enter mto a restricted stock purchase agreement with respect to the underlying shares of common
stock :

On December 1 2003 we issued optrons covering 281,332 shares of its common stock pursuant to an option
exchange program, initiated in May 2003. Pursuant to the terms of the option exchange program, eligible
optronees were offered the opportunity to exchange outstanding optrons to purchase our common stock with an
exercise pnce of $0 70. or;more for options to purchase our common stock that would be issued at least six months
and one day followmg the cancellatron date of the exchaniged options with an exercise price equal to the fair
market value of such common stock on the date of grant, subject to the optionee continuing to provide services to
us through: the grant date of the new options. The vesting provisions of the original options would carry over to the
newly 1ssued opt1ons We have evaluated this transaction in the context of guidance in EITF 00-23, “Issues
Related to the Accountmg For Stock Compensat1on Under APB Optmon No. 25” and FASB Interpretation No. 44,
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and have concluded that the reissued options require variable accounting treatment because they were granted with
an exercise price less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the date of grant. The effect of
this variable accounting on the 2004 and 2003 financial statements was compensation of approximately $0.5
million and $1.6 million, respectively.

In April 2004, the 1996 Plan was amended where by no additional shares would be granted out of the plan
upon the creation of the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan which became effective upon the closing of our initial public
offering in July 2004. Under the amendment, any shares returned to the 1996 Plan resulting from repurchases or
termination of options would be reauthorized under the 2004 Plan. Given the amendment, there were no authorized
shares available for future grant issuance under the 1996 Plan at December 31, 2004; as of December 31, 2003, -
538,075 shares were available for future grant issuance.

2004 Equity Incentive Plan

In April 2004, our board of directors adopted our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (2004 Plan). The 2004 Plan,
which was approved by our shareholders in May 2004, became effective upon the completion of our initial public
offering. The 2004 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, within the meaning of Section 422 of
the Internal Revenue Code, to employees, and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, stock
appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to employees, directors and consultants. The. 2004
Plan will automatically terminate in 2014 unless terminated sooner at the discretion of management with the
approval of our board of directors. A total of 1,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issnance
pursuant to this plan. During 2004, a total of 61,168 shares, net of cancellations, were issued to various
employees. As of December 31, 2004, 964,968 shares were available for future grant issuance, including
reauthorizations from cancellations and repurchases under the 1996 Plan of 26,136 shares.

Non- Statutory Stock Option Grant

In July 2004, a non-statutory option was granted to an executive officer for 200,000 shares of common stock
with vesting over a four year period. This grant resulted in deferred compensation of $0.1 million. We recorded
stock-based compensation expense of $25,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2004,
no additional shares were available for future issuances.

In connection with the stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we
recorded deferred compensation of $1,115,000 and $6,305,000, respectively, which represents the difference
between the option exercise price and the deemed fair market value of the common stock determined for
financial reporting purposes on the grant date. The deferred compensation will be recognized as an expense over
the vesting period of the underlying stock options, generally four years, in accordance with the method described
in FASB Interpretation APB Opinion No. 28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable
Stock Option or Award Plans (An Interpretation of APB No. 15 and 25).” We recorded stock-based
compensation expense of $4,525,000 and $1.811,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. - :
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‘ A summary of our stock option activity and related information from -December 31, 2001 to December 31,

2004 is: as follows S

ct

" OQutstanding Options

g i I
Shares © ' Weighted
Available for . Exercise " Average
: ‘ ‘Future Grants Shares Price Exercise Price
Balance at December 31,2001 ... 71,890 -+ 361,704 $1.26-$21.00.  $12.53
- Authorized 1L e ~ 100,000 — — —
Options ‘granied .?.l-;‘.*; ........ e S CU{119,799) % 119,799 $  1.00 © " $ 7.00
Optlons exercised Ll el oo A ST — Y (3,034) '$1.26-819.18 $ 882
Options'canceled ........... DI Lo 777907 S H(77,907) $2.52-$21.00  $10.99
Optlons repurchased ......... E ' 543 - —  $252-$959  $ 6.09
Balande at’ December 31,2002 ..... e 130 541 . 400,562 $1.26-$21.00  $11.20
Authorizéd i el 967885 T — — —
Options granted .. ... ...... P - (949 943) 949,943 $0.42-$7.00 $ 0.70
Options exercised . . ..........i.. o i, : — 77 (238) $2.87-$7.00 $ 3.85
»Optlons canceled e Ce e 388,422 | (388,422) $0.42-$21.00 $10.64
‘ Opuons repurchased e TR o 1200 — $287-3959 $ 6.79
Balance at December 31, 2003 R P . 538,075 - 961,845 $0.42-3$21.00 $ 1.05
Authonzed B PO . 71,198,582 T — — —
‘ Optlons granted e S (800 682) 800,682 $ 0.42-$7.00 $ 621
Optlons exerersed e e S D — - (65,742 § - 042 $ 042
Optlons canceled & ........... S Lo 28 993 . (28,993) $0.42-$19.18 $.3.15
Adjustment due 10 reverse stock split ... n o — - 1,057 : —_ —
Balance‘at December 31; 2004 AU LYo a ot 964,968 ‘ l;668,849 $0.42-$21.00 $ 3.51

i . ' ) * YT

T -

The followmg table summarizes information about the stock optrons outstandm g and exerc1sable under our

stock: optlon plans at December 31, 2004:

. LA

] Range of Exercnse Pnces S Options Outstanding : Options Exercisable
SN i : : R ‘ . Weighted
ko % Lo » - ‘Weighted Average ; Weighted
o . R Number Average Remaining  Number of  Average
iy pnon e D . ' - Of Exercise  Contractual Options Exercise
Exercise Price; ;. o R - . C .= Options ]Prrce‘ - Life - Vested Price.
$ 042 o T L 899,789 § 0.42° 892" 899,789 $ 0.42
$ 1.26- $6 15 T S A G I 3577657 '$ 528 - 877 7,456 $ 273
) ) sl e 568 $°6207 9.75 P08 —
2,580 : $ 639 9.63" —  § —
C 4427 v$.643° 965 — % —
200,000 $ 650 9.53 - & —
1502,492  $ 7.00 9.44 477,208 § 7.00
4172 $ 959 .. 567 4172 $ 9.59
12,461~ $19.18 5.85 12,461 $19.18
6,595 $21.00 6.34 . 6,595 $21.00
1,668,849 $ 351 911 1,407,681 § 2.95

Restrlcted Srock Awards

On December 1, 2003 we offered to employees 91 428 shares of common stock at $0 42 per share under a
restricted stock agreement. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, 91,428 and 68, 571 shares of the common stock had
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been purchased, respectively. The shares vest over a four-year period. We recorded deferred compensation in the
amount $625,000. The deferred compensation will be recognized as an expense over the vesting period in
accordance with the method described for awards with graded-vesting in FASB Interpretation APB Opinion No.
28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Awards Plans (An
Interpretation of APB No. 15 and 25).”

2004 Director Stock Plan

Our 2004 director stock plan was adopted by our board of‘ directors in April 2004 and approved by our
shareholders in May 2004. This plan became effective upon the completion of our initial public offering and
provides for the periodic grant of restricted stock to our directors.

A total of 150,000 shares were reserved for issuance under the 2004 director stock plan. On July 19, 2004,
we issued 45,720 shares to our directors. This grant resulted in a deferred compensation of $0.3 million. We
recorded stock-based compensation expense of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. As of
December 31, 2004, 104,280 shares were available for future issuance.

In addition, the 2004 director stock plan provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for
issuance under it on the first day of each fiscal year, beginning with our fiscal year 2005, equal to the lesser of
the number of shares granted pursuant to restricted stock awards under the 2004 director stock plan in the prior
fiscal year, or an amount determined by the board of directors.

All grants of restricted stock to our non-employee directors under the 2004 director stock plan are
automatic. We will grant each non-employee director an initial restricted stock award upon the later of (i) the
effective date of this offering, or (ii) when such person first becomes a non-employee director (except for those
directors who become non-employee directors by ceasing to be employee directors). This initial award will cover
a number of shares of our common stock determined by dividing (a) $40,000 by (b) the fair market value of a
share of our common stock on the date of grant, with the number of shares rounded up to the nearest whole share.

Upon each annual stockholder meeting, each non-employee director will be automatically granted a
restricted stock award covering a number of shares of our common stock determined by dividing (a) $40,000 by
(b) the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the date of grant, with the number of shares rounded
up to the nearest whole share, provided he or she is then a non-employee director. However, each director who
was not a non-employee director on or before the effective date of this offering (for grants to be made on the date
of the annual stockholder meeting to be held in 2005) or the previous year’s annual stockholder meeting (for
annual grants to be made after 2005) will be automatically granted a pro-rated annual restricted stock award
calculated according to the number of quarters of service provided by such non-employee director since the
effective date of this offering or the previous year’s annual stockholder meeting, as applicable. For purposes of
the foregoing calculation, service for only a portion of the quarter will be deemed service for the whole quarter.
The per share purchase price for shares subject to the restricted stock awards will equal the par value of a share
of common stock ($0.001 per share).

12. Related Party Transactions

Our Chairman is a member of the board of directors of Cell Genesys, Inc. In December 2001, we signed a
license agreement with Cell Genesys, Inc. Under the terms of the agreement, we granted a nonexclusive license
to Cell Genesys, Inc. and delivered an imaging system for approximately $400,000. The license agreement was
amendgd in November of 2003 for one additional annual term. Also in 2003, Cell Genesys, Inc. made a one-time
diligence payment of $300,000 to our subsidiary, Xenogen Biosciences Corporation (XB). The amount owed to
XB relating to this agreement was $0 and $1,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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We entered into'a license agreement with a third party (the University) dated July 1, 1997 superseded by a
new agreement dated May 5, 2000 (the License). The License provides us with the exclusive worldwide right to
use the inyejntions,certain materials, and related patents in' all fields of use, including our right to sublicense all
ora porti‘on of the ‘rights,pursuant to the License, until the expiration of the last to expire licensed patents.

In accordance with the License, we pay the Unrversrty an annual nonrefundable royalty payment. In
addrtron W pay the- University certain specified percentages of amounts received from the licensed patents and
from our: sublrcense if any. Included in the accompanying-consolidated statements of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 is approximately. $606,000, $223,000, and $410,000, respectively, of
royalty expense resulting from this license agreement. Our president and spouse are co-inventors of the
inventions, the License. Under the University’s current royalty sharing policy, the inventors receive a portion of
the royalty payments o

We, entered rnto a consulting agreement with the spouse of our president for his services as Chairman of
Screntrﬁc Advrsory Board The consulting fee amounts to $3 000 per month. Annual expenses of approximately
$36,000: 1ncurred under this agreement have been reflected i m the consolrdated statenent of operations for the
years ended December 312004, 2003 and 2002. We believe the transaction was conducted as if consummated
on an arm s-length basrs between two independent partres ‘

Benjamm Carter and Daniel Carter, the Divisional Vrce President, Business Development and Manager of
IT Systems and Operations, respectively, of the Company, are both sons of ‘our Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board, David W. Carter and each receives an annual salary in excess of $60,000. Neither serves
as an executrve ofﬁcer of the Company.

In: connectron wrth the sale of a corporate residence in 2003 Pamela R. Contag, Ph.D., our President and a
director, purchased from the Company certain personal property, including home furnishings, for a total cost of
$80,500 whiCh the Board believes is equal to or higher than it-would have received from a third party.

13. Income Taxes " :

‘ S :

Deferred mcorne taxes reﬂect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and habrlmes for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components: of our; deferred tax assets are as follows:

Lo i o December 31,
N 2004 2003 2002
Deferred tax assets: - ‘

. 'Net operating loss carryforwards ........... o DU $36,260 $32,032 $27,450
‘Research credit carryforwards ................... P 7,447 8,075 6,579
Caprtahzed research and development .......... T 2,655 2,410 1,980

‘Other temporary differences ............... U - 6,606 4,993 3,200

R | o 52,968 47510 39,209

V'alu‘,ation ALOWANCE « . . oo oo (52,968)  (47,510)  (39,209)
Net deférred tdk essets ......................... U $ — & — & —

Realrzatron of ‘i\eferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which
are uncertain Accordlngly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The
valuation allowance increased by $5,458,000, $8,301,000 and $12 951,000 during 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respecnvely

P
du

A$ of December 31; 2004 we had net operating loss canyforwards for federal and state income tax purposes
of approxrmately $102 285,000 and $25,419,000, which exp1re in fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 to 2008,
respectrvely Lo g :
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As of December 31, 2004, we had research and development credit carryforwards for federal purposes of
$5,839,000 which expire in fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 through December 31, 2024. We had research
and development credit carryforwards for California purposes of $2,331,000 which do not expire. The California
Manufacturers’ Investment credit carryforwards of $105,000 will expire beginning December 31, 2007 through
December 31, 2008.

The annual usage of our net operating loss and research and development credits are subject to Internal
Revenue Code Section 382 limitations due to the ownership changes. Ownership changes had occurred limiting
both the net operation loss and other tax attributes and a valuation allowance is recorded for the portion that will
not be utilized. '

The following table provides a reconciliation of statutory income tax rate for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Federal statutory rate provision (benefit) . .................... .. .... 34.0)% (34.0)% (34.0)%
State net of federal tax benefit . ......... ... ... .. .. ... .. .. .. ... (5.8) 6.7) 3.0)
Amortization of deferred compensation . .......... ... ... .. . 8.3 3.0 0.6
R&D credit ... it e e e e e 0.3 4.2) (1.3)
Reduction of goodwill . ... ... .. ... . .. L 0.0 0.0 16.5
Valuation AllOWance . .. ... o.tit it et e e 29.4 40.5 20.7
OTNBTS oo e e 1.8 14 0.5
— % — % —%

14. Enterprise and Related Geographic Information

We are managed by our executive officers in Alameda, California, and have a West Coast and East Coast
facility. We operate in one business segment and sell products and technologies for analyzing and managing
complex image data from live animals. The West Coast operation primarily develops, manufactures and markets
our proprietary IVIS Imaging Systerns, and licensing of our technology. The East Coast operation primarily
focuses on providing animal production services to customers using the imaging system and related technology.
We generate sales revenue from both domestic and international customers.

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Revenue: ‘

Product . ... . $16,411  $ 7,577 $ 5,148

Contract . . i e e e 8,925 7,369 6,541

License ... ... e 5,547 5,117 4325
Total GrosSrevenue . ...........o.iieniinn i, 30,883 20,063 16,014
DOMESHC TEVEIIUE . . oot o i ettt et ettt 22,895 16,526 13,289
International FEVENUE . ... ... it e 7,988 3,537 2,725
Total groSSTEVENUE . ... v vttt e ee e $30,883  $20,063 $16,014

15. 401(k) Retirement Plan

We adopted the 401(k) Retirement Plan (Plan) in October of 1998. Substantially all employees are eligible
to participate upon the initial hire date. Under the Plan, employees may contribute up to 40% of their eligible
compensation, with the Company making discretionary matching contributions, subject to certain IRS
limitations. To date, we have not made any discretionary matching to the Plan.
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16. Loss Per Share _

Ba51c net loss‘attributable to common stockholders excluding cumulative effect of an accounting change per
share and net loss attributable to common stockholders per share-is computed by dividing net 1oss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding of 3,062,604 shares at'December 31, 2002; convertible
preferred stock outstandmg of 9,418,766 and 27,169 shares at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively;
warrants to‘purchase preferred stock and common stock of 395,483, 395,483 and 251,963 at December 31, 2004,
2003 -and 2002, respectively; options to purchase common stock of 1,668,849, 961,845 and 400,562, shares at
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively; and restricted common stock of 149,648, 69,297 shares at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, were not included in the computations of diluted net loss attributable
to common ‘'stockholders before cumulative effect of an accounting change per share and net loss attributable to
cornmon"sto‘ckholders per share for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, as there inclusion would be antidilutive.

Basrc and drluted net loss attributable to common stockholders excluding cumulative effect of an accounting
change per share and net loss attributable to common stockholders per share were calculated as follows (in
thousands, .except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,
‘ : . 2004 2003 2002

Net 1oss! attrlbutable to common stockholders excluding cumulat1ve effect of :

an accountlng change ........................................... $ (21,777) $(26,520) $(34,921)
Cumulatlve effect of an accounting change—Impairment of goodwill: . . - — . — (30,906)
Net loss attnbutable to common stockholders .. ......... e $ (21,777) $(26,520) $(65,827)
Welghted average number of common shares—basic and drluted .......... 7,295,321 782,638 546,824
Basic and diluted. loss excludmg cumulative effect of an accountmg change

pershare: L. . L. $ (2.99) § (33.89) $ (63.86)
Basic and dlluted eymu]atlve effect of an accounting change per share: .. ... — — (56.52)

Basic and dilnted net 1oss attributable to common stockholders per share: . .. $ (2.99) $ (33.89) $(120.38)
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17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth a summary of our unaudited quarterly operating results for each of the eight
quarters for the year ended December 31, 2004. This ddta has been derived from our unaudited consolidated
interim financial statements which, in our opinion, have been prepared on substantially the same basis as the
audited consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this prospectus and include all normal recurring
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information for the periods presented. These
unaudited quarterly results should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto included in this Form 10-K. The operating results in any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the

results that may be expected for any future period.

Revenue

Product. ... e e
(914113 - o3 QO
LCemSE . .o e

TOtal TEVENUE . . .. oottt e

Cost of revenue:

Product . ... e e e
[0 ] 1Y -
License ...... PP

Total cost of revenue .............. e

GIoSSMATZi .. .ottt s

Operating expenses

Research and development .......................... e
Selling, general and administrative ............... ... ... ... . ...
Depreciation and amortization eXpenses . . ...............oueeeeaaa.

Total operating eXpenses ... ......vuinin it

LosS from OPerations . . ........v ottt
Otherincome . .. ... ..ttt i
Interestincome ........ ... i
Interest EXPense . ... vvv i

Nt 0SS . ottt e e e

Revenue

Product . . ... e e,
CONMTACE . Lottt e ettt e et e e e
LICeISE . . oot

Total TeVENUE . . ..ot e

Cost of revenue:

Product . ... e
COMACT L ittt ettt e e e e
License . .... P

Total costofrevenue ...... ... ..t

Gross MAargin . ..ottt e

Operating expenses

Researchand development ........... ... ... ... ... ... oL
Selling, general and administrative ................. .. ... ... ..
Depreciation and amortization €Xpenses . .. ............uveieiare.
Restructuring charges ......... . .. .

Total Operating €Xpenses . . ... ...\ vt

Loss fromoperations . ............. .ot
Other income (eXpense), Net .. ........vuiiienninien ...
Interestincome .. ...... .. .. .. . e
Interest eXpense .. ... .. ...ttt

Nt 088 . vttt et e e e e s
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2004
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
$ 3,482 $ 3,720 $ 3,462 $ 5,747
2,190 2,390 1,962 2,383
1,368 1,341 1,271 1,567
7,040 7.451 6,695 9,697
1,978 2,689 2,419 3,734
2,343 2,220 2,039 2,159
198 217 201 293
4,519 5,126 4,659 6,186
2,521 2,325 2,036 3,511
3,545 3,190 2,745 3,034
4,446 3,425 3,807 4,976
808 775 740 679
8,889 7,390 7,292 8,689
(6,368) (5,065) (5,256) (5,178)
220 34 21 318
41 15. 49 42
(138) (150} (184) (178)
$(6,245)  $(5.166) $(5,370) $(4,996)
2003
March31 June 30 September30 December 31
$1,057 $1,699 $ 1,588 $3,233
1,544 1,896 1,770 2,159
1,188 1,283 1,158 1,488
3,789 4,878 4,516 6,880
512 1,082 867 1,924
1,915 1,748 1,753 2,213
142 177 207 203
2,569 3,007 2,827 4,340
1,220 1,871 1,689 2,540
2,844 2,500 2,704 3.872
2,645 2,157 2,460 3,628
1,050 985 939 862
669 — — —_
7,208 5,642 6,103 8,362
(5,988) 3,771) (4,414) (5.822)
15 — 33 (5)
30 17 35 40
(204) (227) (226) (60)
$(6,147)  $(3.981) $(4,572) $(5,847)




) Schedule 1T
’ P Xenogen Corporation
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts‘and Reserves
Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands)
a . - ‘Balanée at | ' S Balance at

| A . Beginning Charged to * End of
Description"r i «‘j'ﬂ RRRS . C . of Period,  Expenses Deductions Period
2004; ST - ~ -
Allowance for Doubtful ACCOUNES .. ..\ i U $ 21 $ 755(a) $ (38) $ 738
InventoryReserve.,..~.:.r.;...............;.. ....... Cee . — 56 — 56
Restructurmg Reserve Ce j. ........ R 1,798 . — (267) 1,531
2003 ‘ ; - ' . " o
Allowance :for Doubtful ACCOUNES .. oot . %70 § — $ 49 $ 21
InventoryReserve.;v.‘.;...‘ ......... e i S — = — —
Restructurlng Reserve ............................ SO 2,112 669 (983) 1,798

( O L .‘ ’ : o !

2002 L P ‘ P , ; _‘
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts ........... e S, - $ 80 $ 50 $ ©60) $ 70
: Inventory Reserve . P e L= - —
Restructurngeserve ............ - 3,411 (1,299) 2,112

(a) Includes accrual for Value Added Tax (VAT) for fore1gn countries where we are not VAT reg1stered of
approxrmately $5 87 -

ark
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT.TO RULE 13A-14(A) OR RULE 15D-14(A) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, David W. Carter, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Xenogen Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on rhy knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
small business issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined i in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢e)) and have

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared; °

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the rCOistfant’s disclosure controls and pfocedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions);

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2005

/s/ DaviD W. CARTER

David W, Carter
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors




SN | | EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A- 14(A) OR RULE 15D-14(A) OF
T THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE AC’E‘ OF 1934

I, WllhamA Albrrght Jr., certify that:

'
.

I +1 have rev1ewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Xenogen Corporation;

2. Based on‘ my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a materral fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were rnade not mrsleadmg with respect to the penod covered by this report;

3, . Based on, my knowledge the financial statements, and other frnancral information included in this report,
falrly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
small busrness 1ssuer as of, and for the periods présented in this report; :

4. The regrstrant s other certifying officer(s) and I am responsrble for establrshmg and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and have:

“(a) De51gned such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
 be desroned under our supervision, to ensure that material information relatin g to the registrant,
- mcludrng its consohdated subsidiaries, is made known to us.by others within those entities, particularly
: durmg the period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s drsclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
. ‘ireport our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end
! 'of the perrod covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

"

(c) Dlsclosed in thrs report any change in the regrstrant s internal control over fmancral reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
.., case'of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
' reglstrant 8 1nterna1 control over financial reportrng, and

5. The regrstrant s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
‘internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
reglstrant S, board of directors (or persons performing the equrvalent fuanctions);

- (a) All srgnlﬁcant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
: ﬁnancral reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process summarize and report financial information; and

i(b) Any fraud whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

! srgmﬁcant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Datej‘:‘March 14, 2065 ‘

/s/ WILLIAMA ALBRIGHT, JR

Wllham A. Albright, Jr.
Semor Vice President, Finance & Operations and
Chlef Fi 1uanc1al Officer

’




Exhibit 32

XENOGEN CORPORATION
Section 1350 CERTIFICATION

In connection with the annual report of Xenogen Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”),
on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2004, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “Report™), we, the undersigned officers of the Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for
purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that to the best of our knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementé of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition

and result of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated.

This Certification has not been, and shall not be deemed, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. '

Date: March 14, 2005 : . By: /s/ DAVID W. CARTER

David W. Carter
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

/s/  WILLIAM A. ALBRIGHT, JR.

William A. Albright, Jr.
Senior Vice President, Finance & Operations
and Chief Financial Officer
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